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S cope a nd B ou nd a r ie s
The Integrated Annual Report covers the activities
and results of the Human Sciences Research Council
(HSRC) for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019.
The Integrated Annual Report has been prepared in
accordance with the Generally Recognised Accounting
Practice (GRAP), the requirements of the Public
Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999, as

amended) (PFMA), and the recommendations of the
King lV Report. Management also considered the
guidelines published by the Integrated Reporting
Committee of South Africa.
The Integrated Annual Report is published with
the aim of assisting stakeholders in assessing the
ability of the HSRC to create and sustain value.

Prof i le of t he
Hu ma n S cience s
R e se a rch Cou nci l
The HSRC was established in 1968 to undertake,
promote and coordinate research in the human and
social sciences.
It operates in terms of the Human Sciences Research
Council Act, 2008 (Act No. 17 of 2008) which replaces
the Human Sciences Research Council Act, 1968
(Act No. 23 of 1968) and provides for the continued
existence of the HSRC.
The Act outlines the functions of the HSRC Board
and mandates the HSRC to:
• Initiate, undertake and foster strategic basic and
applied research in human sciences;
• Address developmental challenges in the Republic,
elsewhere in Africa and in the rest of the world
by gathering, analysing and publishing data
relevant to such challenges, especially by means
of projects linked to public sector oriented
collaborative programmes;
• Inform the effective formulation and monitoring
of policy, as well as evaluate the implementation
thereof;
• Stimulate public debate through the effective
dissemination of fact-based research results;
• Help build research capacity and infrastructure
for the human sciences;

• Foster research collaboration, networks and
institutional linkages;
• Respond to the needs of vulnerable and
marginalised groups in society through research
and analysis of developmental issues, thus
contributing to the improvement of the quality
of their lives;
• Develop and make available data sets underpinning
research, policy development and public discussion
of developmental issues; and
• Develop new and improved methodologies for
use in the development of such data sets.
The HSRC Act also allows the HSRC to undertake or
commission research on any subject in the field of
the human sciences and to charge fees for research
conducted or services rendered at the request of others.
The above clearly shows that the HSRC is obliged
to renew and increase the pool of researchers and
scholars in the humanities and social sciences to ensure
continued capacity to undertake research at universities
and research institutions in South Africa, including the
HSRC itself. Such researchers must be well-rounded
and able to conceptualise, plan, and conduct research
as well as analyse data, undertake scientific writing
and disseminate their research findings.
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M ission, Vision
a nd Va lue s
The HSRC is a non-partisan, public-purpose
organisation that generates scientific knowledge
through its research and analytical work in the
social and human sciences.

Mission

It undertakes and promotes research that is often
large-scale, multi-year, and collaborative in nature. It
produces high-quality scientific evidence to inform
further analysis, debate, advocacy and decisionmaking by role players in government, the media,
academia, and community-based groupings. The
HSRC responds to the needs of vulnerable and
marginalised groups in society through its research. It
develops and makes available data sets underpinning
research, policy development and public discussion
of developmental issues.

Values

Through its work, the HSRC aims to inform policy
development and best practice, thereby not only
making a difference to the lives of people in South
Africa but also the entire mother continent.

Vision
The HSRC intends to serve as a knowledge hub
for research-based solutions to inform human and
social development in South Africa, the African
continent and the rest of the world.
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The HSRC is a research organisation that advances
social sciences and humanities for public use.

At individual level, staff at the HSRC will be guided
by the values of independence, non-discrimination,
tolerance of diversity, honesty, integrity, respect, nonpartisanship, innovation, diligence, responsiveness
and collaboration. At institutional level, the HSRC will
at all times strive to distinguish itself as separate from,
yet often closely collaborating with, government,
universities, NGOs, media, and advocacy groups;
and to remain a scientific organisation whose work
is viewed as authoritative and non-partisan. Quality,
integrity and ethical conduct are essential hallmarks
of HSRC work.

Motto
Social science that makes a difference
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Figure 1: Organogram of the HSRC
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Cha i r person’s
Fore word

“The success of these projects,
like that of the HSRC, relies on
strategic partnerships, whether in
the form of funders, collaborators
or implementers.”

Professor Mvuyo Tom

In his foreword to the 2018 State of the Nation:
Poverty and Inequality: Diagnosis, Prognosis,
Responses, former Minister of Public Enterprises,
Mr Alec Erwin, succinctly said “We either learn
from our recent experiences and pursue a process
of nation building around a more humane and
egalitarian society, or we continue to stumble and
perpetuate the division so redolent in our history.”

The success of these projects, like that of the HSRC,
relies on strategic partnerships, whether in the form
of funders, collaborators or implementers. We are
encouraged by the number of collaborative projects
that were undertaken with our sister councils,
universities and government. This is a trend that
we wish to build on and strengthen as we enter
into a new five-year strategy.

This year the Human Sciences Research Council
(HSRC) commemorates its 50th year of existence,
and the 90th of that of its predecessor, the Bureau
for Educational and Social Research. We aptly,
therefore, reflect on not only our history, but also
on how that history can shape a better future.

One of the first priorities of the Board when it took
office on 1 November 2017, was to plan for and
undertake the Fourth Institutional Review of the
HSRC. The review was completed in late 2018. Its
primary purpose was to assess the performance
of the HSRC in relation to its obligation and role in
responding to the most pressing societal concerns
nationally. A secondary purpose was to assist
in preparations for the next five-year strategic
plan. It is incumbent on the HSRC Board, which
remains accountable to the Minister of Science and
Technology, to provide the necessary guidance and
oversight, as the HSRC Management now deals
with the multiple outcomes of the report.

This report presents a number of significant
contributions that strengthen and encourage
democracy, including support for government’s 25year review and a survey on the satisfaction levels
with services provided by Parliament. However,
it was through various novel projects that the
cohort of HSRC researchers continued producing
knowledge to contribute to addressing the most
pressing societal challenges – the first State of
South Africa’s Fathers Report, the launch of the
first Unjani clinic outside of Gauteng and the first
South African bio-behavioural survey (BBS) on HIV
in transgender women, to name a few.
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As we embark on the process of developing a
new five-year strategic plan for the HSRC, we
reaffirm our strategic direction as seeking to
produce leading-edge policy research, through
engaged scholarship, to utilise in understanding

and explaining social conditions and informing
social change for inclusive growth in communities.
Contributing to the alleviation of poverty and a
reduction in the inequality gap, and the expansion
of decent work opportunities for the majority of
South Africa’s people, will remain central to the
HSRC’s programme of work.
To be able to report on the successes and
achievements of the organisation requires the
collective effort and input of a number of key
role players. I would therefore like to express my
gratitude to the Minister of Science and Technology
(now the Ministry of Higher Education, Science and
Technology) and the Director-General and staff of the
department for their ongoing guidance and support.

Thanks also go to the Portfolio Committee on Science
and Technology (now the Portfolio Committee on
Higher Education, Science and Technology), and the
Standing Committee on Appropriations, whom we
have the honour of briefing a couple of times during
the year. My appreciation also goes to my fellow
Board members, the CEO, and his dedicated team.

Professor Mvuyo Tom
Chairman
31 July 2019
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Ch ief E xec utive
Of f icer’s O ver v ie w

“As we enter a new five-year
administrative period, the HSRC
will organise itself, as a public‑good
research entity to go beyond
explaining challenges to provide
evidence-based solutions and
interventions.”
Professor Crain Soudien

This year the HSRC commemorates its 50th anniversary
and the 90th anniversary of its predecessor, the
National Bureau of Educational and Social Research.
It is a privilege to present this Integrated Annual
Report in the spirit of Building on the Past to Shape
the Future. The year, as indeed the organisational
history, was not without difficulty. This report,
however, is a demonstration not of ill performance
because of these difficulties, but of our successes
notwithstanding these difficulties.
The 2018/19 year was a challenging year for the
HSRC in light of budget constraints which resulted
in a very difficult operating environment. The
baseline budget was reduced by R21.2 million
as a result of reductions over the Medium Term
Expenditure Framework (MTEF) and the increase
in VAT. Despite a number of cost containment
measures to mitigate the effect of this, the
organisation inevitably had to increase its external
income target, placing the senior research staff
under enormous pressure. In spite of these difficult
circumstances, we managed to achieve 83% of
that target. Research costs were accordingly below
budget as a result of less research activity, but
expenditure on all other cost items was in line
with budgeted amounts.
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In addition to a series of cost saving measures
in aid of the declining budget, the organisation
had to implement a decision to close its office in
Port Elizabeth.
A deficit of R555 000 was recorded for the year,
largely as a result of not attaining the external
income target and not being able to recover fixed
costs from projects.
The annual internal audit review of Supply Chain
Management confirmed that the activity continued to
function effectively, and that the internal controls in
the area remained adequate, efficient and effective.
Regular reports were submitted to both the Audit
and Risk Committee and the Board, reflecting
pertinent issues such as tenders in progress,
deviations incurred and an overview of irregular,
fruitless and wasteful expenditure.
The recent Institutional Review, like those before it,
recommended an increased government allocation to
support the work of the HSRC as a public research
institution. However, with the unavailability of ‘new’
funding, the threats presented by an unfavourable
economic climate need to be approached and
understood as the new reality. With due regard for
the limitations of cost savings, the HSRC’s response

to these challenges will be two-pronged, with cost
saving secondary to income generation. In terms
of the latter, it is an opportune moment to develop
alternative and diversified funding modalities, not
only to relieve pressure on the Parliamentary Grant,
but also to avoid an over-reliance on just a few big
funders. Like its sister councils, the HSRC is forced
to deal with a National Treasury imposed salary cap of
R289 million for the 2019/20 financial year. This has
compelled us to place a moratorium on all appointments
and only fill critical vacancies that meet a set of
agreed criteria. This, along with a zero performance
bonus provision, has been hugely detrimental to staff
morale, and attraction and retention of skilled staff
have been more challenging than before. Attempts
will be made to change the conditions of service in
relation to certain positions so as to provide tenure to
qualifying employees who are currently on fixed-term
contracts, as a way of improving service conditions.

inequality. The persistence of the challenges of
poverty and inequality is a major issue for the
social sciences and the humanities. And so this
remains central to our focus over the medium- and
long-term. Having learned from the past, however,
we need more searching, self-aware and inclusive
approaches in explaining these problems. As
we enter a new five-year administrative period,
the HSRC will organise itself, as a public-good
research entity, to go beyond explaining these
challenges, and to provide evidence-based
solutions and interventions for the betterment
of our communities.
This report reflects the dedication of individuals,
and the contribution and significance of the social
sciences in providing insight and solutions to our
most pressing social questions. My sincere gratitude
goes to my superiors and colleagues for making
this possible.

The annual audit once again confirmed the HSRC’s
going-concern status and the outlook for 2019/20
is positive in light of a number of secured projects.
As we reflect on our origins and history, as stated
in the HSRC Review of March 2019, it is more
than an historical curiosity that the HSRC’s focus,
ninety years on, is once again on poverty and

Professor Crain Soudien
Chief Executive Officer
31 July 2019
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St atement of
R e sponsibi l it y a nd
Con f i r mation of
Acc u ra c y of t he
I nteg rated A n nu a l
R epor t
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we confirm
the following:
• All information and amounts disclosed in the
Integrated Annual Report are consistent with
the Annual Financial Statements audited by the
Auditor-General of South Africa;
• The Integrated Annual Report is complete,
accurate and is free from any omissions;
• The Integrated Annual Report has been prepared in
accordance with the guidelines on the Integrated
Annual Report as issued by the National Treasury;
• The Annual Financial Statements (Part E) have
been prepared in accordance with the standards
of GRAP, as well as the PFMA, as applicable to
the HSRC;
• The Accounting Authority is responsible for the
preparation of the Annual Financial Statements
and for the judgments made in this information;
• The Accounting Authority is responsible for
establishing and implementing a system of
internal control designed to provide reasonable
assurance as to the integrity and reliability
of the performance information, the human
resources information and the Annual Financial
Statements; and
• The external auditors are engaged to express
an independent opinion on the Annual Financial
Statements.
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In our opinion, the Integrated Annual Report fairly
reflects the operations, the performance information,
the human resources information and the financial
affairs of the HSRC for the financial year ended
31 March 2019.

Professor Crain Soudien
HSRC CEO
31 July 2019

Professor Mvuyo Tom
Chairperson
31 July 2019
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R e se a rch Prog ra m me
Per for ma nce
AFRICA INSTITUTE OF SOUTH AFRICA
(AISA)
Profile of AISA

Research Highlights

AISA undertakes basic and applied policy-relevant
research that focuses on the development challenges
and opportunities facing the African continent. It
collaborates with other research institutions, key
stakeholders and civil society on the continent;
provides research-based policy advice and
implementation support to African multilateral
organisations and governments; and facilitates
knowledge transfer and dissemination through
capacity building, publications and conferences and
workshops. AISA’s work contributes to addressing
the many dimensions of the study of Africa in Africa
and reversing the continent’s global marginality in
terms of knowledge production. AISA’s research
focuses on three key areas: governance peace and
security, sustainable development and science
and technology.

AISA was joined by a new executive director, Prof.
Cheryl Hendricks, during the 2018/19 financial year.
Her leadership, knowledge of the African continent
and networks have strengthened the research focus
of AISA and its participation in continental forums
and discussions.

Governance peace
and security

Some research projects continued from the 2017/18
financial year and were completed in 2018/19.
Water Security and Sanitation of Inland South
African Cities
A research study was conducted during the 2018/19
financial year on access to water and sanitation as
a basic human right. The project was funded by the
VW Foundation, in collaboration with the University
of Limpopo. The study sought to investigate two
inland cities in Polokwane and Mpumalanga, and

Sustainable
development

Figure 2: Key Areas of Research for the AISA
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Figure 3: AISA research footprint – 2018/19
assess their vulnerability to water insecurity. Findings
of the study revealed that water insecurity in these
areas is exacerbated by:
• Increase in water demand due to growing
settlements;
• Inability of municipalities to sustain supply and
maintain existing infrastructure;
• Low willingness to pay for water supply services,
which also affects the collection of revenue by
municipalities;
• Households experiencing constant water supply
interruptions due to the inability of the municipality
to meet the demand; and
• Uncoordinated planning for integrated water
management.
Recommendations from the study for effective
water resource management included:
• Long-term accurate assessment of water
availability;
• Short-term transition of water in time and space;
• Reconciliation of demand and supply on a realtime basis without compromising the long-term
sustainability of the catchment; and
• Integration to ensure the effective management
and delivery of water services.

Science Diplomacy
An agreement was signed with the Department
of Science and Technology (DST) to expand AISA’s
continental footprint and closer collaboration with
other research and academic institutions, in order to
strengthen the social sciences through science and
technology. Travel within the continent commenced
with science diplomacy dialogues convened in
Ethiopia, Côte d’Ivoire and Mozambique. There have
also been many other engagements with relevant
multilateral institutions, governments, research
organisations and civil society organisations. Figure
2 depicts the areas where AISA has undertaken
research in the 2018/19 financial year.
Policy Briefs
AISA co-published a policy brief with IDEA on
‘Integrity of Political Finance Systems in Africa:
Tackling Political Corruption.’ The paper contends
that unregulated flows of money in the funding of
political parties and election campaigns threaten key
democratic principles and values in many African
countries. It examines good practices for political
finance regulation, the challenges of an integrityenhanced political finance system, and explores
options for redress.

HSRC INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

/ 13

PART B: PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

Annual Flagship Programmes
AISA also successfully hosted its two annual flagship
programmes, the Africa Unity for Renaissance
Conference (AURC) and the African Young Graduate
and Scholars Conference (AYGS).
The 8th AURC and Africa Day Expo was held
from 23–25 May 2018, with a specific focus on
‘Accelerating Industrialisation in Africa: Implications
for Job Creation and Poverty Reduction’. Seventeen
countries from Africa were represented. Key
recommendations followed from the conference
and were published in the Conference Report and
shared with the main funder.
The 13th annual Africa Young Graduates and Scholars
Conference was held from 18–19 March 2019 in
collaboration with the University of Johannesburg,
with a theme focus: ‘Youth Development in Africa –
Challenges and the Way Forward’. The conference

annually provides a platform for young students
to submit abstracts and present and engage in
discussions on the relevant topic. Twenty-eight
students presented papers and represented countries
such as Nigeria (4), Tanzania (2), Zimbabwe (2),
Rwanda (1), Uganda (1), Sierra Leone (1), Kenya (1),
Ghana (1), Ethiopia (1) and Cameroon (1). Thirteen
South African students, from five provinces also
had the opportunity to participate.
In addition to the flagships, AISA hosted a conference
on China-Africa Industrialisation and Modernisation
on June 2018; the Archie Mafeje Memorial Lecture,
in which Prof. Brian Raftopolous was the keynote
speaker; an Iran-South Africa Cultural Dialogue
on 22 October 2018; a Women’s Day event in
collaboration with COGTA on 31 August 2018,
and a seminar on the elections in Zimbabwe on
8 August 2018. AISA researchers were present to
observe the Zimbabwe elections.

CENTRE FOR SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY
AND INNOVATION INDICATORS (CESTII)
Profile of CeSTII
CeSTII produces science, technology and innovation
(STI) indicators in South Africa. The Centre was
established through a formal agreement with the
DST in 2002, a mandate that includes conducting
statistical surveys, analysing indicators to inform
policy development, understanding the national
system of innovation, and sharing and exchanging
knowledge.
The Centre seeks to be a leader in national surveys
that underpin benchmarking, planning and reporting
on research and development (R&D) and innovation
in South Africa. In line with the orientation of the new
White Paper on Science, Technology and Innovation
(2019), CeSTII adapts best practice international
methodologies to measure STI indicators within an
innovation framework that supports inclusive and
sustainable socio-economic development. Its vision
encompasses the growth of a local, continental and
global footprint, impact and reputation that is rooted
in high-quality research evidence, as well as strong
researcher, policy maker and practitioner networks
and the use of cutting-edge research technologies
that improve output quality and quantity.
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CeSTII prioritises the advancement of collaboration
with the HSRC, national and African country partners,
to share learning, build networks, enhance capacity
and improve the uptake of data and research
on STI measurement. The Centre’s work ethos
therefore rests on teamwork, inclusive diversity,
shared-learning, creativity and a commitment to
sustainability.

Research Highlights
In 2018/19, CeSTII organised its projects under
three main themes, in line with its mandate to
create data for science, technology and innovation
policy monitoring. The Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development (OECD) global
standard is used for the R&D and innovation
capacity surveys. CeSTII embarked on a set of
conceptual studies and baseline surveys with a
view to extending these surveys to new settings
critical to the South African context. This will provide
new data sets that can inform progress on how
STI is responding to the challenges of economic
growth and inclusive development, as envisaged
in the White Paper 2019.

Measuring R&D Capacity in South Africa
The South African National Survey on Research and
Experimental Development (R&D Survey) is a flagship
annual project that reports R&D expenditure and
performance data across five institutional sectors,
both public and private, including higher education,
science councils, government, business and notfor-profit organisations. During 2018/19, CeSTII
completed fieldwork and reporting for the 2016/17
survey cycle, initiated fieldwork for the 2017/18
cycle, and explored pathways to digitalise survey
operations to enhance efficiency and effectiveness.
In reaching out to respondents, CeSTII embarked
on a series of outreach events to engage survey
participants in higher education and government,
as well as disseminated fact sheets and research
briefs on key R&D trends, including green R&D.
Progress advanced on the first case study research,
undertaken to understand how selected State
Owned Enterprises are geared to perform R&D and
innovation in terms of their human and technological
capabilities.
Measuring Innovation Capacity in South
African Firms
The South African Business Innovation Survey
2014–2016, launched in 2017, concluded fieldwork
in the year under review. The team produced a
preliminary data analysis report for the purposes
of a high-level Cabinet briefing.

Working together with the DST and Business Unity
South Africa (BUSA), CeSTII initiated, organised and
executed its first Industry Associations Innovation
Day, themed ‘Innovation, Government and Industry
4.0: Policies, Measures, Incentives’ at the Riversands
Incubation Hub. Over 60 delegates, representing a
diverse spectrum of industry associations, government
departments, universities, and companies, participated
in the event. Senior CeSTII researchers contributed
to a dedicated Business Day supplement, published
in June 2018, focussing on the value of innovation
measurement for firm competitiveness in South Africa.
Through consultation with a wide range of key
stakeholders and interested parties in the private
and public sectors, conceptualisation and planning
for a baseline innovation survey of agricultural
businesses was also carried out in the year under
review. This will be implemented in 2019.
New Indicator Development
To understand one of South Africa’s most important and
active sectors, CeSTII launched the first standardised
survey of innovation in the informal sector, at an
event at the Mpumuza Traditional Authority Centre
in KwaZulu-Natal, in March 2019. Working in close
collaboration with the HSRC’s Human and Social
Development Programme, the survey is being
conducted using a sample of informal businesses
from the Sweetwaters area. The study aims to fill
a major gap in understanding innovation in South
Africa particularly since national studies tend to focus
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more on measurement within formal industrial and
services sub-sectors, and much less on innovation
within specific geographic communities, including
informal enterprises in township or rural communities.
The survey design was informed by a research
project on the capabilities of informal enterprises
to innovate by drawing on the knowledge and
technology of universities, science councils, and
other formal intermediary actors in local innovation
and production systems. Supported by the National
Research Foundation (NRF), three in-depth case
studies using new participatory methodologies such
as digital storytelling and photovoice, were undertaken
in marginalised and vulnerable communities in
Cofimvaba (Eastern Cape), Carnarvon (Northern Cape)
and Philippi (Western Cape).

Projects with Impact
Working together with the HSRC’s Research and
Impact Assessment (RIA) Programme, CeSTII
arranged three seminars on innovation for inclusive
development policy, attracting academic and other
interested parties to critical and focussed discussions
on STI measurement frameworks appropriate to the
South African – and African – settings. These events,
together with a lecture on public sector innovation
delivered by Prof. Anthony Arundel (UNU-MERIT),
and the HSRC Seminar Series, contributed to shaping
new and contextually-specific understandings of
innovation measurement for South Africa.
In an allied effort, and to advance the HSRC’s and
CeSTII’s collaboration with the National Advisory
Council on Innovation (NACI), CeSTII co-hosted
an event at Cape Town’s Philippi Village, entitled
‘Disruptive digitalisation, transformative change
and inclusion: How do we design a responsive
measurement agenda in South Africa?’. The event
aimed to provide a Western Cape-based forum for

the provincial launch of NACI’s 2017 national STI
indicators report, and attracted 80 government
participants from local and national agencies,
as well as community-based organisations and
entrepreneurs from the Philippi area.
In moving toward wider use and uptake of CeSTIIproduced data, in September 2018, CeSTII hosted
the HSRC’s first innovation ‘hackathon’ at the Cape
Town Stadium. The event, hosted in collaboration
with NACI and the SA Innovation Summit, was
themed ‘Putting South Africa’s innovation data
to work’. The hackathon brought together multisectoral and multi-disciplinary teams of expertise,
and attracted 42 team participants from businesses,
design and media houses, research institutions,
government departments and the IT sector. Their
goal? To create new web- and data-based solutions
for the curation of South Africa’s past innovation
survey data sets on NACI’s STI information portal.
Internationally, CeSTII led the organisation of the
SADC Regional Consultative Forum on STI Indicators
in March 2019 in Pretoria, in collaboration with the
SADC STI Secretariat. Arranged to coincide with a
validation meeting of the 1st SADC R&D investment
report, the forum was entitled ‘Towards a research
and training agenda for STI measurement in the
SADC: A consultative forum for information sharing
and learning’. The forum attracted officials from 10
SADC Member States, including Botswana, South
Africa, Tanzania, Seychelles, Angola, Namibia,
Lesotho, ESwatini, Zimbabwe, and Mozambique.
Researchers from CeSTII presented learning on
topics such as adapting to the new Olso and
Frascati manuals, global comparability and local
relevance, and new STI measures. The outcome
was an identification of ways in which CeSTII can
play a more proactive role in capacity building for
STI measurement in the SADC Region.

Hackathon Winning Team
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DEMOCRACY, GOVERNANCE AND
SERVICE DELIVERY (DGSD)
Profile of DGSD
DGSD is a knowledge hub for high quality,
independent, strategic and relevant research
addressing national, continental and international
issues of democracy and development; governance
and service delivery; social cohesion; poverty;
inequality; and social justice.
The research outputs from DGSD propose strategic
interventions using qualitative and quantitative
methodologies that assist policy makers in making
informed choices and decisions in response to political
and socio-economic challenges, with a specific
focus on how to improve the lives of marginalised
and vulnerable individuals and communities as is
required by the Constitution of the country. The
work produced, and outputs generated, are of value
to national, provincial and local government and to
the wider academic community, non-governmental
organisations (NGOs) and civil society. Through the
use of comparative research, South African issues are
also addressed through continental and global lenses.
The programme is driven by three pillars: democracy;
governance; and service delivery, with a crosscutting focus on understanding social cohesion and
unity in diversity.

Research Highlights
State of the Nation, Poverty and Inequality:
Diagnosis, Prognosis, Responses
Since the launch of the first edition of the HSRC’s
annual flagship publication, State of the Nation,
in 2003, the series has captured the attention of

Democracy

public intellectuals, scholars, policymakers and the
media in South Africa and abroad. Internationally,
the series has been acclaimed as one of the most
in-depth and important independent analyses of
the national agenda through the lens of the South
African political, economic and social context.
In his Foreword to the 2018 volume under the
title Poverty & Inequality: Diagnosis, Prognosis,
Responses, Alec Irwin described it as “… a sober,
scholarly and immensely powerful reminder of
the reality that poverty and inequality (P&I) remain
our major structural challenges in the way of that
noble aspiration. This is the basis for the collective
work and dialogue that must result in a paradigm
realignment”. Volume editors Crain Soudien, Vasu
Reddy and Ingrid Woolard included chapters looking
at a range of topics from a broad perspective, both
historically and within an international context, from
conceptual and ethical issues such as taxing wealth
and addressing socioeconomic rights, to P&I as
local and community-level phenomena, such as
civic participation in Khayelitsha.
Public dialogue: ‘Landless women of South
Africa: Expropriation of land without
compensation’
In 2018 Parliament endorsed a motion to expropriate
land without compensation. This has direct
implications for South African women, who have
been disempowered by patriarchy over centuries.
The current epoch provides a chance to reflect
on legislation and its impact on women and how
it has contributed to inequality and perpetuated

Governance

Service delivery

Figure 4: Spectrum of Work of the DGSD
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unemployment and poverty amongst women. On
14 August 2018, the HSRC, along with key female
stakeholders and activists, hosted a public dialogue
on the theme, ‘Landless women of South Africa:
Expropriation of land without compensation’.
The discussion was led by Minister Bathabile
Dlamini, Minister of Women, and facilitated by
Karabo Magagane, managing director of the Lowe
Foundation. The speakers included the HSRC’s
Prof. Narnia Bohler-Muller; Karabo Magagane;
Adv. Karabo Kgoeadira, a legal expert and rural
women representative; cultural activist, Nikiwe
Bam; farmer, Nthabiseng Kgobokoe; and youth
activist, Precious Banda. Discussions focused on
the current challenges faced by women in accessing
and owning land. One of the key objectives was
to engage on the lack of property rights and how
this has contributed to the exclusion of women
from economic participation. The outcome of
the discussions formed part of a submission to
the National Assembly Portfolio Committee on
Constitutional Review dealing with the land issue.
Making the Road by Walking – Book Launch
On 25 October 2018 the HSRC, together with
Parliament’s Information Services, hosted the
launch of the book Making the road by walking: The
evolution of the South African Constitution, which
presents eight different perspectives on how a group
of formidable lawmakers changed the way justice
works, and evolves, in post-apartheid South Africa.
The event was attended by a number of members
of Parliament and broadcast on the Parliamentary
Channel. The guest speaker, Judge Albie Sachs,
retired former Justice of the Constitutional Court,
reminisced about the making of a Constitution against
which many countries across the world consistently
benchmark their own constitutions. Judge Sachs also
spoke about seminal judgments of the first bench
of the Constitutional Court, appointed by former
President Nelson Mandela, that changed the policy
landscape of South Africa in a number of significant
ways, including: the abolition of the death penalty; the
provision of housing; the provision of anti-retrovirals
(ARVs) to pregnant women infected with the HIV/
AIDS virus; the decriminalisation of homosexuality;
and the recognition of same-sex marriages.
A Blue Economy for Women’s Economic
Empowerment
The Indian Ocean Rim Association (IORA), of
which South Africa has been Chair since 2017, has

18 / HSRC INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

committed itself to a framework of gender equality
by advancing women’s economic empowerment
through the Blue Economy. The sectors of the
Blue Economy include fisheries and aquaculture;
oil and gas; ports and shipping; and renewable
energy among others, and are largely aligned with
South Africa’s Operation Phakisa Lab on the Ocean
Economy. Although women have played an important
economic role in the Indian Ocean for generations,
they face a multitude of barriers to full economic
inclusion in the Blue Economy, including access to
education and healthcare. Women also work lower
down in value chains and are paid comparatively
very little for their contributions.
Based on the research and case studies, DGSD
made a number of recommendations to the IORA
Secretariat in Mauritius that will be considered by the
Ministers of Women in all 22 Member States. This
project was commissioned by the United Kingdom
Foreign and Commonwealth Office in October 2018.
Based on the success of this project the HSRC
is now working with UNWomen to update the
gender equality baseline report for the Indian Ocean
Region. The HSRC’s Prof. Narnia Bohler-Muller is
the regional Chair of the IORA Academic Group.
Banking on Africa – A BRICS Research Centre
Project
As an output of the HSRC-Zhejiang University
memorandum of understanding (MoU) and project
agreement, the BRICS Research Centre conducted
a joint project with Zhejiang University’s Academy
of Internet Finance (AIF), entitled ‘Banking on
Africa’. The project was co-funded by the German
Development Agency (GIZ). Among others, the project
aims to promote financial inclusion for the poor in
sub-Saharan Africa using financial technologies;
identify specific characteristics of finance sectors
in sub-Saharan Africa; identify the best and most
suitable products and technologies for Africa; assess
the obstacles to accessing technologies in Africa;
and identify how sub-Saharan Africa may benefit
from the Chinese experience in using technology
for financial inclusion. The BRICS Research Centre
conducted the research in Africa, and the AIF’s
Center for Internet Finance and Innovation (CIFI)
undertook research in China. The findings and
recommendations of the research were presented
at workshops in Cape Town, Pretoria, Nairobi and
Hangzhou. These were well received, and the
research report containing them is available for
review and comment.

Contribution to Government’s 25-year Review
of the South African State
DGSD was commissioned by the Department of
Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation (DPME) to
provide technical support to two chapters of the
25-year review report: the first, on local government;
and the second, on constitutional democracy.
The chapter on Constitutional Democracy showed
significant achievements over a 25-year period in
terms of redressing the wrongs of the past and
institutionalising reforms to improve the lives of
all who live in South Africa. At the same time,
further work was needed to complete projects
started and to begin new projects where new
challenges had presented themselves. DGSD
proposed a number of national priorities spanning
one or more of the three future-oriented periods:
cleaning up corruption and restoring faith in
institutions; improving access to justice; expediting
the realisation of socio-economic rights; finalising
the payment of reparations in accordance with the
recommendations of the Truth and Reconciliation
Commission; clarifying the status of institutions
supporting democracy; making significant
progress towards realising the constitutional
imperatives of the National Development Plan
(NDP); strengthening participative democracy
through a more effective and coherent system of
public participation; addressing racism, xenophobia
and related manifestations of intolerance; meeting
international law obligations; reforming the electoral
system and aligning it with the Constitution; and
developing the Constitution through ensuring
internal consistency within it.
The review of South African Local Government
assessed to what extent the local government
system, as envisaged by the country’s Constitution
and the 1998 Local Government White Paper,
has been able to deliver on its developmental
mandate – to promote participation in government,
deliver services and achieve social integration
and economic upliftment. The review uncovered
lessons from both the successes and failures
of the system, and proposed constructive
initiatives to address systemic service delivery
issues in local government over the next
planning horizon. These will ensure the success
of developmental local government that is
accountable, focused on citizen’s priorities,
and capable of delivering high-quality services
consistently and sustainably through cooperative
governance and participatory democracy.

Research Impact
DGSD Research Informs the Design of the
Ballot Paper for the 2019 National and
Provincial Elections
In late 2018, the Independent Electoral Commission
of South Africa (IEC) commissioned the DGSD
Research Programme to review the ballot paper
used in national and provincial elections as well as
local government elections in South Africa. The ballot
paper represents a critical material component of
the electoral process, and its design is instrumental
in the success of any election. The study aimed to
determine the view of the general public about the
design features of the ballot paper, which include: (i)
the sequencing (ranking) of parties on the ballot; (ii)
the sequencing of party identifiers in terms of the
preferred order of presenting the party name, logo,
acronym and photograph of political party leader;
(iii) the numbering of parties on the ballot; and (iv)
the length of the ballot paper. In November 2018, a
series of focus group interviews was conducted in
different parts of the country, coupled with in-depth
interviews with electoral staff, academic experts, as
well as representatives of special interest groups.
Several of the recommendations contained in the
study report, entitled ‘Looking Good on Paper:
A Qualitative Study of Ballot Paper Design and
Political Party Identification in South Africa’, were
subsequently adopted by the IEC and incorporated
into the design of the ballot paper for the May 2019
national and provincial elections.

Specifically, the IEC changed the ballot paper by
retaining the alphabetical listing of political parties on
the ballot paper, while randomising only those parties
with similar identifiers, such as logos, acronyms and
party names, in order to ensure that these parties
are not placed adjacent to one other. The proposed
solution was shared and discussed with all parties
in the National Party Liaison Committee (NPLC), and
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all parties represented at the NPLC endorsed and
supported the proposed change. In line with this, two
random draws were conducted during the Code of
Conduct signing ceremony, held at Gallagher Convention
Centre in Midrand on 20 March 2019. The first draw
was to separate parties which were consecutive in
alphabetical order and which had certain similarities in
their acronyms and logos. The second draw followed,
to select the party to top the ballot paper.
The ballot paper included a re-ordering of the
sequence of party identifiers on the ballot paper, as
follows: 1. Full party name 2. Party leader photograph
3. Abbreviation 4. Party logo.
The study also drew attention to the need for
balloting education as part of broader civic and
democracy education in the country, in order to
improve the public’s familiarity with the layout of
the ballot paper and ensure that voters would be
able to easily and accurately identify and make
their mark for their party of choice. This was
actioned by the IEC, and specimen examples of
the ballot paper were disseminated to the public
via various channels and media. This study forms
part of a larger body of research being conducted
on behalf of the IEC, and forms part of the DGSD
Programme’s contribution to the consolidation of
electoral democracy in the country.

South African Social Attitudes Survey (SASAS)
wins the NSTF-South32 Data for Research Award
In 2018, the South African Social Attitudes Survey
(SASAS) was awarded the 2018 NSTF-South32
Data for Research Award. This National Science
and Technology Forum (NSTF) award recognises
an outstanding contribution to science, engineering,
technology (SET) and innovation in South Africa and
recognises the standard, availability, management and
use of data for research. The award affirmed that the
generation, preservation and sharing of SASAS data is
a valuable scientific resource that is of national interest,
for the public good, and openly available to be re-used
and/or re-packaged in products that are of public good
and interest, or that could be integrated into products
that contribute to the development of South Africa.
The SASAS series is a nationally representative,
repeated cross-sectional survey that has been
conducted annually by the DGSD Research Programme
since 2003. Designed as a time series, SASAS is
increasingly providing a unique, long-term account of
the speed and direction of change in underlying public
values and the social fabric of modern South Africa.
The series celebrated the successful completion of
its 16th annual round in early 2019, and continues to
provide national and comparative data with which
to better understand our society and its dynamics.

ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE AND
DEVELOPMENT (EPD)
Profile of EPD
Through its research and policy work, the EPD
Programme contributes to the creation of a productive,
inclusive and resilient country and continent through
broad-based economic development and job creation.

City-regions

Rural development

Figure 5: Areas of Expertise of EPD
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The programme aims to improve the evidence base and
understanding of solutions to the pressing economic
challenges facing South Africa. Areas of particular
knowledge and expertise include the economy of cityregions, rural development, place-making and migration.

Place-making

Migration

Research Highlights
The Economies of City-Regions
The EPD Programme has led the HSRC’s flagship
initiative on city-region economies, which seeks to
understand the factors and forces that promote and
inhibit inclusive growth in cities. It also analyses why
some cities are more successful than others, and
what policies and practices can improve conditions
on the ground.
An important project on tradable services, funded
by the Gauteng Province and UNU-Wider, examined
the distinctive economic strengths of South Africa’s
major cities. Specialisation in tradable sectors and
know-how raises productivity, boosts exports and
generates multiplier effects elsewhere in the local
economy. Mining and manufacturing have driven
the growth of South African cities in the past. There
are opportunities now for tradable services to grow
because of digital technologies, cheaper air travel
and burgeoning urbanisation elsewhere in Africa.
These sectors range from tourism to knowledgeintensive sectors such as engineering, real estate,
accountancy and management consultancy. However,
South African cities have not as yet developed
internationally-significant strengths in any of these
sectors, beyond tourism and finance. Most of the
growth in jobs has been in local services, such as
retailing, construction and public services. More could
be done to enable particular clusters of advanced
services to gain critical mass and develop the
capabilities and ambition to serve wider markets.
A second project on rural-urban migration looked at
whether residents of rural areas are advantaged if
they move to cities in search of superior economic
opportunities. Unique longitudinal data for a sample
of over 5 000 people was analysed over the period
2008 to 2017. It revealed that rural-urban migrants
are much more likely to progress out of poverty than
people who choose to remain in the countryside.
In fact, migration was associated with a drastic cut
in poverty from about 80% to 30% of the relevant
individuals. Grossing up the sample, an estimated
835 000 South African citizens were lifted out of
poverty during this period, simply as a result of
moving to cities and finding some kind of job or
livelihood. This is an extremely important finding
in the context of a very sluggish economy and
limited upward social mobility in the country over
the last decade.

A third project on backyard housing, funded by the
Western Cape Province, looked at the response of
the urban housing system to rural-urban migration.
A poor-performing housing market and a sharp
slowdown in the delivery of state Reconstruction
and Development Programme (RDP)/Breaking
New Ground (BNG) housing, has resulted in
backyarding becoming one of the fastest growing
forms of housing in South Africa. Most backyard
structures are shacks, but a new phenomenon of
robust rental units has emerged in some townships.
These provide a regular income to the homeowner/
landlord, many of whom are unemployed. They also
provide a vital source of decent, affordable rental
accommodation to young adults, white collar
workers and professionals with jobs in the city who
do not want, or cannot afford, to own their own
homes. The current policy vacuum surrounding
backyard rental housing needs to be filled with a
more positive response that tries to regularise the
process, upgrade basic services in affected areas,
and improve access to low cost finance and building
advice for small-scale developers.
Township economies have gained the attention of
many sectors. A joint project with the Economic
Development Partnership of the Western Cape in
this regard, developed a framework for analysing
township economies and benchmarking their
performance to assist with designing appropriate
policy interventions. It stressed the importance of
three dimensions: (i) productive place-making to
ensure that the land, infrastructure and regulatory
environment support local business activity; (ii)
resilient social fabric to strengthen the level of
community organisation, networks and assets to
underpin township businesses, and (iii) building
capable enterprises with the competencies, access
to markets and enabling conditions to succeed.
Farmland Size and Smallholder Productivity
Land reform has risen up the political agenda
recently. EPD is undertaking a project funded by the
United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)
to investigate the viability of small farms. This is
vital to decisions about expropriating and allocating
land to meet the needs of smallholder farmers.
There is some evidence that small farms are more
productive in using land than large farms. However,
smallholders need technical and financial assistance
to achieve this. Without adequate support to new
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farmers, land transfers may reduce agricultural
output and impair national food security. This is
an important issue for the Department of Rural
Development and Land Reform.

to develop a culture of continuous improvement in
service delivery. It is a knowledge management tool
relevant to promoting innovation in the public sector
more broadly. The DST is supporting a sector-wide
scaling up of MIMI across the two municipal tiers,
via an online platform. The digitisation project will
continue for two years. Municipal user inputs will be
incorporated and stakeholders will be encouraged to
share their experiences at regular learning forums.
Access to the City

Municipal Innovation
EPD, in partnership with the University of KwaZuluNatal and the South African Local Government
Association (SALGA), has embarked on the second
phase of the Municipal Innovation Maturity Index
(MIMI). MIMI is a policy tool which encourages
municipalities to think of innovative solutions and

EPD completed a national evaluative study for
the Department of Human Settlements on the
theme ‘Access to the City’. A highly qualitative,
people-centred approach was adopted, to improve
understanding of the dynamics of housing
development from the perspective of the poor.
It considered how people navigate their way into
cities and how they find suitable places to live
that they can afford. The work was undertaken in
collaboration with graduate students at five South
Africa universities: Nelson Mandela University,
University of the Free State, Pretoria University,
Unisa and University of Fort Hare.

Reach
2014/15–2018/19
144
56
12
11
44

Peer-reviewed journal articles
Chapters in monographs
Books
Policy briefs
Research reports for clients

Output
2014/15–2018/19
13
30
37
32

Journal articles with 10+ citations in Scopus
Journal articles with 10+ citations in Google Scholar
Journal articles with 1-10 citations in Scopus
Journal articles with 1-10 citations in Google Scholar

Top 10 journal articles have
been cited 208 times in Scopus
and 226 times in Google Scholar
Top 5 book chapters have been
cited times 68 times in Google
Scholar Researcher Rating
Figure 6: Reach and output
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3 NRF Rated Scientists out of
16 in the HSRC
10 Researchers with a H-index
of 5 or more on Google Scholar
5 Researchers with H-index of
5 or more on Scopus

Projects with Impact
Through a contract with the Buffalo City Municipality
Development Agency (BCMDA), EPD worked
with city officials, business leaders and university
stakeholders to formulate a framework for creating
a ‘Buffalo City Knowledge and Innovation District’
as a City Improvement District (CID) in the inner
city. It is linked to the arrival of 5G connectivity
in Buffalo City in 2019. A budgeted plan for the
roll-out of the district was included in the metro’s
Built Environment Performance Plan, which will
take effect in 2019.
EPD staff have been working directly with members
and officials of the Durban City Planning Commission
to develop a long-term plan for eThekwini in order to
counter the city’s relative decline and major socioeconomic challenges. Key pillars of the plan include

Prof. Ivan Turok, Executive
Director: EPD addressing the
Shape Durban Conference,
21–23 November 2018

growing and transforming the economy, integrating
the spatial structure and improving governance
across the city. For example, the governance
pillar covers the development of visionary and
credible leadership; partnering with business and
civil society stakeholders; introducing a citizen’s
charter and building competence and capacity with
the municipality.
EPD staff have been working with NGOs in Luanda
(Angola) and Durban (South Africa) on a sustainable
approach to upgrading overcrowded informal
settlements, funded by the International Science
Council (ISC) and the Network of African Science
Academies (NASAC). The research programme,
entitled ‘Leading Integrated Research for Agenda
2030 in Africa’ (LIRA), encourages transdisciplinary
methods and the development of early career
scientists in Africa. The project is focused on
evaluating options for incremental densification
of informal settlements – building upwards rather
than outwards in order to free up space at ground
level for people to circulate, for the provision of
vital public services and for economic and social
activities.
The Expanded Public Works Programme (EPWP)
provides unemployed women, youth and the disabled
with an opportunity to earn an income and to gain
work experience and skills training to improve their
job prospects. EPD researchers have been working
with the International Labour Organisation and the
Department of Public Works to improve the design
and development of a Strategic Plan for Phase 4 of
the EPWP (2019–24). EPD undertook a diagnostic
review of Phase 3 and a national stakeholder
engagement to solicit inputs for Phase 4. The work
was submitted to Cabinet in November 2018 and
the Strategic Plan for EPWP Phase 4 was adopted
by the relevant Cabinet Committee in February
2019. Phase 4 will include a stronger monitoring
and evaluation system to assess the outcomes
of the services and assets delivered as a result
of EPWP interventions. EPD researchers were
subsequently asked to develop a 5-year Sector
Plan for the Environment and Culture Sector EPWP.
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EDUCATION AND SKILLS
DEVELOPMENT (ESD)
Profile of ESD
The ESD Research Programme believes that social
justice, and educational reflection on it, along with
access to and success through education and
training, enhances every person’s opportunity to
a better life. It therefore conceives, designs and
conducts ethical, forward-looking research to:
improve the quality of basic education; ensure
young people are adequately skilled and prepared
for a technologically disrupted future; contribute
towards a responsive and developmental higher
education sector; and encourage communities of
practice that are able to apply principles of social
justice towards transformation. Our vision is for
the just inclusion of young people in a country
and continent still emerging from an unequal and
unjust past.
ESD takes its mandate from current national
priorities related to improving the Quality of Basic
Education for all (MTSF outcome 1), sustaining
a Skilled and Capable Workforce to Support an
Inclusive Growth Path (MTSF outcome 5), and the
role of education in transformation, social cohesion
and justice (Sustainable Develop Goal 16 along with
1, 4, 8, 9 and 10). ESD’s overarching aims are to
develop evidence to inform policies, including the
redress of inequalities; support efficient resource
allocation decisions; and guide reflection on the role
of education to bring about social change.

Research Highlights
In the year under review, the programme focused
on, amongst others:
• Dialogues and reviews, in partnership with the
DST and the European Union to understand the
implications of, and opportunities to harness
the potential of, the 4th Industrial Revolution, for
education and policy;
• The conclusion and handover to the Department
of Basic Education of an online platform – Teacher
Assessment Resources for Monitoring and
Improving Instruction (TARMII); and
• The conclusion of the Labour Market Intelligence
Partnership (LMIP) Project with the Department
of Higher Education and Training.
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Gearing up to harness the potential of the 4th
Industrial Revolution for education and policy
During the review period, the ESD Programme
was active in the intellectual and policy spaces
that have evolved in response to the 4th Industrial
Revolution (4IR), and issues relating to the social
and economic aspects of technological disruption,
digitalisation, automation, and post humanism,
amongst others. The HSRC’s response to the 4IR
is coordinated through a multi-disciplinary task
team, led by researchers within the programme.
In defining a research agenda to respond to the
complexities of the 4IR, the task team conducted
reading groups and video learning sessions and a
series of public seminars and dialogues.
The most notable of these dialogues took place
in December 2018, in partnership with the DST
and the European Union (EU) delegation to South
Africa. Entitled, ‘Disruptive technologies and
public policy in the age of the Fourth Industrial
Revolution’, this event brought together European
and South African experts and stakeholders. The
dialogue facilitated an exchange of ideas about key
4IR topics, culminating in the development of a
high-level policy framework; the identification of
pathways for further engagement between the
EU and South Africa regarding joint cooperation
in identified science, technology and innovation
areas; and the beginnings of a critical network
of scholarly and practitioner engagement with a
policy focus for the future.
The programme also provided research support
for the development of the DST’s 4IR Industrial
Revolution Science, Technology and Innovation plan
of action. This includes a review of the South African
and international literature on the 4IR, as well as a
baseline study of the 4IR strategies and investments
of the public sector and higher education institutions
in South Africa. Dr Michael Gastrow, has been
appointed to the 4IR coordinating committee of the
DST, and to the Presidential Advisory Commission
on the Fourth Industrial Revolution.

Dr Michael Gastrow presenting at the SA-EU Strategic Partnership
Dialogue Conference ‘Disruptive Technologies and Public Policy in
the Age of the Fourth Industrial Revolution’

Teacher Assessment Resources for Monitoring
and Improving Instruction (TARMII)
The year under review saw the conclusion of a longrunning project that aimed to assist primary school
teachers to evaluate learner’s progress by providing
an assessment resource bank. The TARMII study,
begun in 2003 and funded by USAID, evolved from a
paper-based assessment resource bank to a potentially
highly useable and useful online interactive platform.
ESD researchers worked with educational experts to
develop over 7 000 assessment items, all aligned with
Curriculum Assessment Policy Statements (CAPS),
and reviewed and quality assured by the Department
of Basic Education (DBE), a key partner in the project.
Over the past three years, this online assessment
tool was finalised and piloted in 16 primary schools in
Gauteng and North-West. Researchers worked with
teachers to engage with the platform and produce
assessments, and also observed learners taking the
assessments using tablets, desktop computers and
mobile phones.
Key findings of the study centred mainly on how the
lack of appropriate ICT infrastructure and internet

connectivity in schools negatively impacts on the
uptake of e-assessment. Despite this challenge,
teachers, provincial and district education officials
found the TARMII system to be a valuable resource
in that it has a CAPS aligned item bank and also
uses automated marking of assessment tasks. Such
a tool lends itself to easy integration into teaching
and learning in schools.
A key recommendation from the study team is
that the DBE should partner with cellular service
providers to have the TARMII platform ‘zero-rated’
i.e. to ensure that it does not incur data charges
when used by teachers and learners. This will provide
digital equality, so that all learners and their educators,
irrespective of socio-economic circumstances,
have access to interactive assessments which are
likely to improve learning outcomes. The TARMII
resource is a further justification for the use of
mobile tablets in primary school classrooms. The
Teacher Assessment Resources for Monitoring and
Improving Instruction online platform was formally
handed over to the Department of Basic Education
in March 2019.
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Grade 3 learners taking online
assessments using tablets,
computers and mobile
phones as part of the TARMII
study conducted by ESD

EVOLUTION OF THE TARMII TECHNOLOGY INNOVATION

Assessment Resource
Bank (2002–2003)
Foundation and
Intermediate phases
ARB’s ideation:
• Paper-based version.
• No teacher registration
required.
• Items housed in
Assessment Booklets.
• Teachers used books to
photocopy tests.
• Learners completed
tests on paper.

TARMII 1.0 ideation:

TARMII 3.0 ideation:

• Teacher registration with
password required.
• Items housed within a static
database (CD).
• Tests were generated in
PDF and Word formats from
the software.
• Learners completed tests
on paper.
• Assessments were marked
by the teacher and marks
entered into system.

• Online version.
• Teacher, parent and learner
registration with username
and password.
• Items housed on a software
platform on a dedicated
website.
• Items housed within a
databank.
• Learners complete tests on
a tablet.
• MCQ assessments are
marked automatically.

TARMII 1.0
(2005–2010)
Intermediate phase

TARMII 2.0
(2012–2015)
Foundation phase
TARMII 2.0 ideation:
• Items housed within a
static database (DVD).
• Tests were generated
in PDF format from the
software.
• Items covered the 11
official languages.
• Learners completed
tests on paper.

Figure 7: The evolution of the TARMII resource from 2003 to 2019
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TARMII 3.0
(2016–2019)
Foundation phase

The Labour Market Intelligence Partnership
(LMIP)
The LMIP, launched in September 2012, was
described by Minister Nzimande as marking “… an
important step in contributing towards the creation
of a credible labour market intelligence framework
and the establishment of a functional interface that
will ensure better information gathering, analysis and
overall systems synergy in pursuit of an agenda that
is developmental, forward looking and embedded
in empirical analysis.” The HSRC was requested to
conduct appropriate research to provide a scientific
basis to “set up systems for reliable data indicating
skills need, supply and demand in our labour market
in a manner that will enable our country, including
government and business, to plan better for (our)
human resources development needs”.

demand for skills and the extent to which supply
responds appropriately to demand. Research
studies over the period, both quantitative and
qualitative, focussed on institutions and individuals
and ways in which both would be connected (see
www.lmip.org.za). Findings confirm the complexity
of skills planning. On the one hand the statistical
aspects related to the economy, skills demand and
supply must be understood. On the other hand the
contours and capabilities of institutions that make
them act in particular ways; the responsiveness of
education and training institutions to the changing
demands from firms and workplaces; the changing
nature of work and workplaces; the response of
the labour market to graduates; and the dynamics
that shape individual behaviours, must also be
understood.

This important study was concluded in the year
under review. Over the preceding five years, ESD
researchers had extensive engagements with the
Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET),
other government departments, Sector Education and
Training Authorities (SETAs), academic institutions,
business and professional institutions. Multiple
research studies were conducted to understand,
in a deeper and more nuanced way, the supply and

The project concluded with a final update which
provides a consolidated summary of the research
and suggests how this labour market information
and intelligence could be used to establish a skills
planning mechanism. In June 2018, one of the
reports produced in the course of this study, on
occupations in high demand, was gazetted by
Minister Naledi Pandor as the ‘National List of
Occupations in High Demand: 2018’.

Develop
future research capacity
in the areas of education and
training, skills development and
labour market analysis

Build
labour market
intelligence to
inform strategic
planning and
interventions

Enhance
the institutional capacity
of DHET and its stakeholders
to gather and interpret
labour market information

The LMIP
proposes to:

Create

Advance
information and
knowledge of the
post-school
education and
training system
in relation to
economic
development
and growth

a community of practice through
dissemination activities with
policy‑makers and researchers

Figure 8: LMIP original aims
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learning guides
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notes

7

9

learning
sessions

12

journal
articles

research
roundtables

22

honours and master’s bursaries
in the fields of labour market
studies/skills development

2

21

peer
reviewed
books

research
policy briefs

19

19

HSRC-LIMP
seminar series
presentations

high-level
policy
engagements

Repository of literature on
skills development with over

800 entries

Figure 9: Outputs in numbers from the LMIP project

Research Impact
ESD’s work over the 2018/19 year has had a variety
of positive impacts on public policy, policy discourse,
and ultimately on the life of ordinary South Africans.
A specific, direct policy impact can be seen in
the way the survey findings of the ‘Trends in
International Mathematics and Science Study
(TIMSS)’ undertaken as part of the renowned
International Association for the Evaluation of
Educational Achievement global study, continue
to influence DBE policy on funding allocation to
mathematics and science in schools. To this end,
the Basic Education Budget Vote 14 for 2018
observes that, “South African learners continue
to perform poorly in international assessments,
particularly in mathematics, science and technology.
In response to this, over the medium-term, the
department aims to increase learner participation
and success rates in these subjects by providing
ICT equipment, laboratories and related apparatus,
workshops and equipment, teacher development,
and learner and teacher support materials to 1 000
schools.” TIMSS-related studies also have a wider
impact in public discourse on a variety of matters
such as the importance of reading and play in the
home in learner achievement.
ESD’s longstanding work in support of the DST’s
Youth into Science Strategy has shown the
importance of science promotion interventions
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such as Mathematics and Science Olympiads
and Science Week in schools. An ESD-conducted
evaluation of the impact of the DST’s Science Week
in Mpumalanga provided evidence to show how
participation in Science Week positively influences
learners’ interest in mathematics and science and
their confidence in their mathematics and science
ability. This is of real importance, since these learners
are frequently from under-resourced schools. These
findings thus provide the justification for continued
DST support of such events.
As part of an ongoing project on the South Africa
Student Movement, funded by the Andrew Mellon
Foundation and the NRF, the programme entered
into a partnership with South African History
Online (SAHO), the largest website in Africa, to
promote public engagement, research, teaching
and learning of history on the continent. Together,
ESD and SAHO are curating a collection of digital
‘memories’ on the historic South African student
movement #FeesMustFall and related hashtag
campaigns. Researchers are already reporting its
usefulness in their own work, and those involved
as activists in the student movement have spoken
of the importance of being recognised for their
contributions in bringing about reform in South
African higher educational institutions.
A further impact on public dialogue occurred in
August 2018 when, in partnership with 11 other

NGOs and academic institutions, ESD hosted a
public dialogue, with the Chief Justice as a keynote
speaker, on a broad understanding of restitution
in South Africa. A key outcome of the dialogue,
attended by over 300 people, was the production

The HSRC’s partnership with South African History Online
captures digital memories of the recent student movement

of a charter for restitution, intended to serve as a
resource for mobilising both practical initiatives
and policy recommendations to bring about more
urgent action around issues of social justice, redress
and restitution.

Young people attending Science Week,
which was evaluated by the HSRC as part
of its ‘Youth Into Science’ research project

Prof. Sharlene Swartz and the Chief Justice of
South Africa, Mogoeng Mogoeng, at the Second
Restitution Conference, co-convened by the HSRC
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eRESEARCH KNOWLEDGE CENTRE
(eRKC)
eRKC Profile
The eRKC is a research enabler that provides
innovative knowledge services to the HSRC’s
research community and its stakeholders. The unit
enhances the HSRC’s research capability through
information provision, geospatial analytics and digital
curation by focusing on:
• Facilitating access to information and knowledge
through the provision of high-quality, trusted
resources and services;
• Facilitating access to accredited information;
• Increasing research visibility and discovery;
• Caring for the intellectual output of the organisation;
• Monitoring the impact of research;
• Raising awareness and building eResearch
knowledge production capability;
• Developing established approaches, methods
and capacity in the use of new data sources and
innovative data intensive research; and
• Participating in research projects using new data
sources and innovative data intensive research
methods.
This is achieved within an eResearch context that is
characterised by rapid global technological change
and innovation in the research environment – taking
cognisance of the opportunities and challenges
related to Open Science, data intensive research,
access to vast quantities of digital information
resources and tools, as well as the importance of
demonstrating increased research impact.
The eRKC is a partner in the research endeavour
through embedded knowledge services that
contribute to the realisation of the strategic research
goals of the HSRC.

Impact
Enabling the Research Processes of the
HSRC through Information Support Services,
Geospatial Analytics Services, and Digital
Curation Services
The eRKC facilitates sustainable electronic access
to the HSRC library collection in print and electronic
format, the Research and Data output collections
of the HSRC, and a comprehensive collection of
subscribed and Open Access eResources. In an era
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of easy access to potentially fake information, the
unit supports the research and study endeavours
of HSRC staff through literature research support
as well as retrieval and supply services of relevant,
trusted information resources.
By using geospatial tools and analysis, the eRKC
provides insight and spatial understanding to socioeconomic challenges. Sample design advice, spatial
data-analysis, and mapping services enable HSRC
researchers and the public at large, and enhance
the HSRC research output.
Through its digital preservation services, the centre
manages and shares the HSRC’s research data and
output collections with the HSRC and the broader
research community. Through these endeavours,
the unit advocates best practices in terms of
information, data management and use.
Enabling an Assessment of Research Impact
By carrying out citation analysis through credible
databases, it is possible to determine the citation
count in respect of all published journal articles
authored by HSRC staff. The process entails the
identification of all accredited journal articles produced
by the HSRC that had a citation count of 10 or more
in the five years prior to the current financial yearend. For purposes of this reporting period, citation
counts of articles published in the five-year period
2013/14–2017/18 were investigated and reported.
The abstract and citation analysis tool, Scopus, was
used to track citations between publications for the
866 accredited journal articles retrieved from the
Research Management System (RMS).
The final report indicated that 171 of the 866 articles
on Scopus had a citation count of 10 or more,
measured over a five-year period.
The outcome of the report provided the level of the
HSRC’s impact within the Humanities and Social
Science arena. It also indicated areas of improvement
and growth. It should, however, be noted that a
high citation count can be relative because it can
be influenced by various factors such as a topical
issue at hand. The period of publication also has
bearing, meaning that to some extent, the longer
the article has been available the higher the chances
are of it being cited.
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Figure 10: Number of articles with citation count levels – Scopus
Enabling Access to the HSRC’s Research Data
and Research Outputs

Africa (70%) and 30% from other countries (See
Figure 11).

During the reporting period, 23 new data sets were
made available for secondary use. These are listed
in Part F on pages 149 to 150. The data sets can
be accessed from http://datacuration.hsrc.ac.za/.

Most of the data users from international institutions
are from the USA (12.6%) and the United Kingdom
(8.7%), but data sets were also requested by users
from Canada, Swaziland, Germany, Spain, France,
Italy and the Netherlands. External individuals (85%)
were the main users of the data sets.

In 2018/19, 152 unique users downloaded 661
data sets. Data users hail mostly from South
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Figure 11: Geographical location of data users
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Figure 12: Organisational affiliation of data users per geographical location
Figure 12 indicates the organisational sector affiliation
of data users per geographical location.
In the year under review, 414 research outputs were
produced and curated. These outputs are listed in

Part F on pages 150 to 165. Figure 13 indicates the
distribution of all outputs per type, including those
contributing to the applicable ADEPTS performance
indicators, as well as other non-contributing outputs.

Journal Articles

83.8

Chapters in Books

32.0

Research Reports

11.6

Policy Briefs

7.2

Books

6.5
0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

Figure 13: Percentage of research outputs per type
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Figure 14: Percentage of research outputs per type
Figure 14 represents the composition per research
output type. Most (83.8%) of the research outputs
produced in 2018/19, were journal articles of which
96.3% were DHET accredited or peer-reviewed and
3.7% non-peer viewed.

Requests for Research Outputs mostly originated
from South Africa, Europe and the United States. The
individuals, who enquired about Research Outputs
mainly hailed from higher education institutions,
requested the outputs in their private capacity or
were affiliated to government departments. The
majority of the requests were received from nonHSRC staff (90.5%).

Figure 15 represents the 1 666 requests for research
outputs of the HSRC that were received during the
year under review.
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HIV/AIDS, TB AND STI (HAST)
The HAST Programme focuses on the social
determinants of and social interventions required to
address HIV/AIDS, sexually transmitted infections
and tuberculosis. The research strives to address
these health problems at both social and population
levels while looking at delivery models for biomedical
interventions in order to improve implementation
and effectiveness.

Key Research Outcomes
The South African Behaviour Sero-Surveillance
and Media (SABSSM) Series
The SABSSM series of surveys has provided critical
information on the dynamics of the HIV epidemic in
South Africa from 2002 to date. This research will
contribute to the achievement of Health goal 1 of
the NDP: Raise the life expectancy of South Africans
to at least 70 years and ensure that the generation
of under-20s is largely free of HIV by 2030.
In line with this, the 2012 and 2017 surveys were
expanded to include a wide range of health questions
including the health of infants and their mothers,
child health and emerging interventions such as
male circumcision. The study was therefore able
to provide a comprehensive assessment of the
health, behaviour, knowledge and HIV status of the
people of South Africa. This information is crucial to
understanding the health status of South Africans
and to guide future strategies and programmes
aimed at reducing the transmission of HIV and its
impact on society.
The results of the study were presented on 17 July
2018 to an esteemed panel, including the Minister
of Health, Dr Aaron Motsoaledi and chaired by the
CEO of the HSRC, Prof. Crain Soudien.

Prof. Crain Soudien chairing
the high level presentation
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The study outcomes were also shared internationally
at the International AIDS Society Conference, held
in Amsterdam from the 23 to 27 July 2018. The
SABSSM V satellite session, presenting the results
of the fifth study, was held on 24 July 2018.
South Africa was well represented at the conference
with the HSRC, SANAC, the National Department
of Health and The Presidency working together
to represent the response to the HIV epidemic of
which HSRC’s surveillance activities have played
a crucial part.
The final SABSSM V report is being finalised.
Inaugural Transgender Women (TGW) in
Southern Africa: The Botshelo Ba Trans Study
Initiated and supported by the United States Centers
for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) with
funding from the President’s Emergency Plan for
AIDS Relief (PEPFAR), the HSRC conducted the first
South African bio behavioural survey (BBS) on HIV in
transgender women. This study aimed to fill a gap
in South Africa’s response to HIV and AIDS, since
data does not exist on how transgender women
experience HIV and AIDS, from initial diagnosis to
achieving viral suppression.
The research was conducted in collaboration with
civil society organisations (i.e. SHE, SWEAT, AC2)
and conducted in Cape Town, Johannesburg and
East London, South Africa. Peer-driven recruitment
was used to enrol 887 participants.
To date, the ‘Botshelo Ba Trans Study’ is the largest
HIV prevalence study amongst transgender women
conducted in Africa. More importantly, this study
is significant in terms of programmatic HIV service
delivery for transgender women. For the first time,

Minister of Health, Dr Aaron Motsoaledi,
briefing stakeholders and the media on
the outcomes of the SABSSM V study

the methodology included testing for HIV, as well
as testing for antiretroviral and HIV loads. The data
can therefore be used to monitor the stages of HIV
medical care for transgender women, while also
advocating HIV services for this often neglected
and underserved key population.
Ghana Mapping Study (GMS)
Researchers were commissioned as technical
advisors for the GMS II by the Ghana AIDS
Commission. The GMS II, conducted with
researchers from the School of Medicine at
KNUST, recruited 4 095 men who have sex
with men (MSM) across eight regions of Ghana:
Greater Accra region (N=546); Ashanti region
(N=511); Brong-Ahafo region (N=504); Central
region (N=503); Eastern region (N=501); Northern
areas of Ghana (N=510); Volta region (N=505);
and Western region (N=515). To date the GMS II
is the largest bio-behavioural survey conducted
amongst MSM in Ghana.

adults (≥15 years) identified and sampled from 110
population clusters across South Africa, and will be
completed in September 2019.
Best Practices among Primary Care Physicians
in the Private Medical Sector
A study on best practices among primary care
physicians in the private medical sector is being
conducted by the HSRC, in collaboration with McGill
University, and is funded by the Bill and Melinda
Gates Foundation.
The study aims to assess clinical practices for
common ailments among a random sample of
private sector family and general practitioners to
identify commonalities, best practices as well as
areas for improvement, intervention, and support,
using standardised patients. The study is being
conducted in Durban and Cape Town and will be
completed in July 2019.

National TB Prevalence Survey

Strategies to Reduce Pre-Treatment Loss to
Follow-Up and Improve Successful Patient
Outcomes in a TB Hotspot

The HSRC, working with the National Department
of Health, the South African Medical Research
Council, and the National Institute of Communicable
Diseases conducted the first national tuberculosis
(TB) prevalence survey in South Africa. The survey
aims to enhance TB control in South Africa by
informing the National TB Control Programme about
the current epidemiological situation of TB disease
and offering insight into ways in which TB control
can be improved.

This study was conducted with National Institute of
Communicable Diseases Centre for Tuberculosis
and the United Kingdom Medical Research Council.
The study aimed to evaluate the effectiveness
of interventions to decrease pre-treatment loss
to follow-up (PLTFU) and improving patient final
outcomes (SPO) among patients with rifampicin
susceptible, microbiologically confirmed pulmonary
TB (mPTB), attending primary health care facilities
within a geographic TB hotspot.

The primary objective of the study is to estimate
the prevalence of bacteriologically confirmed
pulmonary TB disease among the adult (≥15
years) population of South Africa. In addition, the
study aims to:

The specific objectives were:

• Identify the extent to which people with TB or
with symptoms suggestive of pulmonary TB
seek care and from which type of health provider;
• Estimate the prevalence of sputum GXP-positive
TB;
• Estimate the prevalence of Rifampicin resistant
TB, diagnosed using GXP;
• Estimate the prevalence of sputum culturepositive TB; and
• Provide a baseline TB prevalence estimate for
the future assessment of trends in the burden
of TB disease in South Africa.
The survey was undertaken in a nationally
representative sample of approximately 55 000

• To assess the effectiveness of a package of
interventions consisting of i) pre- and post-TB
test counselling and ii) a once off cash transfer,
conditional to initiation of TB treatment, in
decreasing pre-treatment loss to follow-up among
adults (>18 years) undergoing investigation for
pulmonary TB;
• To determine the effectiveness of conditional
cash transfers in increasing successful patient
outcomes in adults with microbiologically
confirmed PTB; and
• To assess the cost-effectiveness of the
interventions in studies 1 and 2 in reducing
pre-treatment loss to follow-up and increasing
successful patient outcomes respectively.
The HSRC was responsible for developing the preand post-TB test counselling materials. The project
was concluded in 2018.
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HUMAN AND SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT
(HSD)
Profile of HSD
The HSD Programme is a multidisciplinary programme
that conducts social science and humanities research
addressing the development of vulnerable individuals
over the life course and across generations. In
addressing questions relating to human and social
development, the programme explores how diversity
in race, gender, class, culture, language and identity
shape the trajectories of individuals, couples and
families – over the life course. Research outputs
acknowledge that to build a socially cohesive South
African society requires an investigation of our divided
history, marginal sexualities, moral values, and views
regarding justice, equity, restitution, and reconciliation.

An exciting mix of disciplines, theoretical and
methodological rigour and innovation, drawn
from anthropology, cultural studies, demography,
economics, education, psychology and sociology,
allow the research team to produce evidence-based
knowledge that helps to promote understanding
while developing interventions for individual and
social change. The programme generates evidence
to inform the choices and decisions of policy makers
and practitioners in responding to South Africa’s
broad human and social development challenges.
This work is driven by a focus on two broad thematic
areas viz., (i) Children, Youth and Communities, and
(ii) Families, Sexualities and Belonging.

Policies; broader social,
structural and health
conditions

Living & working
conditions

Social, family &
community
network
Individual
behavior

LIFE COURSE
Individual traits: age, sex, race & biological factors

Figure 16: Life cycle
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Research Highlights
Through the Child’s Eyes
Millions of children globally are currently enrolled
in substandard childcare, with Early Childhood
Development centres sometimes being no more than
a plastic/cardboard shack with 20–30 children, sedated
with antihistamines, crowded into a single room with
one ‘carer’. Home environments are often no more
stimulating, with very little light, poor air quality due
to paraffin burners, and caregivers with little energy
or knowledge about the advantages of reading and
talking frequently with the children. HSD is currently
working on a project that explores and records these
child-unfriendly spaces through the use of technology
in near real time, from the perspective of the child.
Advancements in the fields of digital sensors,
computation, storage, and communications have turned
mobile phones into powerful mobile sensing devices.
Among the sensors included in modern mobile
phones are accelerometers, altimeters, digital
cameras, microphones, GPSs, Bluetooth proximity,
and oximeters, among others. Analysing the digital
traces produced by these sensors could enable
the assessment, detection, and monitoring of
key developmental processes in an automated,
expeditious, and scalable manner. Collecting and
collating data from these different types of sensors
gives us insight into the child’s world.

Through the Child’s Eye

This study is being conducted in South Africa and
Nepal. The various stages of the study include:
i) review of potential technologies for use in low
resource environments for doing sensing research in
the home; ii) the development of videos for all devices
to explain the technology to individuals unfamiliar with

the process; and iii) the development of anchored
vignettes (an anthropological qualitative approach)
to best assess the feasibility, and acceptability of
the devices. In South Africa, the qualitative phase
was completed and the narrative clip was identified
as the optimal technology.
The image is an example of a photo taken from this
study where the child spent 8 hours of the day in a
small dark room with the television on for company.
Building on this work HSD is also launching a study
in Nepal were this data will be used to track the
success of a maternal depression intervention by
passively and unobtrusively observing a mother’s
daily routine, time with her child and on her own and
amount of shouting and crying present in the home.
Future directions include working with the Children’s
Investment Fund Foundation (CIFF) to create a wristworn word tracker that gives an indication of the
number of words a child is exposed to, in a similar way
to how a Fitbit™ tracks one’s steps. These devices,
deployed at scale, could be used to assess language
exposure and development at a national level.
Amplifying Change across Eastern and
Southern Africa: Supporting civil society to
deliver sexual and reproductive health rights
(SRHR) education and reduce school-related
gender based violence (SRGBV)

The HSRC’s Genders and Sexualities in Africa (GSA)
working group brings together the expertise of
various colleagues working on issues of sexual and
gender diversity across the lifespan. The working
group has completed a range of projects including:
a national survey in Malawi on public attitudes
towards sexual and gender minorities; an evaluation
of a multi-country workshop for religious leaders
around issues of sexual and gender diversity; and a
critical review of health services for sexual minorities
across seven countries in the region.
The evidence base in eastern and southern Africa
indicates that schools are sites of violence and bullying
for particular school populations, including girls and
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sexual and gender minority learners. There are also
challenges in rolling out comprehensive Sexual and
Reproductive Health Rights (SRHR) education, given
prevailing norms in relation to gender, sexuality and
diversity. Civil society organisations (CSOs) are key
change agents in this area. In September 2018, the
GSA was successfully awarded a substantial grant
by Amplify Change to partner with approximately 20
civil society partners in eight countries to address
these issues. The two-year Amplify Change project
will be conducted in Botswana, Malawi, Mozambique,
Namibia, South Africa, Swaziland, Uganda and Zambia.
These multiple in-country and regional convenings
will bring together a wide range of stakeholders to
discuss how best to strengthen SRHR education
and reduce School-Related Gender Based Violence
(SRGBV) in education. The project includes a survey
and qualitative research on the current state of SRHR
education and SRGBV in education systems.
The Amplify Change project reflects the vision of
collaborative partnership with CSOs in engaging in
national and regional work on adversity and vulnerability
across the lifespan. This work aims to maximise inclusive
social change and the life course opportunities for
minority and vulnerable groups. The Amplify Change
grant shows the opportunities that arise in thinking
creatively about problems in partnership with CSOs
and we wish to thank Amplify Change for making
this regional, systems-level collaboration possible.

Research Impact
A Community-Owned Non-Communicable
Disease Screening Service in Sweetwaters –
the First of its Kind Outside Gauteng
Since 2015, HSD and the UCLA Centre for World
Health have worked with MBA teams from UCLA
on an initiative to develop a sustainable, non-donor

Unjani Clinic in an underserved area
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funded and profitable non-communicable disease
(NCD) focused risk-screening programme in the
community of Sweetwaters.
Over a period of three years, various MBA teams
have visited Sweetwaters to explore how to fund the
gap between people’s willingness to pay for NCD
screening services and their limited financial ability
to pay. In order to achieve the aim of a profitable
community owned NCD screening service, the teams
agreed that a successful public health programme
would require selecting an impact-centric business
model that: i) aligned incentives and values between
stakeholders; ii) cultivated relationships and support
from a range of partners; and iii) offered real benefit
from both business and community perspectives.
Based on these key criteria, a partnership was
created with Unjani Clinics NPC in South Africa.
Unjani establishes a network of shipping containerbased primary care clinics in rural and township
communities that are nurse-owned and operated, with
a fee-for-service business model that is financially
sustainable on an operational basis. The fruit of this
partnership was recently unveiled in Sweetwaters
where the first Unjani clinic, outside of Gauteng,
was built and opened to the public.
This initiative brings many positive benefits including
the fact that public clinics will become less congested,
since those who can afford to pay for a slightly
higher quality of care will use an Unjani clinic;
employment opportunities are created for a security
guard, front desk receptionist and pharmacy
assistant in Sweetwaters; and income is retained
in the community through this nurse-owned and
operated clinic.
This project shows the clear impact that can be
achieved by thinking creatively about problems

and including the perspectives of multidisciplinary
teams. Apart from the HSRC and UCLA, meaningful
contributions were made by the Sweetwaters
community, the many UCLA Business students who
worked on this project over the years and Unjani.
First State of South Africa’s Fathers Report
Sonke Gender Justice (Sonke) and the HSRC launched
the inaugural ‘State of South Africa’s Fathers Report’
on 12 July 2018 in Pretoria, South Africa. The launch
coincided with an important milestone, where for
the first time key amendments through the Labour
Laws Amendment Bill allowed South African fathers
to take better parental leave. The ‘State of South
African Fathers Report’ highlights the importance
of paternal involvement, irrespective of marital or
residence status. Moving away from the deficit model
of absent fatherhood, the report focuses on the
involvement of non-resident biological and social fathers
in parenting and caregiving. This inaugural edition
provides explanations on the benefits to children,
mothers and fathers of men’s involvement in the
first thousand days of a child’s life, and recommends
key intervention points for policymakers to improve
fathers’ involvement in childcare.

The report documents that:
• Most children are cared for by women (usually
biological mothers or maternal grandmothers)
as their primary caregivers;
• 36% of children in South Africa live in the same
household as their biological father;
• More than a third of children live in the same
household with another man who is not their
biological father;
• Biological father non-residency does not
necessarily equate to fathers being uninvolved.
These fathers are involved in paying for school
fees and groceries;
• When fathers are the primary recipient of the
Child Support Grant, they use it for the same
childcare expenses that mothers do; and
• Despite high levels of father non-residency,
reported violence and neglect by men, the role of
caring fathers in the lives of children and families
is very important and undisputed.
African Youth Inclusion: Paying Attention to
the Second Decade of Life and Monitoring
the Transition to Adulthood – a Review of the
African Youth Charter
HSD received a research grant from the Ford Foundation
to conduct a review of the implementation of the
African Youth Charter in ten selected countries since
2006: Algeria, Ethiopia, Democratic Republic of Congo,
Egypt, Kenya, Mauritius, Nigeria, Senegal, South
Africa and Zambia. The review focused on policies
that enabled the development of young people in the
second decade of life and transitions into adulthood.
Various youth policies that African governments
have developed to improve education, health,
skills development, gender equality and women
empowerment, and participation draw from the
principles of the Charter. Youth policies are intended
to provide young people with opportunities for
employment and participation and to ensure they
receive coordinated support from governments
and development partners.
The review established that gaps in young people’s
development, health and wellbeing as they transition
into adulthood are largely due to unfavourable policies
or poor policy implementation and cultural norms
that fail to advance the rights of young people to
quality education, health especially reproductive
health, equal participation and citizenship.
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POPULATION HEALTH, HEALTH
SYSTEMS AND INNOVATION (PHHSI)
PHHSI Profile

Research Highlights

The programme seeks to use social, economic,
behavioural and human sciences to generate
evidence for health policy, health systems, and
health promotion, and to enhance population health
impact. The key research pillars are Health Economics
and Health Systems; Health Promotion; Disease
Prevention and Behavioural Sciences; Nutrition
and Food Security; and Social and Behavioural
Epidemiology.

Health
Economics and
Health Systems

Health
Promotion

Disease
Prevention and
Behavioural
Sciences

Nutrition and
Food Security

Social and
Behavioural
Epidemiology

Figure 17: Key Research Pillars of PHHSI
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HealthRise Intervention
The HealthRise Intervention aimed at understanding
how to improve detection, management and control
of cardiovascular disease and diabetes. The project,
which was implemented in two districts of South
Africa, demonstrated how trained community health
workers (CHWs) can contribute to health systems
strengthening and filling critical gaps in the detection,
diagnosis and management of non-communicable
diseases (NCDs).
CHWs were trained in NCDs, risk factors, health
education, how to screen for diabetes and hypertension,
referral to a health care facility for confirmatory
diagnosis, and following up on patients, in alignment
with existing National Department of Health guidelines
and infrastructure. The CHWs screened over 15 000
people during household visits, in public health clinics
and during health education campaigns, both in the
community and in work places. Over 30% had raised
blood pressure and 6% screened positive for high
blood glucose (>=11.0 mmol/L), and were referred
to a clinic. Importantly, over a third of the referrals
were newly detected cases of raised blood pressure
and raised blood sugar; that is, they were previously
unaware that they had these risk factors.
The CHWs linked patients to care and those with
confirmed diagnoses were initiated into treatment,
and monitored by CHWs via home visits. This process
facilitated appropriate treatment adjustment, improved
treatment adherence and patient empowerment
for better management of their conditions. The
household visits enabled CHWs to screen and
monitor patients who would otherwise not have
travelled to a clinic to access health care.
The project also used a clinical mentor system where
diabetic nurses trained and mentored facility nurses
on diabetes and chronic diseases management,
offering one-on-one interactions, journal meetings
and advice on treatment and management of patients
with complications.
HealthRise demonstrated how CHWs, recruited from
within the communities they serve, can contribute
significantly toward detection and linkage to care, while
working together with clinical staff within the National

Department of Health’s framework and guidelines for
NCDs. Over 380 CHWs were successfully trained.
A number of lessons were learned from the project.
Firstly, patients referred to health care facilities for
confirmatory diagnosis do not always arrive at the
clinic and some refuse referrals. The project used
patient follow-up strategies, including phone calls
and health education, to persuade them to visit
the facility. Secondly, some patients who visited
the facility were not able to be tested, due to the
capacity of the facility to confirm diagnoses. Thirdly,
the implementation of HealthRise was relatively
short, and longer time frames are needed to trace
patients for improved management and control.
Teen MomConnect
The Teen MomConnect study tests the use of a
combined, tailored M-Health program and motivational
interviewing intervention to deliver health education
to pregnant teenage girls.
MomConnect is an existing intervention used
by the National Department of Health, and uses

cell phones to register pregnancies on a central
database, following which health promotion SMS
messages, that are designed to encourage antenatal
clinic attendance and better care, are sent to
pregnant women. However, the messages are
more cognitively appropriate for adult pregnant
women than for teenagers.
The current project, Teen MomConnect, is designed
to be a youth-friendly programme more easily
received by adolescents. The existing MomConnect
messages have been tailored by age, motivational
variables, appointment adherence, language and
culture. Research staff also delivered motivational
interviewing counselling to the pregnant teenagers.
Through a consultative process involving focus
groups with pregnant teenagers, and behavioural
science theories, an SMS message library was
developed with tailored messages relating to
antenatal appointment keeping, pregnancy
knowledge, self-care, nutrition, HIV and TB testing,
and substance use during pregnancy. The project
has recruited over 200 participants for evaluation
of the intervention.

RESEARCH USE AND IMPACT
ASSESSMENT (RIA)
RIA Profile
RIA is a cross-cutting unit with transversal
responsibilities, that seeks to enhance the use
and impact of scientific research, and to manage
the relationships, reputation and brand of the HSRC.

Highlights
Satisfaction Levels with Services Provided by
Parliament
The post 1994 National Parliament has made
innovative efforts to be a research-informed,
consultative, reflexive and accountable institution. In
December 2015, Parliament tasked the High Level
Panel on the Assessment of Key Legislation and
the Acceleration of Fundamental Change (HLP) with
undertaking an assessment of the content and
implementation of legislation passed since 1994 in
relation to its effectiveness and possible unintended
consequences. As a follow-up and parallel process

to this examination of effectiveness and unintended
consequences, in 2018 RIA was tasked with
establishing satisfaction levels with the services
provided by Parliament.
An online survey of 306 stakeholders revealed
varying levels of dissatisfaction with the services
offered. Stakeholders in the commercial, research,
NGO, academic and government sectors were
generally less impressed with the services offered
by Parliament than were MPs and parliamentary
employees (including researchers and policy advisors).
Up to half of the external stakeholders were not
satisfied that Parliament was adequately promoting
public participation, disseminating appropriate
information and education, and allowing public
access. The tentative conclusions reached with
Parliamentary Communication Services (the client)
were that continuity in structured engagements
across the five yearly terms of Parliament, more
targeted stakeholder relationship campaigns, and
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enhanced use of social and community media were
priority elements of parliament’s theory of change
that needed to be better measured and assessed.
Performance Evaluation of an ICT Intervention
In 2018/19 RIA successfully completed the
Performance Evaluation of the TARMII 3.0 program.
The TARMII 3.0 program is an ICT program that
provides pre-tested, validated and quality assured
English assessment questions (referred to as items)
for grade three teachers. These questions are used
for formative, and to a lesser extent summative,
assessment for learners. Twenty schools in the
North West and Gauteng provinces participated in
the programme with varying degrees of participation.
Although the aim was to target mostly quantile 1 to
3 schools, lack of ICT infrastructure in these schools
meant that only better resourced schools could take
part. Teachers acknowledged the benefits of having
an item assessment data bank; it meant they had
pre-tested and validated items at their finger-tips,
they could quickly put assessment tests together,
and in instances where connectivity was possible,
the automatic marking of multiple-choice questions
(MCQs) and generation of summary statistics saved
them time. The challenges highlighted included
insufficient ICT infrastructure in schools, including the
cost of data; lack of computers and tablets; the need
to streamline current assessment processes to align
with ICT systems to avoid duplication of activities;
and the need for training on ICT skills for teachers.
Knowledge-Brokering to Improve Programme
Design
As part of a seven-year collaboration with the DST,
in 2018/19 RIA hosted a series of six seminars
to explore the role of Innovation for Inclusive
Development (IID) in the economy and society,
especially in small and informal business, health
systems, regarding universal basic income. Much
of the discussion focused on the development
of indicators to measure social and technological
innovation. Participants included researchers from
South America and Europe, the HSRC, the universities
of Johannesburg, Stellenbosch, Free State and
KwaZulu-Natal, policy-makers, entrepreneurs and
academics. Methods such as digital story-telling,
small area censuses, 4D mapping, and participatory
Monitoring and Evaluation were profiled.

Organization (WHO), is a longitudinal study collecting
data on adults aged 50 years and older, plus a smaller
comparison sample of adults aged 18–49 years,
from nationally representative samples in China,
Ghana, India, Mexico, the Russian Federation and
South Africa. In South Africa, data is collected from
more than 2 500 respondents.
In conducting wave lll of this study, RIA’s focus was
on putting into place measures to improving data
collection and data quality. Accordingly, for the first
time a tablet-based survey was conducted using
Computer Assisted Personal Interviewing (CAPI)
files. Detailed, regular monitoring and validation of
data collection was done and, despite significant
cost escalations in some areas, the project was
successfully completed on time and under-budget.
Questions and measures in the survey were intended
to determine the prevalence and treatment of
diabetes, hypertension, arthritis, and depression; key
anthropometrics (blood pressure, weight, height, grip
strength, walking pace); and samples of saliva and
urine were collected to be tested inter alia for salt
content. Meta-data from SAGE are being archived and
made available as part of a multi-survey digital library.

Research Impact
Drought Adaptation and Behaviour
Modifications in Cape Town
As part of an on-going collaboration with the
National Disaster Management Centre (NDMC),
and in response to its Seasonal Hazard report for
Spring 2018, RIA initiated a drought adaptation and
behaviour modification pilot study in Cape Town.
Residents of several Cape Town neighbourhoods
and the rural hinterland were surveyed about their
experiences of the 2017/18 drought. Respondents
reported an impressive range of behaviour
modifications in respect of water usage. The
findings indicate that short duration or less frequent
showers, and the use of grey water for toilet flushing
have become the new norms. Valuable suggestions
about how to manage such drought disasters more
effectively included the need for earlier and more
transparent communication by the authorities, and
for the imposition of even tighter water restrictions.
Discussions about expanding the project to the
Northern Cape have been initiated with the NDMC.

Improving Data Collection and Data Quality

Capacity Building of Military Veterans to
Contribute to Inter-Generational Dialogues

The ‘Study on global AGEing and adult health
(SAGE) project’, which is funded by World Health

In 2018 RIA initiated a new dimension to its
humanities-centred history, memory and narrative
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reconstruction collaborations with the national
departments of Military Veterans and Social
Development. In conjunction with the National
Heritage Council and other stakeholders, training
manuals were developed and capacity building
workshops were conducted with military veterans
in Mpumalanga, North West, Limpopo, Free State
and the Northern Cape.
With respect to the continuing programme of
provision of support to military veterans to write and
publish their autobiographies (Military Veterans Oral
History Project), four books were launched with the
Department of Military Veterans in October 2018:

• A Man on a Mission by the late Eddie Funde
(MK Military Veteran);
• The Memoirs by Dan Mdhluli (APLA Military
Veteran);
• Politics is a dirty game by Themba Dlamini (MK
Military Veteran); and
• Unfinished Revolution: Memoirs of an MK
Commissar by Teboho T Molotsi (MK Military
Veteran).
Despite successes over the past six years, a critical
challenge is to enhance, systematise and assess
the impact of the inter-generational dialogue aspect
of the collaborations.

HSRC PRESS
The research-based scholarly books published
by HSRC Press cover the social sciences and
humanities in South Africa and Africa, are peerreviewed through an independent Editorial Board
to ensure the highest quality content, and have
a reach and impact that is enhanced by open
access publishing.
According to the recently published ASSAf CREST
Study 2015 – Comprehensive Analysis of Scholarly
Publishing in SA: Funding, Quality and Ethics, the
HSRC Press represents approximately 18.5% of the
total South African scholarly book output, including
that of international publishers.
In the year under review the focus on intellectual
history continued, given the context of contemporary
efforts to decolonise the curriculum and engender
a reading culture in the country. In addition to
continuing to publish the Voices of Liberation Series,
as an example of the HSRC Press’ contributions
to these efforts it published Africa’s Cause Must
Triumph: The collected writings of A.P Mda.
In 2018/19, the focus of the Press was to expand
its successful base in order to enhance the
strategic framework within the core thematic
focus of HSRC, namely to address inequality and
poverty, through the publication of outstanding
research in this area.

Voices of Liberation Series

Fatima Meer A Free Mind
Shireen Hassim

Archie Mafeje
Bongani Nyoka

HSRC Research Reports and
Monographs

Skills for the future
Glenda Kruss, Angelique
Wildschut and Il-haam Petersen
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HSRC Press Scholarly Books

Theorising Education
Wayne Hugo

Partnerships in Action
Patti Silbert, Jon Clark

Equitable Rural
Socioeconomic Change
Peter Jacobs

Independence and Revolution
in Portuguese-speaking Africa:
Aquino de Braganca
Colin Darch

Post-school Education
and the Labour Market in
South Africa
Mike Rogan

Black Academic Voices:
The South African Experience
Khonou, Phaswana, KhozaShangase and Canham

City of Broken Dreams: Myth
making, Nationalism and the
University in an African Motor
City
Leslie Bank

State of the Nation –
Inequality and Poverty:
Diagnosis, Prognosis and
Responses
Soudien, Reddy and Woolard

Taxing Africa: Coercion
Reform and Development
Moore et al

Principle and Pragmatism
in the Liberation Struggle:
A Political Biography of
Selby Msimang
Sibongiseni Mkhize

Best Red

Back to black: Retelling
Black radicalism for the
21st Century
Kehinde Andrews
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PUBLIC COMMUNICATION OF THE
VALUE OF THE SOCIAL SCIENCES
AND HUMANITIES
In the year under review the Corporate
Communications team continued to profile the
work of the HSRC internally and through external
communication platforms. This included interactions
with the media, the creative use of digital platforms
and audio-visual products.

Over the period 1 April – 31 March 2019, the value
(Advertising Value Equivalent, AVE) of the strategic
communication programme amounted to R158 650 864.
This continues to emphasise the value of the work of
the HSRC to media and other stakeholders who can
be reached through public communication platforms.

Strateg ic
Per for ma nce
Performance against Predetermined
Objectives
Performance against ADEPTS Targets Set in
the Annual Performance Plan 2018/19
The following table presents a summary of
performance against targets for the year ending

on 31 March 2019. It is prepared in line with the
National Treasury guidelines for performance
reporting issued in August 2011. In response to
a request from DST, additional information (i.e.
alignment with entity mandated objectives and
priorities in the National Development Plan (NDP)
is provided in Table 1, which contains explanations
of positive and negative deviations.
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A – Advancing
knowledge and
scientific excellence

Peer-reviewed journal
articles (acknowledged
journals) per researcher
(Programme 2: RDI)

Scholarly books
published
(Programme 2: RDI)

Scholarly book chapters
published
(Programme 2: RDI)

HSRC research
seminars convened
(Programme 2: RDI)

HSRC Review
publications produced
(Programme 2: RDI)

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

Variance
<over/
(under)>
Challenges/comments

Response to challenges/
remedial action
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HSRC Act:
Section 3(a)

NDP priorities:
9, 13

HSRC Act:
Section 3(a)

NDP priorities:
9, 13

HSRC Act:
Section 3(a)

NDP priorities:
9, 13

HSRC Act:
Section 3(a)

NDP priorities:
9, 13

HSRC Act:
Section 3(a)

NDP priorities:
9, 13

4

40

54

14

0.9

4

51

93

18

1.06
(189/179)

0

11

39

4

0.16

N/a

A high target has been set for the year, hence all
relevant seminar opportunities are pursued. The
over-achievement represents a small positive
variance and came at no additional monetary cost
to the HSRC.

It is not always easy to predict exactly when a
book (and therefore also book chapter) will be
released. Higher performance seen in a positive
light, and came at no additional monetary cost to
the HSRC.

It is not always easy to predict exactly when an
externally-published book will be released. Higher
performance seen in a positive light, and came at
no additional monetary cost to the HSRC.

It is not always easy to predict whether or when
an externally-reviewed journal article will be
published. Higher performance seen in a positive
light, and came at no additional monetary cost to
the HSRC.

N/a

No remedial action
required.

No remedial action
required.

No remedial action
required.

No remedial action
required.

For all of the indicators related to strategic outcome oriented goal “A”, contributions are made towards addressing:
NDP priorities: 9, 13
HSRC Act: Section 3(a)

Cumulative Cumulative
target (for output (for
the year)
the year)

Objective 1A: Disseminating of knowledge through publications and public dialogue

1

Indicator Performance indicator
ref. No. description

Contribution
to the national
priority/entity
mandate

Table 1: Major Variances between Planned and Actual Outputs for the Period Ending 31 March 2019

Target not met at the end of the reporting period.

Target met at the end of the reporting period.

Key to performance information report
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Public dialogues on
poverty and inequality
hosted
(Programme 1: Admin)

Number of peerreviewed journal articles
by HSRC author or
authors with at least 10
citations listed within 5
years from publication
(Programme 1: Admin)

D – Developing
collaborative networks
and applied research

1.7

1.8

2

8

4

10

2.1

HDIs with which HSRC
has actively collaborated
during the reporting
period
(Programme 2: RDI)

171

4

163

0

3

Variance
<over/
(under)>

This is a new indicator, with no benchmarks
available to help us set initial targets. The positive
deviation is an indication of academic impact, and
came at no cost to the HSRC. Positive deviation is
commendable.

N/a

It is not always easy to predict exactly when a
policy brief will be released. Higher performance
seen in a positive light, and came at no additional
monetary cost to the HSRC.

Challenges/comments

Not applicable

N/a

No remedial action
required.

Response to challenges/
remedial action

HSRC Act:
Section 3(d), 3(e)

NDP priorities:
3, 7, 9, 13

5

6

1

Collaboration with HDIs is encouraged. Positive
deviation came at no additional cost to the HSRC.

No remedial action
required.

For all of the indicators related to strategic outcome oriented goal “D”, contributions are made towards addressing:
NDP priorities: 3, 7, 9, 13
HSRC Act: Section 3(d), 3(e)

HSRC Act:
Section 3(a)

NDP priorities:
9, 13

HSRC Act:
Section 3(a), 3(f)

NDP priorities:
9, 13 as well
as NDP triple
challenges
of poverty,
inequality and
unemployment

HSRC Act:
Section 3(a)

NDP priorities:
9, 13

Objective 2A: Supporting collaborative research networks

Policy briefs produced
and published
(Programme 2: RDI)

1.6

13

Cumulative Cumulative
target (for output (for
the year)
the year)

Objective 1B: Informing effective formulation of government policy

Indicator Performance indicator
ref. No. description

Contribution
to the national
priority/entity
mandate
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Peer-reviewed journal
articles co-published
with researchers
outside South Africa, on
the African continent
(Programme 2: RDI)

E – Enhancing research
skills and public
awareness

2.3

3

8

10

10

9

Master’s level interns
(Programme 1: Admin)

PhD level interns
(Programme 1: Admin)

Post-Doctoral Fellows
(Programme 1: Admin)

3.1

3.2

3.3

2

(1)

Variance
<over/
(under)>

It is not always possible to predict when journal
articles will be published. HSRC researchers
and their counterparts in other African countries
responded positively and exceeded the target.
The positive deviation came at no additional
monetary cost.

The HSRC continues to work on recruiting
appropriately-qualified African Research Fellows
for both shorter and longer-term appointments. It
is difficult to reach the target set, given stringent
immigration requirements. In fact, a tenth
candidate was appointed, but could not take office
before 31 March, due to immigration delays.

Challenges/comments

No remedial action
required.

Ongoing monitoring
of achievement;
consultation with DST
about possible support to
facilitate and streamline
due processes.

Response to challenges/
remedial action

HSRC Act: Section
3(b), 3(c) and 3(d)

NDP priorities:
3, 9, 13

HSRC Act:
Section 3(b), 3(c)
and 3(d)

NDP priorities:
3, 9, 13

HSRC Act:
Section 3(b), 3(c)
and 3(d)

NDP priorities:
3, 9, 13

20

45

35

20

54

38

0

9

3

N/a

The HSRC is committed to building research
capacity and a positive deviation is deemed
commendable. Some deserving master’s
interns were appointed as PhD interns following
successful completion of their studies.

The HSRC is committed to building research
capacity and a positive deviation is deemed
commendable.

N/a

No remedial action
required.

No remedial action
required.

For all of the indicators related to strategic outcome oriented goal “E”, contributions are made towards addressing:
NDP priorities:3, 9, 13
HSRC Act: Section 3(b), 3(c) and 3(d)

HSRC Act:
Section 3(d), 3(e)

NDP priorities:
3, 7, 9, 13

HSRC Act:
Section 3(d), 3(e)

NDP priorities:
3, 7, 9, 13

Cumulative Cumulative
target (for output (for
the year)
the year)

Objective 3A: Attracting skills for the development of a skilled & capable workforce

African research fellows
hosted by the HSRC
(Programme 2: RDI)

2.2

Objective 2B: Promoting an African research agenda

Indicator Performance indicator
ref. No. description

Contribution
to the national
priority/entity
mandate
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Completed PhD level
research internship
Programme 2: RDI)

3.5

HSRC Act:
Section 3(b), 3(c)
and 3(d)

NDP priorities:
3, 9, 13

HSRC Act:
Section 3(b), 3(c)
and 3(d)

NDP priorities:
3, 9, 13

8

6

4

(4)

4

Variance
<over/
(under)>

P – Preserving and
sharing data for further
analysis

4

Preserved data sets
(Programme 2: RDI)

2

HSRC Act:
Section 3(g)

NDP priorities:
9, 13

10

23

4.2

Unique downloads of
curated data sets
(Programme 1: Admin)

HSRC Act:
Section 3(g)

NDP priorities:
9, 13

472

661

Objective 4B: Managing and promoting secondary use of research data

4.1

2

0

N/a

N/a

It is not easy to predict how many interns will
Ongoing monitoring and
complete their degree programme during a
support of PhD students.
particular year. The HSRC is committed to building
research capacity and expect that more degrees
will be completed in future years.

189

13

The number of downloads cannot be predicted or
directly managed. A positive deviation is seen as
commendable, and was achieved at no additional
cost to the HSRC.

The curation process takes time, hence early
delivery is important. A positive deviation is
deemed commendable. Additional funding was
obtained from the IEC to curate data sets related
to earlier surveys.

No remedial action
required.

No remedial action
required.

For all of the indicators related to strategic outcome oriented goal “P”, contributions are made towards addressing:
NDP priorities: 9, 13
HSRC Act: Section 3(g)

HSRC Act:
Section 3(b), 3(c)
and 3(d)

NDP priorities:
3, 9, 13

Objective 4A: Preserving research data and artefacts

Training academy
(“winter/summer
school” or methodology
workshop) hosted
(Programme 1: Admin)

3.6

Response to challenges/
remedial action

It is not easy to predict how many interns will
No remedial action
complete their degree programme during a
required.
particular year. The HSRC is committed to building
research capacity and a positive deviation is
deemed to be commendable.

Challenges/comments

Objective 3C: Raising awareness of opportunities and contributions in social science and humanities research

Completed master’s
level research internship
(Programme 2: RDI)

3.4

10

Cumulative Cumulative
target (for output (for
the year)
the year)

Objective 3B: Building research capacity for the human sciences

Indicator Performance indicator
ref. No. description

Contribution
to the national
priority/entity
mandate

1

T– Institutional
transformation
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Percentage senior
researchers who are
female
(Programme 2: RDI)

5.2

Challenges/comments

Response to challenges/
remedial action

HSRC Act:
Section 3(d)

NDP priorities:
13

HSRC Act:
Section 3(d)

NDP priorities:
13

50%

56%

43.53%
(37/85)

37.65%
(32/85)

(6.47%)

(18.35%)

The HSRC remains committed to ensure
representivity throughout the organisation, and
will continue to single out the group of senior
researchers by setting high targets for female
representation.

The pool of this resource is very small and
universities and other research institutions are
competing for it.

This is a very challenging target. The small
reduction in percentage, compared with Q3 is
because only one additional appointment (African
male) had been made – there was no change in
the actual number of female senior researchers.

The HSRC remains committed to ensure
representivity throughout the organisation, and
will continue to single out the group of senior
researchers by setting high targets for African (not
only black) representation.

The pool of senior researchers who are African
is very small and universities and other research
institutions are competing for it.

This is a very challenging target. An improvement
in relation to Q1 was evident.

Remark:
The percentage of
senior researchers from
designated groups who
are female, in accordance
with EE legislation, was
37.65% at 31 March 2019.

In the recruitment
process, the appointment
of female researchers at
senior levels is prioritised.
Retention, accompanied
by internal promotion, of
senior female staff is also
a priority.

Remark:
The percentage of
senior researchers from
designated groups who
are black, in accordance
with EE legislation, was
42.24% at 31 March 2019.

In the recruitment
process, the appointment
of African researchers at
senior levels is prioritised.
Retention, accompanied
by internal promotion, of
senior African staff is also
a priority.

This target refers to the StatsSA classification of ‘African’ in terms of population group reporting, i.e. black persons of African origin. It is intended to redress past inequalities and associated backlogs in
representivity and access, by promoting capacity building and career development of Black African South African researchers; it is not intended to perpetuate past divisions based on racial classifications.

Percentage South
African senior
researchers who are
African1
(Programme 2: RDI)

5.1

Variance
<over/
(under)>

For all of the indicators related to strategic outcome oriented goal “T”, contributions are made towards addressing:
NDP priorities: 13
HSRC Act: Section 3(d)

Cumulative Cumulative
target (for output (for
the year)
the year)

Objective 5A: Ensuring ongoing transformation at the level of senior researchers

5

Indicator Performance indicator
ref. No. description

Contribution
to the national
priority/entity
mandate
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S – Financial
Sustainability

Variance
<over/
(under)>

Extra-parliamentary
income as percentage of
total income
(Programme 2: RDI)

Multi-year grants
(Programme 2: RDI)

6.1

6.2

Challenges/comments

Response to challenges/
remedial action

HSRC Act:
Section 4(2)

NDP priorities:
3, 13

HSRC Act:
Section 4(2)

NDP priorities:
3, 13

56%

48%

(47/80)

58.75%

(R220 881 000/
R484 997 000)

45.54%

2.75%

(2.46%)

It is not easy to predict the balance between
longer-and shorter-term grants.

It is very difficult to predict exact amounts to be
earned and spent in a particular year. A deviation
of (2.46%) is relatively small. Prudent financial
management limited the size of the deficit for
the year.

No additional remedial
action required.

The HSRC, through the
DST is trying to alert
Treasury to specific
challenges in government
procurement regimes
on long-term funding
prospects of the HSRC.

No remedial action
required.

For all of the indicators related to strategic outcome oriented goal “S”, contributions are made towards addressing:
NDP priorities:3, 13
HSRC Act: Section 4(2)

Cumulative Cumulative
target (for output (for
the year)
the year)

Objective 6A: Ensuring financial sustainability by securing extra-parliamentary income

6

Indicator Performance indicator
ref. No. description

Contribution
to the national
priority/entity
mandate

C
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Governance
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HSRC B oa rd Members
Prof. Tom has a rich background to his roles in South African higher
education, public service, health system and social justice. With roots in
the Eastern Cape, he studied and worked in various parts of the country
and also has international experience. His undergraduate medical studies
were undertaken at the University of KwaZulu-Natal and his postgraduate
studies in Family Medicine at the University of the Witwatersrand.
He earned his Master of Science in Public Policy and Management at the
University of London’s School of Oriental and African Studies. Prof. Tom
has been focused on health and human rights for over thirty-five years.
In 1994, he was honoured with the Nelson Mandela Award for Health
and Human Rights “in recognition of extraordinary personal dedication to
improving the health of the disadvantaged in South Africa.”
Prof. Mvuyo Tom
Chairperson

He retired as Vice Chancellor of the University of Fort Hare at the end
of 2016 after serving in that capacity for two terms. Prior to that he had
been deeply involved with the transformation of the public service from
1994 to 2004. Prof. Tom has been deep in the heart of how South Africa’s
commitment to social justice plays out in people’s daily lives.
Post-retirement he is focusing on health and education through various
organisations and entities as a board member. Amongst these are the
Council on Higher Education (CHE), Tekano Health Equity South Africa, DG
Murray Trust, Masibumbane Development Organisation and the Albertina
Sisulu Executive Leadership Programme in Health.
Prof. Zungu is a National Research Foundation (NRF) C-rated researcher in
the discipline of Health Sciences, specialising in Occupational Health and
Safety at the University of South Africa, College of Human Sciences, and
Department of Health Studies. Her illustrious academic career spans more
than 10 years in positions from lecturer (2005) to Associate Professorship
(2009); and from full Professorship (2011) to Research Professorship (2016).
Within the horizon of only one decade in academia, she has produced over
90 research outputs in the form of 45 articles in peer reviewed scientific
local and international journals, 11 book chapters, six technical and policy
reports, and over 30 papers presented at scientific meetings. In addition,
she has assiduously supervised over 30 postgraduate students to graduation
(22 master’s and 14 doctoral) within the discipline of Health Sciences.

Prof. Lindiwe Zungu

Through a Harvard University Scholarship and the University of South Africa
(Unisa) Research Professor’s Funding, she was one of the 2017-2018 Global
Clinical Scholars Research Training (GCSRT) fellows at Harvard Medical
School. She is a member of the University Council at Unisa (2017–2019)
and also serves on the Technical Expert Panel for the Centre of Research
Excellence at the Mine Health and Safety Council (2017–2020). Prof. Zungu
currently serves on the Boards of the South African Medical Research
Council (2016–2019), Human Sciences Research Council (2017–2021),
the Examination Board for Texila American University (2017–2018), and
as a member of the editorial board for the newly launched South African
open access scientific journal, Family Medicine and Primary Health Care.
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Ms Sibiya, a member of the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants,
studied at the University of KwaZulu-Natal and completed her CA articles
with Deloitte in Durban in 1997. She has more than 20 years work experience
in the areas of risk management, internal auditing and finance, from junior
to executive level of management. The companies she has worked for
include, amongst others, SAB, Standard Bank, Development Bank of
Southern Africa, Eskom, PRASA and SekelaXabiso. She has served and
continues to serve as a member on various boards and audit committees
within private and public sector companies in the SADC region. She has
also chaired audit and risk committees of various companies.

Ms Precious Sibiya
Dr Hamdok has a PhD in Economics from the School of Economic Studies,
University of Manchester, and is currently working as Deputy Executive
Secretary and Chief Economist, United Nations Economic Commission
for Africa (UNECA), based in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.

Dr Abdalla Hamdok

Policy Analyst/Economist by profession, with over thirty years experience
with public, private and international organisations, Dr Hamdok has extensive
work experience in Africa and the Middle East. Over the years he has
developed an interest in economic and social policy analysis, focusing
on issues related to sustainable development; strategic and corporate
planning; poverty analysis; the labour market; social protection and microcredit; governance and public financial management and accountability;
macroeconomic policies; institutions; capacity development; and resource
management.

Prof. Bhorat is professor of Economics and director of the Development
Policy Research Unit at the University of Cape Town. He has co-authored
two books and published over 150 academic journal articles, book
chapters and working papers, covering labour economics, poverty and
income distribution. He recently co-edited The Oxford Companion to the
Economics of South Africa.

Prof. Haroon Bhorat
* Resigned 25 March 2019

He is a non-resident Senior Fellow at the Brookings Institution, an IZA
Research Fellow (Institute for the Study of Labour), a member of the
World Bank’s Commission on Global Poverty and a member of the UNWHO’s High Level Commission on Health Employment and Economic
Growth. He is a member of the Board of the UNU World Institute for
Development Economics Research (UNU-WIDER) and a member of the
Editorial Advisory Board of The World Bank Economic Review.
He holds a highly prestigious National Research Chair, is an advisor on the
South African Parliament’s High-Level Panel on Acceleration of Change
and Transformation and has served as economic advisor to former South
African Ministers of Finance. He was also an economic advisor to former
Presidents Thabo Mbeki and Kgalema Motlanthe, formally serving on the
Presidential Economic Advisory Panel.*
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Ms Badsha holds an MSc from the University of Natal and is the former
chief executive officer of the Cape Higher Education Consortium. Previous
positions held include deputy director-general in the former Department of
Education (1997–2006); advisor to the Minister of Education (2006–2009);
and advisor to the Minister of Science and Technology (2009–2012). She
is a former member of the National Commission on Higher Education
and served on the Council on Higher Education and Board of the National
Student Financial Aid Scheme.

Ms Nasima Badsha
Prof. Moletsane attained her PhD at Indiana University, Bloomington, IN,
USA. She is professor and John Langalibalele Dube chairperson in Rural
Education, College of Humanities at the University of KwaZulu-Natal. She
is a member of the UMALUSI Council and of the editorial committee and
Board of the ‘Agenda Feminist Media Project’.

Prof. Relebohile Moletsane

Advocate Dehal holds a BProc, LLB and is an advocate of the High Court
of SA and a human rights and litigation lawyer who has been in practice for
over 35 years, first as an attorney and conveyancer and now as an advocate.
He has been a commissioner of the small claims court since October 1996.
He has served on several boards, councils and committees, including
the Estate Agency Affairs Board (EAAB); South African Council for Social
Services Professions (SACSSP); Africa Institute of SA (AISA); South
African Civil Aviation Authority (SACAA); Iziko Museum; National Film
and Video Foundation (NFVF); and the Appeals Board of the Medical
Schemes Council. He is an assessor for the Health Professions Council
of South Africa (HPCSA) and chairperson of several boards, committees
and sub-committees around the world.
Advocate Roshan Dehal

He obtained distinctions in several law subjects, in his BProc, LLB and
LLM degrees and has received several leading community awards of
distinction from centres in South Africa, India, UK, and Asia. He was
the youngest admitted attorney (at age 22 in 1979) and holds several
liberation struggle awards for successfully defending/prosecuting human
rights matters, especially in the apartheid days of South Africa and as a
historically disadvantaged lawyer.
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Prof. Bussin holds a BSc, HDPM, MM, MCom and DCom from Wits,
WBS and UJ.
He is chairperson of 21st Century; professor at the University of Johannesburg,
professor extraordinaire at North West University, visiting professor at
GIBS and UCT; past commissioner in the Presidency as a member of
the Independent Remuneration Commission for the Remuneration of
Public Office Bearers; chairperson and member of various boards, HR,
Remuneration and Audit committees; past president and executive
member of the South African Reward Association. He is the author of
11 books and 42 peer reviewed journal articles. He is a Fellow of the
Institute of Directors.

Prof. Mark Bussin
Prof. Soudien holds a PhD from the State University of New York at
Buffalo and is a former deputy vice-chancellor of the University of Cape
Town, where he remains an emeritus professor in Education and African
Studies. His publications in the areas of social difference, culture, education
policy, comparative education, educational change, public history and
popular culture include three books, four edited collections and over 200
articles, reviews, reports, and book chapters, including a 2017 publication
entitled Nelson Mandela: Comparative Perspectives of his Significance
for Education.

Prof. Crain A Soudien
Chief Executive Officer

He is involved in a number of local, national and international social and
cultural organisations and is chairperson of the Independent Examinations
Board, former chairperson of the District Six Museum Foundation, a former
president of the World Council of Comparative Education Societies, and
has been chair of the Ministerial Committee on Transformation in Higher
Education and chair of the Ministerial Committee to Evaluate Textbooks
for Discrimination.
He is a fellow of a number of local and international academies and
serves on the boards of a number of cultural, heritage, education and
civil society structures.
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Executive Ma na gement
To review Prof. Soudien’s full biography, refer to page 56 in the HSRC
Board Members section.

Prof. Crain A Soudien
Chief Executive Officer
Prof. Simbayi is the DCEO: Research and founding executive director of
the HAST research Programme – the largest research programme in the
HSRC, and a position which he held from its founding in July 2010 until
31 May 2016. Prof. Simbayi joined the HSRC on 1 November 2001 in
the position of research director in charge of the Behavioural and Social
Aspects of HIV/AIDS Research Unit in the then Social Aspects of HIV/
AIDS and Health (SAHA) Research Programme, as well as the regional
coordinator of SAHARA. He held this position until June 2007, after which
he served as the deputy executive director of the SAHA Programme
until June 2009. After taking on the acting executive director position in
February 2008, Prof. Simbayi was appointed as the executive director of
SAHA in July 2009, and held this position until June 2010.
Prof. Leickness Simbayi
DCEO: Research

Prof. Simbayi holds a DPhil Degree in Experimental Psychology from
the University of Sussex in England, United Kingdom. He is a registered
research psychologist with the HPCSA’s Professional Board of Psychology
and a member of ASSAf. He is currently an honorary professor in the
Department of Psychiatry and Mental Health at the University of Cape Town.
He previously taught psychology at the University of Zambia a well as
the Universities of Bophuthatswana (now North West), Port Elizabeth
(now Nelson Mandela), Fort Hare, and the Western Cape in South Africa.
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Ms Abdoll is a Charted Accountant and previously occupied the position
of Chief Audit Executive (CAE) at PetroSA SOC Ltd where she managed
an effective Internal Audit Department. Her experience and expertise
spans across the areas of corporate governance, risk management,
finance, internal and external auditing in both private and public sector.
She has and continues to serve on boards and audit committees of
various organisations.

Ms Crystal Abdoll
Group Executive:
Shared Services

Prof. Cheryl Hendricks was previously professor of Politics and International
Relations at the University of Johannesburg (UJ). Prior to taking up the
professorship at UJ, she dedicated eight years of service to the Institute
for Security Studies, where she was a Senior Research Fellow in the
Conflict Management and Peacebuilding Programme, and head of the
Southern African Human Security Programme.

Prof. Cheryl Hendricks
Executive Director: AISA

She also worked at the Institute for Justice and Reconciliation, Centre for
Conflict Resolution and spent many years teaching in the Political Studies
Department of the University of the Western Cape. Prof. Hendricks has
worked with intergovernmental organisations (e.g. AU, SADC, UN Women),
research institutes (e.g. ISS, CODESRIA, Africa Leadership Centre – Nairobi)
and civil society organisations (e.g. Club of Madrid and Africa Forum (former
heads of state), SADC Gender Protocol Alliance, Isis Wicce).
Prof. Hendricks has gathered substantive insights into conflict management,
security, gender, governance and peacebuilding, consistently delivering
extensive contributions to society by way of her institutional and academic
citizenship and professional associations. Her widely published works and
presentations include constructive views on Peace and Security in Africa,
Women Peace and Security, Security Sector Reform and Governance,
Regional Security Architectures, South African Engagement in Post-Conflict
Development and on Decolonisation of Knowledge.
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Prof. Swartz is an adjunct associate professor of Sociology at the University
of Cape Town and also has a growing association with the Philosophy
Department at the University of Fort Hare. Her research focuses on ‘navigational
capacities’ for the just inclusion of young people in a transforming society
and in the Global South, alongside the role of progressive moral education
and dialogue to bring about social change. Prof. Swartz writes extensively
about decolonising and emancipatory practices in education and research.

Prof. Sharlene Swartz
Executive Director: ESD

Prof. Swartz holds undergraduate degrees from the University of the
Witwatersrand and the University of Zululand, as well as an MEd from
Harvard University in the USA and a PhD from the University of Cambridge
in the United Kingdom (UK). In the UK, she participated in a Department for
International Development project investigating the role of education on
alleviating poverty. She was also a researcher on a national review of primary
school education. Her PhD thesis, in the sociology of education, considered
how young people who live in poverty, understand, represent and enact
morality. Before embarking on her graduate studies, she spent 12 years at a
youth NGO where she pioneered peer-led social justice and life skills education
programmes. She joined the HSRC in 2008 as a Post-Doctoral Fellow.
Prof. Bohler-Muller is the executive director: DGSD and an adjunct professor
at the University of Fort Hare. She is an admitted advocate of the High
Court of South Africa, and is leading the Blue Economy Core Group of
the Indian Ocean Rim Association.
Her research interests include international and constitutional law, human
rights, democracy, governance and social justice. Her largest project
with the Department of Justice and Constitutional Development, the
Constitutional Justice Project, has been positively received. In 2016 she
was shortlisted for the position of Public Protector.

Prof. Narnia Bohler-Muller
Executive Director: DGSD
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Prof. Turok is the executive director: EPD, as well as the editor-in-chief
of the journal, Regional Studies, and chairman of the City Planning
Commission for Durban. He is an honorary professor at the universities of
Cape Town and Glasgow, and has a PhD in Economics, MSc in Planning
and BSc in Geography.
Prof. Turok has 30 years’ teaching experience in urban and regional
economics, policy analysis and evaluation, local labour markets, economic
development, urban regeneration and spatial planning. He has supervised
12 PhDs and many master’s student to successful completion.

Prof. Ivan Turok
Executive Director: EPD
Prof. Zuma serves as the executive director: HAST and acting executive
director: PHHSI from October 2018 to March 2019. He holds a PhD in
Statistics from the University of Waikato, New Zealand, and an MSc in
Biostatistics from Hasselt University (formerly Limburgs Universitaire
Centrum) in Belgium. He has over ten years’ experience as a statistician
and has been involved in large-scale surveys and clinical trials, focusing
on the conceptualisation, design and implementation of these studies.

Prof. Khangelani Zuma
Executive Director: HAST
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Prof. Van Rooyen is the executive director: HSD and is a social scientist with
a PhD in Psychology from UKZN. For the past 23 years, she has worked in
the HIV field in various capacities, from counselling and training, to clinical
and academic supervision, mentoring, research and policy development.

Prof. Heidi van Rooyen
Executive Director: HSD
Dr Masilela has been the executive director: RIA since January 2016. The
sub-sections under RIA, namely science communication, HSRC Press, and
communication and stakeholder engagement, also fall under his leadership.
He previously served a five-year stint as the DCEO: Research in the HSRC
and was responsible for research strategy, research management and the
knowledge-policy interfaces. Dr Masilela holds PhD and MA Degrees in
Communication for Development from the University of Iowa, USA, and a
BA Degree in Economics and Politics from the University of Nairobi, Kenya.

Dr Temba Masilela
Executive Director: RIA
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Gover na nce R epor t
Introduction
The Human Sciences Research Council (HSRC) is
a Schedule 3A national public entity in terms of the
Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999)
(PFMA). The Minister of Science and Technology
is the Executive Authority, and the HSRC Board,
appointed by the Minister of Science and Technology,
is the Accounting Authority.

Portfolio Committees
HSRC delegations made two presentations to the
Portfolio Committee on Science and Technology
during the year under review:
• 18 April 2018: Presentation of the HSRC Annual
Performance Plan for 2018/19; and
• 11 October 2018: Presentation of the HSRC
Integrated Annual Report for 2017/18.
The Standing Committee on Appropriations invited
the HSRC to:
• Comment on the 2018 Appropriation Bill on 11 May
2018. The HSRC delegation provided an overview
of pertinent issues pertaining to the budget
votes on Economy; Cooperative Governance
and Traditional Affairs; Basic Education and
Higher Education and Training; Health; Science
and Technology; and Rural Development and
Land Reform; and
• Provide a briefing on the Medium-Term Budget
Policy Statement for 2018, on 7 November 2018.
The briefing highlighted a number of pertinent
socio-economic issues on accelerated economic
growth, infrastructure investment, education and
skills, health, government and public service and
green research and development.
The Committee Chairperson commented that the
HSRC was a valued partner to the Committee and
that its inputs would form an important part of the
Committee’s oversight over the budget allocation
and the departments’ service delivery performance.

Executive Authority
As required by the PFMA and associated Treasury
Regulations, the HSRC submitted the following reports
to the Executive Authority during the year under review:
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• Quarterly performance reports on progress made
in the implementation of the Annual Performance
Plan on 20 July 2018, 22 October 2018, 21 January
2019 and 23 April 2019:
-- A report on actual revenue and expenditure up
to the end of the quarter as well as a projection
of expected revenue and expenditure for the
remainder of the financial year;
-- A PFMA Compliance Report;
-- A PPPFA Compliance Report;
-- A Risk Management Report; and
-- A detailed Key Performance Indicator (KPI)
Report.
• The Integrated Annual Report (15 August 2018).

The Board (Accounting Authority)
The Role of the Board
The primary purpose and role of the HSRC Board are to
provide effective corporate governance and oversight
over the performance of the HSRC management. The
Board is accountable to the Minister of Science and
Technology (the Minister) and Parliament in respect
of its functions and responsibilities.
Responsibilities and Duties of the Board
Corporate Governance
The Board’s corporate governance functions are:
• To ensure that the HSRC’s activities, performance
and values are in line with the statutory objects
and functions as specified in sections 3 and 4
of the Act;
• To determine, monitor and evaluate the
implementation of the HSRC’s Strategic and
Business plans in conjunction with the CEO, and
to conclude a shareholder’s agreement with the
Executive Authority (the Minister) setting out
mutual rights and obligations;
• To exercise fiduciary oversight over the assets of
the HSRC by ensuring that the HSRC’s financial
records are regularly audited in accordance with
best corporate practice; that management of
the assets complies with the PFMA; and that
there are adequate risk management measures,
procedures and practices in place to protect the
HSRC’s assets and reputation;

• To ensure that HSRC practices comply with
legislation relating to transformation, labour
relations and occupational safety;
• To ensure that the HSRC complies with all other
relevant laws, regulations and codes of best
business practice; and
• To exercise leadership, enterprise, integrity and
judgment in directing the affairs of the HSRC.
Responsibilities
The responsibilities of the Board are:
• To appoint the chief executive officer (CEO) of
the HSRC in accordance with the procedures
laid down in section 10 of the Act;
• To monitor the performance and effectiveness
of the HSRC, the CEO and the other employees
of the HSRC on the basis of predetermined
performance indicators laid down by the Board,
and to receive periodic reports from the CEO
on the functioning and operations of the HSRC;
• To serve as the ultimate employer of all HSRC
employees. In this role the Board approves the
general terms and conditions of employment, as
well as structures for remuneration, allowances,
subsidies and other benefits in accordance
with such system as may be approved by the
Minister with the concurrence of the Minister
of Finance;
• To approve acquisition and alienation of HSRC
assets in accordance with the Act, and to
regulate the commercialisation of the HSRC’s
inventions; and
• To establish policies and guidelines for the
functioning of the HSRC.

Board Charter
The Board operates in terms of an approved Charter.
The Charter sets out the terms of reference for the:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Appointment of the Board;
Responsibilities and duties of the Board;
Board authority;
Composition of the Board;
Meetings of the Board; and
Appointment of the chief executive officer.

It also allows for an annual Board self-evaluation,
which assists the Board in, inter alia, reflecting
on its compliance with the Charter. The Charter is
reviewed annually.
Composition of the Board
The Board is appointed by the Minister of Science
and Technology and consists of
• A chairperson designated by the Minister;
• Not less than six and not more than nine other
members; and
• The CEO, who is a member of the Board by
virtue of his or her office.
The composition of the Board must be broadly
representative of:
• The demographics of the Republic; and
• The various sectors in the field of the human
sciences.
At least one of the members appointed to the
Board has financial expertise and at least one other
member appointed to the Board is a distinguished
representative of the social sciences research
community in the rest of Africa.
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Date
appointed

1 November
2017

1 September
2015

Name

Prof. Mvuyo Tom
(Chairperson)

Prof. Crain Soudien
(CEO)

Board memberships
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PhD (Social Foundations) 1. National Advisory
Council on Innovation
(NACI)
2. Academy of Science of
South Africa (ASSAf)
3. Independent
Examinations Board
(IEB)
4. University of the
Western Cape
Humanities Research
Advisory Board
5. Cape Town University
of Technology Centre
for International
Teacher Education
Advisory Board
6. SHAWCO
7. Krakadouw Trust

1. Council for Higher
Education
2. DG Murray Trust
Master of Science
3. Tekano Health Equity
in Public Policy and
South Africa
Management (Sociology) 4. Atlantic Institute
5. Masibumbane
Master of Family
Development
Medicine
Organisation
6. Oliver and Adelaide
Tambo Foundation
7. Nelson Mandela
Institute for Rural
Education and
Development

MB ChB (Bachelor of
Medicine and Surgery)

Qualifications

HSRC Board Members 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

1. Department of
Agriculture, Fisheries
and Forestry’s
Education Committee
2. University of Cape
Town Children’s
Institute Management
Committee
3. International Advisory
Committee of the
China-Africa Institute
4. District Six Museum
Foundation

1. Three-way university
partnership for
leadership programme
in health
2. Ministerial Task Team
on Strategy for Human
Resources for Health

Other committees and
task teams

The following members served on the HSRC Board during the 2018/19 financial year:









29 Aug
2018





22 Nov
2018





28 Feb
2019

Ordinary Board meetings attended
30 May
2018





4 Mar
2019

Special
Board
meetings
attended
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1 November
2017

Prof. Mark Bussin

1 November
2017

Prof. Haroon Bhorat* 1 November
2017

Ms Nasima Badsha

Name

Date
appointed

Doctor of Commerce

PhD (Economics)

MSc (Medical Sciences)

Qualifications

1. 21st Century
2. Gijima Ltd.
3. FASSET

1. United Nations
University World
Institute for
Development
Economics Research
2. Partnership for
Economic Policy
3. National Research
Foundation (NRF)

1. WITS University
2. Claude Leon
Foundation
3. Sol Plaatje Educational
Project
4. The Learning Trust
5. Centre for Higher
Education Trust (CHET)
6. AIMS Trust

Board memberships

1. Human Resources
and/or Remuneration
Committees:
• Auditor-General of
South Africa
• Gijima Ltd.
• South African
Football Association
(SAFA)
• SAFA Development
Agency
2. Gijima Ltd Nominations
Committee

1. NRF Audit and Risk
Committee

1. WITS Audit Committee
2. WITS Senior
Appointments
Selection Committee

Other committees and
task teams





x







29 Aug
2018



x



22 Nov
2018

x



x

x

x



4 Mar
2019

28 Feb
2019

Ordinary Board meetings attended
30 May
2018

Special
Board
meetings
attended

1 November
2017

1 November
2017

Dr Abdalla Hamdok

Date
appointed

Adv. Roshan Dehal

Name
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PhD (Economics)

LLB

Qualifications
1. International Satuwa
Baba Ashram Trust
2. South African Council
for the Project
and Construction
Management
Professions
(SACPCMP) Board
3. International African
Men for Sexual Health
and Rights (AMSHeR)
Board
4. Msunduzi Museum
Council

Board memberships

1. High Level Advisory
Group for the Ethiopian
Prime Minister
2. AU High Level Panel
on Sudan
3. Advisory Council, Mo
Ibrahim Foundation
4. Technical Committee
of the High Level Panel
(HLP) on Illicit Financial
Flows from Africa
5. OECD Expert Group on
Development Finance
6. International Advisory
Board, Afrobarometer
7. International IDEA
Advisory Group on the
Middle East

1. Audit and Risk
Committees:
• Department
of Cooperative
Governance
• Municipal
Infrastructure
Support Agency
• Department of
Traditional Affairs
• Ministry of Economic
Development,
Tourism &
Environmental
Affairs-KZN MEC
Appeals Panel
2. SAGPCMP Chairperson
– Disciplinary and Code
of Conduct Committee

Other committees and
task teams

29 Aug
2018




30 May
2018
x

x

x

x

22 Nov
2018



x

28 Feb
2019

Ordinary Board meetings attended

x

x

4 Mar
2019

Special
Board
meetings
attended
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1 November
2017

1 November
2017

Name

Prof. Relebohile
Moletsane

Ms Precious Sibiya

PhD (Occupational
Health Nursing)

CA(SA)

PhD (Major: Curriculum
Studies; Cognate:
Teacher Education)

Qualifications

* Member resigned effective 25 March 2019

Prof. Lindiwe Zungu 1 November
2017

Date
appointed

1. Unisa
2. SA Medical Research
Council
3. Texila American
University

1. AWCA Investment
Holdings
2. Reef Tankers
3. Ithala Development
Finance Corporation
4. Sentech SOC Limited
5. Cape Town University
of Technology (CPUT)

1. Agenda Feminist
Movement
2. International Journal of
School Disaffection

Board memberships

1. Audit Committees:
• Ithala Development
Finance Corporation
• Sentech SOC
Limited
• Financial Intelligence
Centre
• NEMISA
• Parliament of South
Africa
• Gauteng Provincial
Government

Other committees and
task teams

x











29 Aug
2018



x



x

x



28 Feb
2019

22 Nov
2018

Ordinary Board meetings attended
30 May
2018



x

x

4 Mar
2019

Special
Board
meetings
attended
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Board Sub-Committees

• Giving a mandate to the management team in order
to conclude annual wage negotiations with the
union in respect of staff below director level; and
• Determining any criteria necessary to measure
performance of executive directors in discharging
their function and responsibilities.

The HSRC has constituted the following subcommittees to assist in its various oversight
responsibilities:
The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)

The Research Committee

The ARC assists the Board in exercising fiduciary
oversight over the assets of the HSRC. This
committee is constituted in terms of section
51 (1)(a)(ii) of the PFMA.

The Research Committee contributes to the
development of the overall research portfolio and
approach of the HSRC, by working with management
and staff to strengthen the research programme
and supporting the CEO in terms of the HSRC’s
re-orientating of its strategic direction.

The ARC’s responsibilities includes oversight
of integrated reporting, combined assurance,
financial information, internal and external audit, risk
management and legal and regulatory compliance.

The Committee’s role in setting the research agenda
includes, but is not limited to:

The Human Resources and Remuneration
Committee

• Identifying research gaps in the HSRC (e.g.
humanities-centred research);
• Capacity building;
• Africa research agenda;
• Research-policy nexus; and
• The relevance of the organisation’s research
focus areas.

The aim of the Human Resources and Remuneration
Committee is to assist the HSRC Board in fulfilling
its corporate governance responsibilities. In
particular:
• Determining, agreeing and developing the
HSRC’s general policy on executive and senior
management remuneration;
• Determining specific remuneration packages for
the executive of the HSRC;
• Determining and negotiating annual wage
increases of senior management (CEO, EDs,
DEDs, Directors);

The Committee should also assist with strategies
to improve journal article publications and research
quality.

Sub-Committee Attendance: 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019
Committee

No. of meetings held

No. of members

Names of members

Audit and Risk Committee

4

6

Ms Precious Sibiya
Prof. Haroon Bhorat*
Prof. Mark Bussin
Mr Cedric Boltman
Mr Peter Grant
Mr Leon Moser

Human Resources and
Remuneration Committee

3

4

Prof. Mark Bussin
Ms Nasima Badsha**
Prof. Mvuyo Tom
Prof. Lindiwe Zungu

Research Committee

2

5

Prof. Relebohile Moletsane
Ms Nasima Badsha***
Prof. Haroon Bhorat*
Dr Abdalla Hamdok
Prof. Crain Soudien

*
Member resigned effective 25 March 2019
** Member until November 2018
*** Member since November 2018
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Board Orientation and Induction
No new Board members were appointed during
the financial year.
Board Evaluation
In keeping with the recommendations of the King
Code on Corporate Governance, the HSRC Board
conducts an annual self-evaluation to assess its
performance. The self-evaluation was done by means
of an agreed-upon questionnaire, assessing the
following main areas through a series of questions:
• Board Structure:
-- Board composition;
-- Board meetings and content;
-- The role of the CEO;
-- The role of the Council Secretary;
-- Board accountability;
-- Performance evaluation; and
-- Board committees.
• Interaction:
-- Communication and stakeholder relations; and
-- Board dynamics and leadership.
• Board focus and function:
-- Strategic compliance and performance;
-- Risk management and internal controls;
-- ICT governance;
-- Combined assurance;
-- Non-financial sustainability;
-- Integrated reporting;
-- Balance of power and authority; and
-- Ethics.
Members of the Board unanimously agreed that the
Board was effective in the discharge of its duties.
Remuneration of Board Members
Members of the HSRC Board are remunerated for
attendance of meetings of the Board, meetings
called by the Minister of Science and Technology
and any other HSRC committees that they may be
required to attend.
Remuneration of HSRC Board members is mandated
by section 6 of the HSRC Act (Act No.17 of 2008),
and implemented in accordance with Treasury

Regulation 20.2.2. Applicable rates are determined
by the Minister of Finance and regulated by the
National Treasury. The National Treasury amends
these tariffs annually by means of a circular.
According to the Act, all Board members who are
not in the full-time employ of the State must be
paid such allowances as the Minister of Finance
determines. No current HSRC Board members
are employed full-time by the State and all Board
members are therefore remunerated in accordance
with the above-mentioned provisions.
In addition to remuneration, Board members
are also compensated for travel/transport and
accommodation expenses.
Board remuneration for the year under review is
set out as part of the notes to the Annual Financial
Statements on pages 128 to 129.

Internal Audit and Audit Committees
The role of Internal Audit Activity (IAA) is to
determine whether the organisation’s network of
risk management, internal control, and governance
processes, as designed and implemented by
management, is adequate and effective to ensure that:
• Risks are appropriately identified and managed;
• Significant financial, managerial and operational
information is reliable, accurate and timely;
• Resources are acquired economically, used
effectively, and adequately protected; and
• The organisation’s objectives, goals, programmes
and plans are achieved.
Opportunities for improving controls, governance
processes, risk management processes, service
delivery and the HSRC’s image may be identified
during the audits.
The IAA at the HSRC is outsourced. The Internal
Audit Service Provider annually prepares a threeyear rolling and annual audit coverage plan for
approval by the ARC. The plan is risk‑based and
the scope of each audit is determined and agreed
upon prior to each audit.
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The following audits were completed during the
year under review:
• Audit of predetermined objectives, Quarters 1,
2, 3 and 4;
• IT vulnerability assessment;
• Governance review;
• Human resources;
• Supply chain management;
• Finance review; and
• Occupational Health and Safety follow up.

The Board has established an Audit and Risk
Committee in terms of section 8 of the HSRC Act,
to assist it in exercising fiduciary oversight over the
assets of the HSRC. This committee is constituted
in terms of section 51 (1)(a)(ii) of the PFMA and
complies with and operates in accordance with
regulations and instructions prescribed in terms of
sections 51, 76 and 77 of the Act and the relevant
National Treasury Regulations. The Committee is
accountable to the Board.

Audit and Risk Committee Membership and Meeting Attendance 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019
Meeting attendance
External/
Qualifications Internal

Date
appointed

Date
22 May
terminated
2018

Ms Precious
Sibiya

CA(SA)

15 Dec 2017

Current

Prof. Haroon
Bhorat*

PhD
(Economics)

External

15 Dec 2017

Prof. Mark
Bussin

Doctor of
Commerce

External

Mr Cedric
Boltman

MBA

External

Mr Peter
Grant

Accounting

Mr Leon
Moser

CA(SA)

Name

External

25 Jul
2018

30 Oct
2018

6 Feb
2019









25 March
2019

x





x

15 Dec 2017

Current

x

x





10 Jan 2018

Current



x





10 Jan 2018

Current







x

10 Jan 2018

Current









Board
member
Board
member
Board
member
Independent
Specialist
External
Independent
Specialist
External
Independent
Specialist

* Member resigned effective 25 March 2019

70 / HSRC INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

Compliance with Laws and
Regulations
A compliance office was established in the Legal
Department in January 2019 and is responsible
for drafting the compliance policy, charter and
regulatory universe. In addition the compliance
office is responsible for assessing, monitoring
and reporting organisational compliance to senior
management and the Board.
The HSRC has adopted a proactive, risk-based
approach to compliance. This allows the HSRC to
mitigate its risks, and protect the organisation and
its stakeholders.
The following initiatives will be implemented in the
upcoming year:
• Compliance Policy and Charter;
• Compilation of a regulatory universe for each
business unit; and
• A Compliance Risk Management Plan for core
legislation that impacts the organisation and
individual units.

Our Risk Management Framework
In order to deliver on its objectives, the HSRC is
required to identify, assess and manage a wide
range of risks. These are managed through an
overarching framework in order to consistently and
transparently apply risk management strategies
across the organisation. The framework identifies
the roles and responsibilities of key parties in the
risk management process, the policies for how risks
are managed, the tools and processes used and
the reporting outputs that are generated.
The approach to risk management is based on the
underlying principle of line management accountability
for effective implementation of internal controls to
manage risk. The strategic risks, with their response
plans, are reviewed at the Executive Directors
Committee, Risk Management Committee and the
Audit and Risk Committee to provide assurance of
the effectiveness of risk management.
There is an ongoing process of identifying, evaluating
and managing the strategic and operational risks
faced by the HSRC.

Fraud and Corruption

Our Control Framework

Risk Management Governance

The HSRC has an internal control framework in place
for both financial reporting and IT processes, which
falls under our self-assessment regime. In addition,
the HSRC has implemented a suite of policies, which
define the minimum control standards we expect to
be performed within the applicable business areas.

The Board is accountable for risk management and
reviewing the effectiveness of mitigating strategies
to reduce, eliminate and/or transfer risks. The Board
has delegated oversight responsibilities to the
Audit and Risk Committee (ARC), which provides
assurance to the Board through review of reports
from the Enterprise Risk Management Unit on a
quarterly basis. Responsibility for implementation
of enterprise risk management has been delegated
to the chief executive officer. A Risk Management
Committee has been established and is chaired
by an independent specialist who also serves as a
specialist member of the ARC.
Management of Risk
The HSRC defines a risk as anything that adversely
affects our ability to meet strategic and business
objectives, maintain our reputation and comply
with regulatory standards. We seek to understand
and harness risk in the pursuit of our objectives
and aim to operate within an acceptable level of
risk taking.

Code of Conduct
The HSRC developed a code of research ethics which
was approved by its governing body in 2002. The
code outlines principles and values underpinning
HSRC research. Its preamble confirms that the HSRC
is committed to using the public funds allocated to it
to undertake and promote research that will benefit
all the people of South Africa. It also confirms that
its research belongs in the public domain and as
such should be able to withstand public scrutiny
at all times. The HSRC code of ethics importantly
highlights the interest of research participants, and
the imperative of respecting the rights and dignity of
participants in all research undertaken by the HSRC.
For more information, see http://www.hsrc.ac.za/
en/about/research-ethics/code-of-research-ethics
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Health, Safety and Environmental
Issues

prevent or reduce the risk of harm occurring. These
included:

Health and Safety

• The development of systems and procedures in
risk assessments relating to slips, trips and falls,
the highest root cause of workplace incidents;
• Monthly OHS assessments and audits;
• Regional office health and safety inspections
and monitoring;
• Audit follow-up activities to confirm that corrective
actions were implemented to address risks
identified during audits and inspections; and
• National OHS awareness sessions.

The HSRC takes responsibility for promoting,
implementing and encouraging high standards of
health and safety in the workplace. Health and safety
principles and practices are considered paramount
in all planning, procurement, monitoring and
decision-making processes. Policies and procedures
are in place to ensure a safe and secure working
environment, including:
• The safeguarding of access to all premises;
• The provision of safe and appropriate equipment
and systems of work that limit and/or eliminate
exposure to risks; and
• The provision of information, instructions, training
and supervision where necessary.
During the year under review, the Occupational,
Health and Safety (OHS) team developed and
embedded proactive systems designed to raise
awareness and, as far as is reasonably practicable,

Incidents
Incidents were recorded, investigated and where
appropriate, corrective measures were implemented
to prevent reoccurrence. The number of recorded
incidents are set out in Figure 18.
Slips, trips and falls remain the highest cause of
incidents at the HSRC. Awareness sessions have
been rolled out throughout the organisation to
mitigate reoccurrence.

4.5
4
3.5
3
2.5
2
1.5
1
0.5
0
Pretoria

Durban
Slip, trips and falls

Sweetwater
Occupational disease

Figure 18: Safety incidents recorded – 2018/19
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Cape Town
Environmental

Environment

Research Ethics and Integrity

The HSRC has embarked on a number of Go-green
initiatives to reduce the impact of the organisation and
its people on the environment. Electricity consumption
is closely monitored to evaluate the effectiveness of
these Go-green initiatives. Initiatives include:

The HSRC is committed to undertaking high-quality
research. It has systems and structures in place
to promote responsible research, and integrates
principles of research ethics and research integrity into
the way research is planned, reviewed, conducted,
and communicated.

• The use of energy efficient globes for lighting
in offices, the library and undercover parking
facilities to reduce electricity consumption;
• Replacement of the electrical motors in the chiller
plant rooms with more reliable, energy efficient
motors to reduce electricity consumption;
• The installation of an E-boil system at the HSRC
Pretoria Office, which has provided additional
savings due to reduced electricity usage compared
to conventional kitchen kettles;
• The use of Small Medium and Micro Enterprises
(SMMEs) to collect and recycle office waste to
contribute to a healthier working environment for
HSRC staff and tenants, and reduce greenhouse
gas emissions; and
• Fitment of all taps in the Cape Town office with
sprayers and replacement of old taps in bathrooms
and kitchens in the Pretoria building with push
taps, to preserve and conserve water resources.

Library lights with energy efficient globes

Board Secretary
The HSRC Board is assisted by a board secretary
who provides secretariat and administrative support
to the Board and its subcommittees.
The role and function of the board secretary
include acting as liaison between the Board and
the organisation, providing comprehensive support
and guidance to the Board, compiling and filtering
Board documents, ensuring compliance with
appropriate standards of ethics and good governance
and performing project management assignments
relevant to the activities of the various committees.

Research Ethics Committee
The HSRC functions in accordance with a code
of research ethics approved by its Board. The
establishment of the Research Ethics Committee
(REC) was approved by the HSRC Council (now
known as the HSRC Board) in 2002. The HSRC
REC was constituted in 2003 and is the only
internal institutional ethics review committee of
the HSRC. International equivalent titles of the
REC are ‘Institutional Review Board’ (IRB) or
‘Independent Ethics Committee’. The REC aims to
promote respect for human rights in research, as
well as ethical values and research integrity within
the HSRC. To this end, it reviews and monitors
research proposals and practices in the HSRC
from an ethical perspective, and reports annually
to the HSRC Board.
The REC is registered with the National Health
Research Ethics Council (NHREC) of the Department
of Health. The NHREC audited all registered
RECs during 2018/19. The outcome of the audit
was positive, with a few matters highlighted for
attention to retain its Level 1 registration with
the NHREC (registration number REC-290808015-RA). These matters, mostly relating to a
need to update policy and procedure documents,
were referred to the Office of the Deputy CEO:
Research and have been attended to during the
reporting period. In February 2019, the fifth formal
annual report of the HSRC REC was submitted
to the NHREC, covering the 2018 calendar year.
In terms of international recognition, the HSRC
REC has a current Federal-wide Assurance (FWA)
registration (registration number FWA 00006347)
of the United States Office for Human Research
Protections (OHRP). This registration confirms that
the HSRC REC complies with the regulations of
the US-based Department of Health and Human
Services (DHHS) regarding the protection of
human participants in research. The HSRC REC
requires this registration for the review of studies
supported by US federal funds, e.g. through the
National Institutes of Health (NIH).
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The mandate of the HSRC REC is to review all
HSRC research proposals for compliance with
national research ethics guidelines (NHREC, 2015).
Data collection may not commence until full ethics
approval has been granted. The REC may grant
exemption from ethics review for research meeting
certain criteria, for example, systematic reviews and
secondary analysis of data that are freely available
in the public domain.
The REC may recognise the authority of other
registered RECs at other institutions to avoid
duplication of review(s). The HSRC REC also reviews
external proposals submitted by researchers not
employed by or contracted to the HSRC if they do
not have access to the services of a more suitable
or eligible REC in South Africa. The latter is done
under specific conditions, including payment of a
predetermined administrative fee.

The external members of the REC, during 2018/19
were:
Up to 31 October 2018:
• Prof. Douglas Wassenaar – University of KwaZuluNatal (UKZN), REC Chairperson;
• Prof. Anne Pope – University of Cape Town
(UCT), Deputy Chairperson;
• Prof. Peter Cleaton-Jones – Steve Biko Centre for
Bioethics, University of the Witwatersrand; and
• Prof. Jerome Singh – UKZN and University of Toronto.
From 1 November 2018:
•
•
•
•

Dr Munira Khan – UKZN;
Dr Bongile Mabilane – Anova Health Institute;
Prof. Shenuka Singh – UKZN; and
Prof. Peter Nyasulu – Stellenbosch University.

For the entire reporting period:

The HSRC REC is constituted and conducts its
work in accordance with formal Terms of Reference
(TOR) and Standard Operating Procedures (SOP)
that reflect requirements set by the NHREC as
well as international oversight bodies. Its members
are drawn from within and outside the HSRC.
External members are selected for their expertise
in required areas of work, in accordance with the
categories of membership required for FWA and
NHREC compliance. Internal members are identified
by executive directors of research programmes,
to ensure that the committee has the capacity
to review proposals across the areas of research
specialisations in the HSRC.

• Prof. Warren Freedman – UKZN;
• Prof. Theresa Rossouw – Faculty of Health
Sciences, University of Pretoria, REC Chairperson
since 1 November 2018;
• Prof. Anne Strode – UKZN; and
• Ms Nothemba Vusani – Community Representative
Member.

During 2018/19, external membership of the HSRC
REC changed, due to the terms of office of some
long-serving members expiring. An open call for
applications led to the appointment of four new
external members, with four external members
who were eligible and willing to serve for another
term, re-appointed.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Up until 31 October 2018, the chairperson of the
REC was Prof. Douglas Wassenaar of the University
of KwaZulu-Natal, an independent external expert.
He was supported by two deputy chairs — one
(Prof. Anne Pope of the University of Cape Town)
also external, and the other (Dr Mokhantšo Makoae)
internal to the HSRC. As of 1 November 2018, the
new external chairperson is Prof. Theresa Rossouw
of the University of Pretoria. Dr Makoae is still
serving as internal deputy chairperson, while a
new deputy chair will be appointed from serving
external members early in 2019/20.

In compliance with national guidelines (2015), ethics
approval is only given for a one-year period – annual
ethics approval must be applied for in relation to all
ongoing projects, failing which, the ethics approval
lapses. Approval letters explicitly inform all applicants
of this requirement. The REC has a system in place
to deal with complaints and adverse events, and the
HSRC has a unique toll-free hotline for participants
and other parties to register any ethical concerns
about HSRC REC-approved research projects.
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The REC provides oversight of the needs and
concerns of potential participants and beneficiaries
of research. REC members are trained to review
research proposals to ensure that national and
international ethical standards and guidelines
are adhered to. The REC inter alia reviews each
application with regard to the adequacy of:
Proposed community engagement plans;
Potential social value;
The validity of the scientific design;
Fair selection of participants;
Favourable risk/benefit ratio;
Informed consent plans and processes;
Plans to respect participants’ rights and interests
during and after the proposed study; and
• Proposed data management plans.

Between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019, the REC
met 10 times via video- and tele-conference, as
scheduled. A total of 110 new applications were
considered, of which 60 were internal to the HSRC
and 50 were external. There were no applications
submitted that made request for exemption. There
were 25 requests for amendments, extensions, and
additions to approved studies. Such requests are
mainly triggered by a change or extension in the
scope of work and coverage area. There were 17
applications for renewal of protocols. The rate of
annual ethics renewal remains low and the HSRC
and the REC will continue to address this factor in
the coming year.
Members of the REC and HSRC researchers
are encouraged to participate in relevant training
opportunities to ensure basic awareness and
continuous professional development in the field
of research ethics. All members of the REC have
submitted certificates of successful completion
of required modules of the on-line Training and
Resources in Research Ethics Evaluation3 (TRREE)
Programme. Applications for ethics review must
be accompanied by proof of successful completion
(by at least the principal investigator) of the South
African module of the TRREE Programme. Apart
from the above-mentioned TRREE training, a formal
induction workshop was offered to REC members
on 12 February 2019.
A two-day interactive workshop entitled “Responsible
and ethical conduct of research – from research
policy to good practice” took place at SPU on 4 and
5 February 2019. The REC administrator and internal
deputy chairperson, as well as one of the two HSRC
Research Integrity Officers (RIOs) incumbent at the
time presented and facilitated discussions involving
senior management and academic staff at SPU.
One of the outcomes of the workshop was that the
HSRC REC will provide support to SPU in terms of
protocol reviews as well as capacity development
in the area of REC administration.
Research Integrity
The HSRC remains committed to improving and
implementing research ethics and research integrity
policies and procedures. The HSRC Board approved
a formal policy on research integrity in 2011. The
approved HSRC policy is complemented by a
“Statement on dealing with allegations of research
misconduct under United States Public Health

3

Service (USPHS) research-related activities for
foreign institutions”. Two persons, Dr Christa van
Zyl and Dr Njeri Wabiri, were appointed to serve
as HSRC RIOs, during the reporting period. They
work closely with the deputy CEO of Research and
the chairperson of the HSRC REC, and benefit from
collaboration with research programmes and various
support units in the HSRC. The term of appointment
of Dr Van Zyl came to an end on 31 March 2019,
and she was replaced by Ms Khutšo Sithole in the
new financial year to work with Dr Wabiri, whose
appointment remains in place.
The following responsibilities are entrusted to the
RIOs of the HSRC:
• Promoting the responsible conduct of research
through awareness raising and capacity building
activities, in collaboration with relevant resource
persons, as well as research and support units
in the HSRC;
• Ensuring that there are procedures and systems
in place to receive, appropriately assess, and
correctly refer allegations of research misconduct;
• Taking responsibility for record-keeping and
reporting of possible cases of research misconduct,
as may be required by the HSRC, as well as local
and international funders, including the USA
Department of Health and Human Services; and
• Ensuring that confidential information made
available to the RIO is treated with discretion
and in accordance with principles outlined in
the policy on research integrity.
In terms of compliance requirements, the HSRC
met all the requirements as set by the Office of
Research Integrity (ORI) in the United States of
America, for research funded by their Department
of Health and Human Services (DHHS), and an
annual report covering the 2017 calendar year,
dealing with research funded by the DHHS was
submitted in April 2018. During the year under
review, one allegation of potential misconduct
by an HSRC staff member was received. This
particular case did not involve funding from the
US DHHS. After due investigation, the matter was
referred to the executive director of the research
programme concerned. Other enquiries dealing
with issues falling outside the jurisdiction of the
HSRC and its RIOs were also received, and advice
offered. Training and awareness raising to promote
responsible conduct of research continued. Apart
from the workshop held at SPU in February 2019,

Training and Resources in Research Ethics Evaluation (TRREE): an online training programme on the ethics and regulation of
health research involving human participants (http://elearning.trree.org)
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two HSRC-specific workshops dealing with aspects
of research integrity were hosted in collaboration
with experts from within the HSRC:
• On 26 April 2018, a workshop on responsible
recognition of authorship; and
• On 7 December 2018, a workshop on responsible
authorship, plagiarism, permissions and intellectual
property.

CSI and Stakeholder Relations
A core working principle of the HSRC, while
maintaining its independent identity, is to engender
and build collaborations with relevant groupings
including government, higher education institutions,
donors, non-governmental organisations, the media
and advocacy groups.
Key regional, national and international partners have
been identified as critical to enhance the profile of
the HSRC and support the priorities of its research
programmes. Strong links have been developed
with the DST, NRF and other Science Councils to
enable collaborative work and support key events
and priorities of the respective institutions.
In terms of internationalising the work of the HSRC,
strong links have been developed with international
embassies based in South Africa, international
universities and research institutions. In addition,
MoUs have been established with institutions in
Africa to expand the HSRC’s regional footprint.
Nationally:
• SARIMA (29 May–1 June 2018) Johannesburg,
South Africa; and
• DST Science Forum (5–7 December 2018) CSIR,
Pretoria.
Regionally:
• The 15th General Assembly: Africa and the Crisis
of Globalisation (17–21 December 2018) Dakar,
Senegal; and
• Mzumbe University.
Internationally:
• International AIDS Conference (23–27 July 2018)
Amsterdam, Netherlands;
• BRICS Centre with Brics and African Development;
and
• WSSF 2018 (25–28 September 2018) Fukuoka,
Japan.
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22nd International AIDS Conference,
Amsterdam, the Netherlands, 23–27 July 2018
The HSRC facilitated and coordinated a Satellite
Session at the International AIDS Conference
(IAS) Conference in July 2018. Highlights of the
Fifth South African Behaviour Sero-Surveillance
and Media Survey (SABSSM V), were presented
by Dr Sizulu Moyo, Prof. Leickness Simbayi and
Ms Cheryl Dietrich. International stakeholders
pledged their support to the HSRC for the
continued work of monitoring the HIV epidemic.
The Health MECs from South Africa who were
present at the launch requested that the HSRC
undertake a road show visiting all the provinces
to speak about the results and to explore how
this information can assist them in drawing up
plans for their provinces.
BRICS and African Development
The HSRC, Nelson Mandela University and
the Department of International Relations and
Cooperation co-hosted an official BRICS Conference
for South Africa’s BRICS Presidency of 2018 from
23–24 August in Port Elizabeth. The conference,
titled ‘BRICS & African Development’, took place
at the Nelson Mandela University Business School
and focussed on the important role of development
finance to act as a catalyst for BRICS economic
partnerships in Africa. In supporting the BRICS
priorities for South Africa’s presidency of BRICS,
the conference set out to explore strategies and
identify opportunities for partnerships amongst
BRICS and African countries to tackle the following
key challenges:
• Develop strategies and partnerships in response
to the economic developmental challenges for
BRICS;
• Develop Economic Partnerships and Strategies for
the 4th Industrial Revolution for BRICS and Africa;
• Develop strategies to promote financial
technologies in Africa;
• Leverage our relationship with China to promote
Africa’s Renaissance;
• Develop strategies to address women and gender
developmental disparities and inequalities in
BRICS and Africa; and
• Develop BRICS and African partnerships for
health services.

World Science Forum
The HSRC, together with the Chinese Academy
of Social Sciences (CASS) and Council for the
Development of Social Science Research in Africa
(CODESRIA), jointly participated at the World Social
Science Forum 2018, held in Fukuoka Japan from
25–28 September. The theme of the forum was
‘Security and Equality for Sustainable Futures’. This
included issues of freedom, democracy, cyber- and
bio-warfare, and the changing nature of conflict that
highlights the complexity and interrelatedness of
old and new threats to human security. Together
with our partners, we held three panel discussions
focussing on Inequality and Social Cohesion, Migration
and Resilience and Ecological Civilization.
Regional Engagement
15th CODESRIA General Assembly
The 15th CODESRIA General Assembly took place
from 17–21 December 2018 in Dakar, Senegal, under
the theme ‘Africa and the Crisis of Globalisation’.
Approximately 350 scholars, representing 35 countries,
participated in the Assembly, which meets triennially.
Held at the King Fahd Palace Hotel, the symposium
was a combination of plenary sessions, special
commemoratory sessions, parallel sessions and panels.
The HSRC-sponsored panel, titled ‘Planning, Policy
Processes and Africa’s Globalisation: Exploring the

Social Impact’, included presentations by three
colleagues from the HSRC. Prof. Modimowabarwa
Hendrick Kanyane (DGSD-HSRC) spoke on the topic
‘Exploring governance and ethics architecture in
making social impact: Challenges and Prospects’.
Dr Edmore Marinda (RIA-HSRC) presented on
‘Government Programmes: measuring Impact’. Dr
Olga Bialostocka (AISA-HSRC) presented on ‘Youth
development policy and planning – negotiating
globalisation in diverse social orders’. The panel
was chaired by Prof. Cheryl Hendricks, executive
director of AISA.
Mzumbe University, Dar es Salaam Campus
College
Under the Memorandum of Understanding (MoU)
between Mzumbe University and the HSRC,
a series of seminars on Systems Science and
Systems Thinking were conducted from 19–28
February. This was funded by the South Africa
National Research Foundation (NRF), under the
Knowledge Interchange and Collaboration (KIC)
funding mechanism. The seminars were facilitated
by Dr Thokozani Simelane. The objective of the
KIC is to build and maintain excellence in South
African research as well as facilitate international
collaboration in scientific events, while providing
learning opportunities.
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Aud it a nd R isk
Com m it tee R epor t
We are pleased to present our report for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Audit Committee members and attendance
In accordance with the approved Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) Charter, the Committee meets at least
three times per year. The Committee met four times during the year under review:
Audit and Risk Committee meetings 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019
Meeting attendance
Name

22 May 2018

25 Jul 2018

30 Oct 2018

6 Feb 2019

Ms Precious Sibiya









Prof. Haroon Bhorat

x





x

Prof. Mark Bussin

x

x





Mr Cedric Boltman



x





Mr Peter Grant







x

Mr Leon Moser









Audit Committee Responsibility

Integrated Reporting

The Committee reports that it has complied with
its responsibilities arising from section 51 (1)(a)(ii)
of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) No.
1 of 1999, sections 76 and 77 of the Act and the
relevant National Treasury Regulations.

In overseeing integrated reporting, the Committee:

The Committee has adopted formal terms of
reference, contained in the Committee Charter,
duly approved by the HSRC Board. It has discharged
its duties and responsibilities in compliance with
the Charter and its associated Schedule of Duties.

Annual Self-Assessment
The Committee performs an annual self-evaluation
of its activities and functioning to assess the efficacy
of the organisational audit and risk management
process. The outcome of the 2018/19 assessment
was positive and reflected confidence is most of
the assessed areas.
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• recommends the Integrated Annual Report for
approval by the Board;
• considers all factors and risks that may impact
on the integrity of the Integrated Annual Report;
• reviews and comments on the Financial
Statements, the accounting practices and the
effectiveness of the internal financial controls; and
• reviews the disclosure of sustainability issues in
the integrated report to ensure that it is reliable
and does not conflict with the financial information.

The Effectiveness of Internal Control
and Risk Management Processes
The Internal Audit function, as one of the pillars
of the combined assurance model, provides the
Committee and management with reasonable
assurance that the internal controls of the HSRC

are adequate and effective to assist the organisation
to achieve its goals and objectives.

In-Year Management and Quarterly
Reporting

In its oversight role, the Committee determined that
risk and compliance management processes for the
year under review were inadequate. Management’s
mitigation proposals to address the deficiencies in the
risk and compliance management processes have
been noted and will be monitored at each Committee
meeting. The combined assurance model has not
been fully implemented and will be addressed as
part of the risk management process enhancement.

The HSRC has reported quarterly to the National
Treasury and DST (the Executive Authority) as is
required by the PFMA.

However, in considering the various Internal Audit
reports, the management report from the AuditorGeneral of South Africa, the internal control opinion
expressed by the Internal Auditor and discussions
with both the Internal and External Auditors, the
Committee is satisfied that the internal controls
of the HSRC remained effective during the year
under review.

Internal Financial Controls
The Committee is satisfied that the internal financial
controls of the HSRC were effective during the year
under review and provided the basis for preparation
of reliable Financial Statements.

Evaluation of the Finance Function
A review of the finance function was undertaken by
the Committee to evaluate its effectiveness. The
Committee is satisfied that the finance function
has fulfilled its objectives for the year under review.

Internal Audit
The Committee reviewed and approved the annual
internal audit plan and internal audit charter during
the year under review. The Internal Audit function
of the HSRC is outsourced. The Committee met
separately with the director of the Internal Audit
service provider.
In addition to providing assurance on governance,
risk management and control processes during
the year under review, the Internal Audit function
added value to the organisation by presenting
timeous and relevant reports to management
and the Committee. The Committee is satisfied
with the effectiveness and independence of the
Internal Audit function.
There are no outstanding or unresolved matters
with Internal Audit.

Auditor’s Report
The Audit and Risk Committee concurs and accepts
the conclusions of the Auditor-General on the
Annual Financial Statements and is of the opinion
that the audited Annual Financial Statements be
accepted and read together with the report of the
Auditor-General.

Evaluation of Financial Statements
The Committee has:
• Reviewed the audited Financial Statements to
be included in the Integrated Annual Report;
• Reviewed the Auditor-General of South Africa’s
management report and management’s response
thereto;
• Reviewed the performance information;
• Reviewed changes in accounting policies and
practices;
• Reviewed the entity’s compliance with legal and
regulatory provisions; and
• Noted that there were no material adjustments
resulting from the audit.

Ms Precious Sibiya
Chairperson: HSRC Audit and Risk Committee
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Introduction
With a view to fulfilling the HSRC’s mandate, the
Council is committed to employing experienced
Human Assets who embrace change and whose
research outputs are positively supporting South
Africa’s developmental agenda.
Despite a challenging year, the HSRC appointed
suitably qualified researchers from the country and
the continent through transparent, fair and equitable
recruitment and selection processes, while building
competencies on an on-going basis, and maintaining
harmony amongst employees, management and
all other stakeholders.

HSRC Demographics as at 31 March
2019
The HSRC has three payrolls to accommodate
the various business needs of the organisation.
The larger payroll hosts the data of all employees
who are appointed on long-term (12 months or
longer) contracts and permanent employees. As
at 31 March 2019, the HSRC employed 538 active
employees on long-term and permanent contracts
of employment. Figure 19 indicates that 58% of
the workforce are female and 42% male. The
overall foreign national component equals 9% of
the staff complement.

538

Grand Total

31

17

Foreign Nationals
White

9%

42

21

12%

Indian

23

10

6%

Coloured

49

21

13%

African

181
Female

143
Male

60%

Grand Total

Figure 19: Race, Gender and Foreign Nationals – 2018/19

Appointments
Fifty-six appointments were made during the year under review. Three foreign national appointments
were made of which two are African Research Fellows. The balance of the appointments were South
African citizens and included one Senior Research Specialist, one Research Director, an HR Director and
an Executive Director. As illustrated in Figure 20, of the appointments made, 34 (64%) were female and
19 (36%) male, and 81% of the appointments were African, 11% Coloured, 2% Indian, and 6% White.

SA Citizen Appointments – 53
30
20

26
17
5

10

1

1

2

1

0
African

Coloured
Female

Indian

White

Male

Figure 20: Appointments of South African Citizens – 2018/19
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Exits

equity (EE) best practices, and management of
labour-related issues.

Seventy-nine employees left the employ of the HSRC
during the year under review. Thirty-two (41%) of
these employees’ contracts came to end and fortythree (54%) resigned. Ten of the employees who
exited the HSRC were foreign nationals.

The HSRC’s South African citizen staff complement
consisted of 490 employees. Eighty seven (87%) were
Black South Africans of which 66% were African,
14% were Coloured and 7% were Indian. Females
represented 60% of these South African Citizens
employed, and people with disabilities represented 1%.

The total number of South African citizens leaving
the employ of the HSRC represents 87% of which
71% are African, 6% Coloured, 7% Indian, and
16% White.

The relevant EE reports were submitted to the
Department of Labour and a new Employment
Equity Plan was developed as the previous plan
had reached its full term. The Employment Equity
and Skills Committee met periodically and in-depth
discussions were held in relation to equity matters
as well as skills development matters.

Employment Equity
The HSRC is committed to transformation that
reflects South African demographics and has set
targets to monitor progress towards achieving
this objective. All labour legislation is entrenched
in the organisation’s policies, its strategies and
processes, such as recruitment, employment

Table 2 reflects the HSRC’s staff complement as
at 31 March 2019 according to occupational level,
gender, race and nationality.

Table 2: EE Profile
Occupational
Level

Female
A

C

I

Male
W

Total

A

C

I

Foreign Nationals
W

Total

F

M

Total Total

Top
Management

-

3

1

3

7

3

1

-

2

6

-

1

1

14

Senior
Management

4

2

2

6

14

3

1

1

5

10

1

4

5

29

Professional

14

13

10

14

51

12

9

5

12

38

12

23

35

124

Skilled

65

14

5

12

96

45

5

2

2

54

3

3

6

156

Semi-skilled

75

15

5

7

102

55

3

2

-

60

1

-

1

163

Unskilled
Total

23

2

-

-

25

25

2

-

-

27

-

-

-

52

181

49

23

42

295

143

21

10

21

195

17

31

48

538

Key: A = African; C = Coloured; I = Indian; W = White; F = Female; M = Male
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Learning and Development
The HSRC is dedicated to research capacity development. There were sixty-two (62) Researcher trainees
in the employ of the HSRC, comprising twenty-one Master’s trainees, and forty-one (41) PhD researcher
trainees as at 31 March 2019. The HSRC also employed 15 Post-Doctoral Fellows at 31 March 2019.
Researcher trainees and Post-Doctoral fellows equated to 14% of the workforce.
Over and above the Researcher Trainee Programme, accredited training was offered to administrative
and research staff by external service providers. Two hundred and forty-two participants attended 12
in-house training interventions during the year under review.
Table 3: Researcher Trainee Programme by Classification, Gender and Race
A
F

M

A
Total

C
F

C
Total

M

I
F

I
Total

M

W
F

Foreign Nationals Grand
W
Total
F
M Total Total

M

Master’s
Research
Intern

10

9

19

2

-

2

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

21

PhD
Research
Intern

22

8

30

4

1

5

2

-

2

1

-

1

2

1

3

41

PostDoctoral
Fellow

2

1

3

1

-

1

3

1

4

-

-

-

1

6

7

15

34

18

52

7

1

8

5

1

6

1

-

1

3

7

10

77

Total

Key: A = African; C Coloured; I = Indian; W = White; F = Female; M = Male

Qualifications

Employee Wellness

As a research institution, the HSRC values further
development and education. Table 4 portrays NQF
levels 9 and 10 qualification profiles of the HSRC as
at 31 March 2019 in relation to all 538 employees.
Seventeen percent (17%) of the employees held
master’s degrees and 20% of employees held PhD
or equivalent degrees.

In an effort to secure the skills of suitably qualified
researchers, the HSRC recognises that great
emphasis is needed on employee wellness to improve
the organisation’s employee value proposition. The
Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) is designed
to enhance productivity and job performance by
addressing the psychosocial, legal, financial and
work-related challenges encountered by staff of
the HSRC. Various awareness campaigns were
conducted throughout the year and services such
as financial coaching, will and estate planning, debt
management and legal aid were offered.

Table 4: NQF levels 9 an 10 profile of employees – 2018/19
Female
NQF 9 – Master’s Degree
NQF 10 – PhD Degrees
Total

Male

Total

63

31

94

47

61

108

110

92

202

Feedback received from the EAP service provider
indicated that work-related stressors, such as
continuous high work volumes and/or workplace
conflict impact negatively on a number of employees.
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO
PARLIAMENT ON THE HUMAN SCIENCES
RESEARCH COUNCIL
Report on the Audit of the Financial
Statements
Opinion
1. I have audited the financial statements of
the Human Sciences Research Council set
out on pages 91 to 147, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 March
2019, the statement of financial performance,
the statement of changes in net assets, the
cash flow statement and the statement of
comparison of approved budget to actual
results for the year then ended, as well as the
notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.
2. In my opinion, the financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Human Sciences Research
Council as at 31 March 2019, and its financial
performance and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with the South
African Standards of Generally Recognised
Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP)
and the requirements of the Public Finance
Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act no. 1
of 1999) (PFMA).
Basis for opinion
3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My
responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section
of this auditor’s report.
4. I am independent of the entity in accordance
with sections 290 and 291 of the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code
of ethics for professional accountants (IESBA
code), parts 1 and 3 of the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ International
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence
Standards) and the ethical requirements
that are relevant to my audit in South Africa. I
have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements and
the IESBA codes.
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5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for my opinion.
Responsibilities of Accounting Authority for
the financial statements
6. The Accounting Authority is responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with the SA Standards
of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA
and for such internal control as the Accounting
Authority determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.
7. In preparing the financial statements, the
Accounting Authority is responsible for assessing
the Human Sciences Research Council’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters relating to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the appropriate governance structure
either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to
do so.
Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements
8. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes my opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with the ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these financial statements.
9. A further description of my responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements is included
in the annexure to this auditor’s report.

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO
PARLIAMENT ON THE HUMAN SCIENCES
RESEARCH COUNCIL (CONTINUED)
Report on the Audit of the Annual
Performance Report
Introduction and scope
10. In accordance with the Public Audit Act
of South Africa, 2004 (Act no. 25 of 2004)
(PAA) and the general notice issued in terms
thereof, I have a responsibility to report
material findings on the reported performance
information against predetermined objectives for
selected programmes presented in the annual
performance report. I performed procedures to
identify findings but not to gather evidence to
express assurance.
11. My procedures address the reported
performance information, which must be
based on the approved performance planning
documents of the entity. I have not evaluated
the completeness and appropriateness of
the performance indicators included in the
planning documents. My procedures also did
not extend to any disclosures or assertions
relating to planned performance strategies
and information in respect of future periods
that may be included as part of the reported
performance information. Accordingly, my
findings do not extend to these matters.
12. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the
reported performance information in accordance
with the criteria developed from the performance
management and reporting framework, as
defined in the general notice, for the following
selected programme presented in the annual
performance report of the entity for the year
ended 31 March 2019:
Programme
Programme 2 – Research,
development and
innovation

Pages in annual
performance report
46 to 51

13. I performed procedures to determine whether
the reported performance information was
properly presented and whether performance
was consistent with the approved performance
planning documents. I performed further

procedures to determine whether the indicators
and related targets were measurable and relevant,
and assessed the reliability of the reported
performance information to determine whether
it was valid, accurate and complete.
14. I did not raise any material findings on the
usefulness and reliability of the reported
performance information for this programme.
Other matter
15. I draw attention to the matter below.
Achievement of planned targets
16. Refer to the annual performance report on pages
12 to 51 for information on the achievement of
planned targets for the year and explanations
provided for the under/ over achievement of a
number of targets.
Adjustment of material misstatement
17 I identified a material misstatement in the annual
performance report submitted for auditing. This
material misstatement was on the reported
performance information of Programme 2 research, development and innovation. As
management subsequently corrected the
misstatement, I did not raise any material
findings on the usefulness and reliability of the
reported performance information.

Report on the Audit of Compliance
with Legislation
Introduction and scope
18. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice
issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility
to report material findings on the compliance of
the entity with specific matters in key legislation.
I performed procedures to identify findings but
not to gather evidence to express assurance.
19. The material finding on compliance with specific
matters in key legislations are as follows:
Expenditure Management
20. Effective and appropriate steps were not taken
to prevent irregular expenditure of R1 127 000
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO
PARLIAMENT ON THE HUMAN SCIENCES
RESEARCH COUNCIL (CONTINUED)
as disclosed in note 27 to the annual financial
statements, as required by section 51(1 )(b)(ii) of
the PFMA. The irregular expenditure was related
to supply chain management and was caused
by non-compliance with Treasury Regulation
16A6.4 and Practice Note 4 of 2009.

Other Information
21. The Accounting Authority is responsible for
the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the
annual report which includes the directors’
report and the audit committee’s report. The
other information does not include the financial
statements, the auditor’s report and the
selected programme presented in the annual
performance report that has been specifically
reported in this auditor’s report.
22. My opinion on the financial statements
and findings on the reported performance
information and compliance with legislation
do not cover the other information and I do
not express an audit opinion or any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
23. In connection with my audit, my responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements and the selected programme
presented in the annual performance report,
or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
24. When I do receive and read the directors’ report
and the audit committee’s report. If I conclude
that there is a material misstatement therein,
I am required to communicate the matter to
those charged with governance and request
that the other information be corrected. If the
other information is not corrected, I may have
to retract this auditor’s report and re-issue an
amended report as appropriate. However, if it
is corrected this will not be necessary.
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Internal Control Deficiencies
25. I considered internal control relevant to my
audit of the financial statements, reported
performance information and compliance with
applicable legislation; however, my objective
was not to express any form of assurance on
it. The matter reported below is limited to the
significant internal control deficiencies that
resulted in the finding on compliance with
legislation included in this report.
26. The review and monitoring processes were
not sufficient to prevent instances of irregular
expenditure as required by section 51 (1 )(b)(ii)
of the PFMA.

Pretoria
31 July 2019

ANNEXURE – AUDITOR-GENERAL’S
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT
1. As part of an audit in accordance with the
ISAs, I exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout
my audit of the financial statements, and the
procedures performed on reported performance
information for selected programme and on
the entity’s compliance with respect to the
selected subject matters.

Financial Statements
2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of
the financial statements as described in this
auditor’s report, I also:
• identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements
whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.
• obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control.
• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Accounting Authority.
• conclude on the appropriateness of the
Accounting Authority’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting in the preparation

of the financial statements. I also conclude,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Human Sciences Research Council’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If I
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I
am required to draw attention in my auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements about the material uncertainty or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
the opinion on the financial statements. My
conclusions are based on the information
available to me at the date of this auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions
may cause a entity to cease continuing as
a going concern.
• evaluate the overall presentation, structure
and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Communication with those Charged
with Governance
3. I communicate with the Accounting Authority
regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that I identify during my audit.
4. I also confirm to the Accounting Authority that I
have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and communicate
all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to have a bearing on my
independence and, where applicable, related
safeguards.
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APPROVAL OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The HSRC Board has reviewed and approved the accompanying Annual Financial Statements of the HSRC for the year
ended 31 March 2019 that have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting
Practice (GRAP) and all applicable Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) disclosure requirements. This set of Annual
Financial Statements represent a true reflection of the HSRC’s financial performance, position and changes in cash
flow movements for the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

Professor Crain Soudien
Chief Executive Officer
31 July 2019
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Professor Mvuyo Tom
Chairman
31 July 2019

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 March 2019

2019
March

2018
March

Note

R’000

R’000

Cash and cash equivalents

1

44 797

43 755

Trade and other receivables

2

57 446

43 782

Inventories

3

4 851

4 944

Pre-payments and advances

4

7 087

6 958

VAT receivable

5

-

382

114 181

99 821

Assets
Current assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

6

423 663

435 242

Intangible assets

6

2 049

3 022

Pre-payments and advances

4

7

51

Operating lease receivables

7

5

3

425 724

438 318

539 905

538 139

36 400

Total assets

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

8

42 958

VAT payable

5

5 866

-

Income received in advance

9

36 165

39 931

Provisions

11

-

5 578

84 989

81 909

2 897

Non-current liabilities
Post-retirement medical aid liability

12

2 507

Operating lease accruals

7

409

782

2 916

3 679

87 905

85 588

452 000

452 551

392 838

392 837

59 162

59 714

452 000

452 551

Total liabilities
Net assets

Net assets
Reserves
Accumulated surplus
Total net assets
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Note

Revenue

2019
March

2018
March

R’000

R’000

484 997

555 692

Research revenue (from exchange transactions)

14.1

179 171

244 295

Parliamentary grants (from non-exchange transactions)

14.2

264 116

267 242

15

41 710

44 155

Other operating revenue

Expenses

(485 549)

(556 512)

(46 991)

(51 963)

17

(94 087)

(175 077)

18

(293 196)

(282 510)

Other operating expenses

19

(35 646)

(32 417)

Finance cost

20

(1 252)

(1 500)

Depreciation and amortisation

21

(14 377)

(13 045)

Deficit for the year

13

(552)

(820)

Administrative expenses

16

Research costs
Staff costs

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
as at 31 March 2019

Revaluation
Reserve

Total:
Reserves

Accumulated
Surplus

Total:
Net Asset

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

Note

Opening balance at
1 April 2017

392 838

392 838

60 437

Prior year adjustments

-

-

97

97

Deficit for the year (Restated)

-

-

(820)

(820)

392 838

392 838

-

-

392 838

392 838

Balance at 1 April 2018
Deficit for the year

Balance as at 31 March
2019
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59 714
(552)
59 162

453 275

452 552
(552)
452 000

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Note

2019
March

2018
March

R’000

R’000

303 733

304 656

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts
Parliamentary grant
Interest received
Other receipts
Taxation (VAT receipts)

7 753

9 138

264 286

308 781

5 001

10 449

580 773

633 074

Employee costs

(309 094)

(331 998)

Suppliers

(192 444)

(225 426)

Payments

Interest paid
Other payments

Net cash flows from operating activities

22

(419)

(572)

(75 395)

(85 529)

(577 352)

(643 525)

3 421

(10 451)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

(2 451)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment

72

Net cash flows from investing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in net cash and cash equivalents
Net cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Net cash and cash equivalents at end of year

1

(7 562)
461

(2 379)

(7 101)

1 042

(17 552)

43 755

61 307

44 797

43 755
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF
APPROVED BUDGET TO ACTUAL RESULTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Budget
Notes

Revenue

2019
Actual
Results

2019
Approved
Budget

Percentage
Achieved

Variance

R’000

R’000

%

R’000

484 997

530 632

91

(45 635)

Research revenue

29

179 171

213 943

84

(34 772)

Parliamentary grants

29

254 488

254 488

100

(0)

Parliamentary grants – Ring-fenced

29

9 628

9 628

100

Other operating revenue

29

41 710

52 573

79

(10 863)

(530 632)

92

45 083

Expenses

(485 549)

-

Administrative expenses

29

(46 991)

(62 668)

75

15 678

Research cost

29

(94 087)

(116 311)

81

22 223

Staff cost

29

(293 196)

(293 608)

100

412

Other operating expenses (Incl.
finance cost)

29

(36 898)

(46 773)

79

9 875

Depreciation, amortisation and
impairment expense

29

(14 377)

(11 272)

128

(3 105)

Deficit for the year

(552)

-

(100)

(552)

The budget was approved by the HSRC Board and submitted to the Executive Authority in terms of section 53(1) of
the PFMA. (Both the annual budget and financial statements adopt an accrual basis of accounting). The budget and
actual amount reflected excludes VAT.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the period ended 31 March 2019
1

Policies Applied During the Financial
Period Under Review

1.1 Basis of Preparation
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared
using the accrual basis of accounting, in terms of which
items are recognised as assets, liabilities, net assets
(reserves), revenue and expenses when they satisfy the
definitions and recognition criteria for those elements,
which in all material aspects are consistent with those
applied in the previous years, except where a change in
accounting policy has been recorded.
The Financial Statements are prepared in South African
Rand (R) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (R’000) except where otherwise indicated.
The South African Rand is also the organisation’s
functional currency.
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared
in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP), including any
interpretations and directives issued by the Accounting
Standards Board (ASB).

1.2 Going Concern Assumption
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis.

1.3 Offsetting
Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses have not been
offset except when offsetting is required or permitted by
a Standard of GRAP.

1.4 Budget Information
The Financial Statements and the budget are prepared on
the same basis of accounting, which is the accrual basis.
Comparative information is not required for this report.

1.5 Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the HSRC and revenue
can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at fair
value of the consideration receivable on an accrual basis.
1.5.1
Revenue from Exchange Transactions
Revenue from exchange transactions refers to revenue
that accrues to the entity directly in return for services
rendered or goods sold, the value of which approximates
the consideration received or receivable, excluding indirect
taxes, rebates and discounts. The following specific
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is
recognised:

1.5.1.1
Research Revenue
Revenue that resulted from the rendering of research and
related services is recognised using the stage of completion,
determined according to the percentage of costs incurred
to date in relation to the total estimated cost of the project.
The HSRC is not a profit making organisation and as such,
all projects are budgeted with no surplus anticipated to
be earned at the end of each project. In instances where
possible deficits are anticipated (due to project execution
challenges), negotiations are promptly held with the
funder where additional funding is requested. Revenue is
recognised as work in progress where the probability of
additional funding has been assessed as highly probable
by the Executive Director and researchers of the research
programme in which the project is being executed.
The HSRC has several funders that normally process
payments for research related activities prior to the actual
research commencing. Upon receipt, a liability is raised
(Income received in advance), and reduced as and when
costs are incurred on the respective project.

1.5.1.2
Other Operating Revenue
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when significant
risks and rewards of ownership of goods are transferred to
the buyer. Sale of goods incorporates sale of publications,
sale of food in the canteen located in Pretoria and letting
of office and parking space in the HSRC-owned building
situated in Pretoria. Revenue from royalties is recognised
on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of
the relevant agreement. Rental income is recognised as
revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
1.5.1.3
Interest Income
Revenue is recognised as interest accrued using the
effective interest rate, and is included in other revenue
in the statement of financial performance. Interest is
predominantly earned from funds received in advance
prior to the commencement or execution of projects and
invested in call accounts.
1.5.1.4

Key Judgements and Estimates Applied
by Management on Research Revenue
In determining the stage of completion of a research
project, management estimates the stage of completion
based on work completed for as assessed by project
leaders. This is then compared to costs incurred to date
with appropriate revenue recognition processed in the
statement of financial performance. Consideration is
given to any arrangements with funders to offset any
costs incurred in excess of budgeted amounts.
1.5.2

Revenue from Non-exchange
Transactions
Revenue from non-exchange transaction arises when the
entity receives value from another entity or government
department without directly giving approximately equal
value in exchange.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the period ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)

Revenue from non-exchange transactions is generally
recognised to the extent that the related receipt or
receivable qualifies for recognition as an asset and there is
no liability to repay the amount. The following is classified
as revenue from non-exchange transactions.

1.5.2.1
Parliamentary Grants
Revenue from parliamentary grants is measured at the
amount of the Medium Term Expenditure Framework (MTEF)
allocation received by the entity, excluding Valued Added
Tax (VAT). The grant received or receivable is recognised
when the resources that have been transferred meet
the criteria for recognition as revenue and there is not
a corresponding liability in respect of related conditions.
Where such conditions associated with the grant have
not been met, a liability is recognised.
1.5.2.2

Other Non-exchange Revenues Resulting
in Recognition of Assets
Assets and revenue arising from transfer transactions are
recognised in the period in which the transfer arrangement
becomes binding. Where a transfer is subject to conditions
that, if unfulfilled, require the return of the transferred
resources, the entity recognises a liability until the
condition is fulfilled.

1.6 Taxes
The HSRC is exempt from income tax in terms of Section
10(1)(a) of the Income Tax Act (Act No. 58 of 1962).

1.7 Property, Plant and Equipment
Initial Recognition of Cost
Property, plant and equipment (other than land and
buildings and artwork) are measured at cost, net of
accumulated depreciation and/or accumulated impairment
losses, if any.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognised as an asset when:
• It is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the entity; and
• The cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct
an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a
replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount
of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repair
and maintenance costs are recognised in the statement
of financial performance as incurred.
Land and buildings are measured at fair value less
accumulated depreciation on buildings and impairment
losses recognised after the date of the revaluation.
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Valuations of our HSRC Pretoria property are performed
every three years based on the income capitalisation
method. The market value is determined from the ability of
the property to generate rental income taking into account
the related expenses, rental income which is capitalised
at a market-related rate and the risk, age and condition of
the property with existing buildings. Any surpluses that
occur due to the revaluation of land and buildings are
allocated to the revaluation reserve, except to the extent
that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset
previously recognised. A revaluation deficit is recognised
in the statement of financial performance, except to the
extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset
recognised in the asset revaluation reserve.
Artwork is measured at fair value less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses recognised after
the date of the revaluation. Valuations of artwork are
performed every five years based on the current market
value method. The market value factored into each
assessment is the artist, the medium used, the size in
relation to the overall aesthetic appeal (to the market) of each
artwork. Any surpluses that occur due to the revaluation
of artwork is allocated to the revaluation reserve, except
to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of
the same asset previously recognised in the statement of
financial performance. A revaluation deficit is recognised
in the statement of financial performance, except to the
extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset
recognised in the asset revaluation reserve.
The revaluation surplus included in net assets in respect
of an item of property, plant and equipment is transferred
directly to accumulated surpluses or deficits when the
asset is derecognised. This involves transferring the whole
of the surplus when an asset is retired or disposed of.
Transfers from revaluation surplus to accumulated surpluses
or deficits are not made through surplus or deficit.
1.7.1
Depreciation of Assets
Depreciation is applied on a straight-line basis, with the
exception of mobile clinics that are depreciated based on
mileage travelled. Specific treatment of depreciation on
the respective assets is as follows:

1.7.1.1
Freehold Land
Land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not
depreciated but stated at fair value.
1.7.1.2
Freehold Buildings
The HSRC identified the following major components
of buildings:
•
•
•
•

Lifts
Telephone system
Fixtures
Buildings

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the period ended 31 March 2019 (continued)

The useful lives of the various components of buildings
have been assessed to be:
Lifts

25 years

Telephone system

25 years

Fixtures

25 years

Buildings

25–100 years

Leasehold
improvements

Amortized over the period
of the lease

1.7.1.3
Equipment, Motor Vehicles and Artwork
The useful lives of the various categories of equipment
have been assessed to be:
Office furniture

22 years

Motor vehicles

5 years

Computer and other
equipment

5–22 years

Library books and
manuscripts

20 years

Artwork

25 years

Mobile clinics

Estimated kilometres

1.7.1.4
Leasehold Assets
These assets are depreciated over the period of the rental
agreement. Leasehold assets are located in HSRC’s
regional offices where improvements are made on leased
buildings. Leases are disclosed under lease commitments.
1.7.1.5
Donor Funded Assets
All assets bought with donor funds are depreciated over
the shorter of the asset’s useful life or project duration.

1.7.4 Key Estimates and Assumptions Applied by
Management on Property, Plant and
Equipment

1.7.4.1

Property, Plant and Equipment and
Intangible Assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are
depreciated over their useful lives taking into account
residual values, where appropriate. The actual lives of the
assets and residual values are assessed annually and may
vary depending on a number of factors. In re-assessing
asset lives, factors such as technological innovation and
maintenance programmes are taken into account. Residual
value assessments consider issues such as future market
conditions, the remaining life of the asset and projected
disposal values.
1.7.4.2

Revaluation of Property, Plant and
Equipment
HSRC measures its land and buildings at revalued
amounts with changes in fair value being recognised in
statement of changes in net assets. The entity engaged
independent valuation specialists to determine fair value
on 15 January 2018, thereby impacting depreciation for
the 2017/18 financial year. The key assumptions used
to determine the fair value of the land and buildings are
further explained in Note 6.1 and 6.2.

1.8 Intangible Assets
1.8.1
Initial Recognition
Intangible assets that meet the recognition criteria are
stated in the statement of financial position at amortised
cost, being the initial cost price less any accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.

1.7.2
De-recognition of Assets
An item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognised
upon disposal, returning projects’ assets to the funder or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the statement of financial performance in
the year the asset is derecognised.

An intangible asset is recognised when:

1.7.3
Repairs and Maintenance
Repairs and maintenance are expensed in the period
there are incurred, with such costs only capitalised on an
asset if the asset’s capacity or future economic benefits
associated with the asset will increase.

1.8.2
Subsequent Measurement
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases
the future economic benefits embodied in the asset to
which it relates. The amortisation is calculated at a rate
considered appropriate to reduce the cost of the asset
less residual value over the shorter of its estimated useful
life or contractual period. Residual values and estimated
useful lives are reviewed annually.

• It is probable that the expected future economic
benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to
the entity; and
• The cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Expenditure
on research (or on the research phase of an internal
project) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.

HSRC INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

/ 97

PART E: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the period ended 31 March 2019 (continued)

Amortisation is charged to the statement of financial
performance so as to write off the cost of intangible assets
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method as follows:
IT software

Average of 5–22 years

User rights

20 years

1.8.3
Impairment of Non-financial Assets
The HSRC assesses at each reporting date whether there
is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
such indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable
amount of the individual asset. If it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset,
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs is determined.
A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group
of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets.
The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating
unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and
its value in use. If the recoverable amount of an asset is
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. That excess
is an impairment loss and it is charged to the statement
of financial performance.
An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any
accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised
immediately in the statement of financial performance.
Any impairment deficit of a revalued asset is treated as
a revaluation decrease in the revaluation reserve only to
the extent of the existing reserve.
The HSRC assesses at each reporting date whether there
is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in
prior periods for assets may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amounts of those assets are estimated and matched against
their carrying values and any excess of the recoverable
amounts over their carrying values is reversed to the
extent of the impairment loss previously charged in the
statement of financial performance.

1.9 Inventory
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost price or net
realisable value. The net realisable value is the estimated
selling price, less the estimated completion costs or selling
costs. Inventory consists of cafeteria consumables and
publications (comprising of completed books and work
in progress).
Inventory is valued using the weighted average method.
Cost for publications is determined by using specific
identification of their individual costs.
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When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised
as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs.

1.10 Leases
A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership. The classification of the leases is determined
using GRAP 13 – Leases.
1.10.1
Operating Leases – Lessee
Lease agreements are classified as operating leases
where substantially the entire risks and rewards incident
to ownership remain with the lessor. Operating lease
payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. The difference between the
amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual
payments is recognised as an operating lease liability.
1.10.2
Operating Leases – Lessor
The HSRC presents assets subject to operating leases
in the statement of financial position according to the
nature of the asset. Lease revenue is recognised in line
with the accounting policy on revenue. The depreciation
policy for depreciable leased assets is consistent with
the entity’s normal depreciation policy for similar assets.
1.10.3

Key Judgements Applied by Management
on Operating Leases
The HSRC has entered into commercial property leases
on buildings. The HSRC leases its Pretoria Building to
the Department of Social Development. The HSRC
has determined, based on evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of this property
and so accounts for this contract as an operating lease,
with the HSRC being a lessor. On the other hand, the
HSRC leases premises occupied by staff in regional
offices, where it does not retain all the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of these properties and so
accounts for these contracts as operating leases, with
the HSRC being a lessee. Refer to Note 7 for more
details on the respective lease agreements.
1.10.4

1.10.4.1

Key Estimates and Assumptions Applied
by Management

Property, Plant and Equipment and
Intangible Assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are
depreciated over their useful lives, taking into account
residual values, where appropriate. The actual lives of the
assets and residual values are assessed annually and may
vary depending on a number of factors. In re-assessing
asset lives, factors such as technological innovation and

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the period ended 31 March 2019 (continued)

maintenance programmes are taken into account. Residual
value assessments consider issues such as future market
conditions, the remaining life of the asset and projected
disposals values. The HSRC reassessed assets useful
lives as at 31 March 2019, with depreciation decreasing
by R1.3 million annually in future financial years.

1.11 Employee Benefits
1.11.1
Short-term Employee Benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable
within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as
cost to company (CTC), allowances and performance
bonuses) are recognised in the period in which the service
is rendered and are not discounted.
1.11.2

Post-employment Benefit Costs

1.11.2.1 Pension Funds
The entity contributes to a pension fund for the benefit
of its employees. The plan is a defined contribution
plan. The entity identifies as defined contribution plans,
any post-employment plan in terms of which it has no
obligation to make further contributions to the plan over
and above the monthly contributions payable on behalf of
employees (for example in the event of a funding shortfall).
Contributions made towards the fund are recognised as
an expense in the statement of financial performance in
the period that such contributions become payable. This
contribution expense is measured at the undiscounted
amount of the contribution paid or payable to the fund.
A liability is recognised to the extent that any of the
contributions have not yet been paid. Conversely an
asset is recognised to the extent that any contributions
have been paid in advance.
Pensions are provided for employees by means of two
separate pension funds to which contributions are made.
These are the HSRC Pension Fund (HSRCPF), and the
Associated Institutions Pension Fund (AIPF).

1.11.2.2 Post-retirement Medical Aid Benefits
The entity contributes to a medical aid for the benefit of
its employees. The plan is a defined benefit plan. The
cost of providing these benefits is determined based on
the projected unit credit method and actuarial valuations
are performed every year.
The HSRC contributed voluntarily to post-retirement
medical aid benefits of specific employees who opted
to remain on the previous conditions of service when
the benefit was terminated. The HSRC does not provide
for post-retirement medical aid benefits to any other
category of employees.

1.11.3

Key Estimates and Assumptions Applied
by Management on Employee Benefits

1.11.3.1 Post-retirement Medical Aid Benefits
The cost of post-employment medical benefits is determined
using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves
making assumptions about discount rates, expected rates
of return of assets, future salary increases, mortality
rates and future pension increases. All assumptions are
reviewed at each reporting date. Refer to Note 12 for a full
disclosure of post-retirement benefits as at 31 March 2019.
1.11.3.2 Leave Accrual
The leave pay accrual is based on actual days accrued
at the rate of remuneration at the reporting date, being
31 March. Annually costs of living adjustments are
processed. Changes in the rate of remuneration are
determined annually and are effective from the first date
of the financial year. Leave accrual for all staff is capped
to the maximum amount that an employee accumulates
in a 12 month cycle.

1.12 Foreign Currency Transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are accounted for at the
rate of exchange ruling on the date of the transaction. Assets
and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of
exchange ruling at the reporting date. Exchange differences
arising from translations are recognised in the statement
of financial performance in the period in which they occur.
A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial
recognition in the functional currency, by applying to the
foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate between
the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date
of the transaction. At each reporting date foreign currency
monetary items are translated using the closing rate.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates
different from those at which they were translated on
initial recognition during the period or in previous financial
statements shall be recognised in surplus or deficit in the
period in which they arise.

1.13 Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:
• the HSRC has a present obligation as a result of past
events;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits or service potential will be required
to settle the obligations; and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.
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Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
If the HSRC has a contract that is onerous, the present
obligation under the contract is recognised and measured
as a provision. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
are not recognised.
Provisions are measured as the present value of the
estimated future outflows required to settle the obligation.
In the process of determining the best estimate of the
amounts that will be required in future to settle the
provision management considers the probability of the
potential outcomes of the provisions raised, and provides
the best estimate required to settle the provision.

1.14 Financial Instruments, Commitments and
Contingent Assets/Liabilities
1.14.1
Trade and Other Receivables
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at
fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are
recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired.
1.14.2
Trade and Other Payables
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair
value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method. Accruals, being
goods and services delivered and not invoiced as at 31
March, are included in trade and other payables.
1.14.3
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash at banks and on hand, including
funds invested in call accounts held with our bankers
and the reserve bank. For the purpose of the cash flow
statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts.
1.14.4
Other Financial Assets
Other financial assets are carried in the statement of
financial position at cost.
1.14.5
Commitments
Commitments are not recognised in the statement of
financial position as a liability or as expenditure in the
statement of financial performance but are included in
the notes to the financial statements.
1.14.6
Contingent Assets and Liabilities
Contingent assets and liabilities are included in the notes
to the financial statements when it is probable that an
inflow or outflow of economic benefits will flow to or
from the HSRC. Contingent assets and liabilities are not
recognised in the statement of financial performance and
statement of financial position.
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1.14.7

Key Judgements and Estimates Applied
by Management on Financial Instruments

Impairment of trade and other receivables
An allowance for the impairment of trade receivables
is established when there is objective evidence that
the HSRC will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the original terms of receivables agreed on
when a contractual relationship was entered into. The
calculation of the amount to be allowed for impairment of
receivables requires the use of estimates and judgements.
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, and default
or delinquency in payments (more than 120 days overdue)
are considered indicators that the trade receivable is
impaired. The allowance recognised is measured for all
debtors with indications of impairment.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss
is recognised in the statement of financial performance
within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is
uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account
for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against operating
expenses in the statement of financial performance.

1.15 Related Parties
The HSRC operates in an economic sector currently
dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by the
South African Government. All transactions are at arm’s
length. Due to the nature of the organisation, transactions
with other organs have been disclosed, including those
entities falling within the stable of the DST. This disclosure
enhancement provides additional information for users.
Key management is defined as being individuals with
the authority and responsibility for planning directing
and controlling the activities of the entity. We regard all
individuals, from the level of Executive management and
Council members as key management per the definition
of the financial reporting standard.
Close family members of key management personnel
are considered to be those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced by key management
individuals, in their dealings with the entity.

1.16 Restatements and Adjustments
When necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified
or adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in
the current period. The nature and reason for such
reclassifications and restatements are also disclosed.
Refer to Note 26 for a detailed disclosure of prior year
errors recorded.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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1.17 Pre-payments and Advances

1.19 Standards Issued and not yet Effective

Payments made in advance to suppliers are in respect
of goods and services in line with the business of the
entity. An item will be recognised as a pre-payment if
the payment was made in advance and at the reporting
period these goods and services had not been delivered
or rendered to the entity. Pre-payments and advances
will be derecognised as and when goods and services are
received. There is no contractual right to receive a refund
in cash or another financial instrument from the suppliers.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements,
the following accounting standards of Generally Recognised
Accounting Practice (GRAP) were in issue, but not yet
effective:

1.18 Irregular and Fruitless and Wasteful
Expenditure
Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in
contravention of, or not in accordance with, a requirement
of any applicable legislation.
When confirmed, irregular expenditure must be recorded
in the notes to the financial statements. The amount to be
recorded in the notes must be equal to the value of the
irregular expenditure incurred unless it is impracticable
to determine the value thereof.
Where such impracticality exists, the reasons therefore
must be provided in the notes. Irregular expenditure must
be removed from the notes when it is either (a) condoned
by the National Treasury or the relevant authority; (b) it
is transferred to receivables for recovery; or (c) it is not
condoned and is irrecoverable. A receivable related to
irregular expenditure is measured at the amount that is
expected to be recovered and must be de-recognised
when the receivable is settled or subsequently written
off as irrecoverable.
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure
that was made in vain and would have been avoided had
reasonable care been exercised. All irregular, fruitless and
wasteful expenditure is recognised against the specific
class of expense to which it relates and disclosed in a note
to the financial statements when it has been identified. If
the expenditure is recoverable, an asset is recognised until
it’s recovered from the person responsible or written off
as irrecoverable in the statement of financial performance.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

GRAP 34 – Separate financial statements
GRAP 35 – Consolidated Financial Statements
GRAP 36 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
GRAP 37 – Joint arrangements
GRAP 38 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
GRAP 104 – Financial instruments
GRAP 110 – Living and Non Living Resources

Management believes that the adoption of these standards
in future periods will have no material impact on the financial
statements when they are adopted as these Standards have
been used to formulate and inform the current accounting
policies and disclosures where applicable to the HSRC.
Application of all of the above GRAP standards will be
effective from a date to be announced by the Minister
of Finance. This date is not currently available.

1.16 Segment Reporting Information
The HSRC manages the operations as a combined
operations with the Board and CEO making key financial
decisions based on the combined operations. Resources
allocation, assets and liabilities are also managed on
a combined basis and as such the organisation has a
single reporting entity. Geographical information is also
not provided as there are no distinct economic benefits
attached to the respective regional offices, with research
projects undertaken in all different parts of the country.

1.17 Events after the Reporting Date
Subsequent events, which are either favourable or
unfavourable, occurring between the reporting date and
the financial statements authorisation date, are included
in the notes to the financial statements.
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for the year ended 31 March 2019
2019
March

2018
March

R’000

R’000

12 313

11 712

100

112

32 384

31 931

44 797

43 755

Trade receivables*

52 303

40 295

Other receivables

9 856

5 126

Less: Impairment allowance

(4 713)

(1 639)

Balance at 31 March

57 446

43 782

16 990

13 008

16 990

13 008

1

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash at bank
Cash on hand
Short-term investments*

*Included in the short-term investments are funds received from HSRC
funders for various research projects. These funds had not been utilised
as at 31 March 2019.

2

Trade and Other Receivables

*Included in trade receivables is research work completed and not yet
invoiced. Revenue is recognised using the stage of completion method.
Details are shown below:
Research projects in progress

2.1 Ageing of Trade Receivables
Current (0–30 days)

30 590

30 056

31–60 days

2 675

7 430

61–90 days

3 664

590

91–120 days

5 552

1 316

+ 121 days

9 822

903

52 303

40 295

3 274

4 467

Balance at 31 March

2.2 Ageing of Other Receivables
Current (0–30 days)
31–60 days

380

7

61–90 days

53

32

91–120 days

66

5

+ 121 days

6 083

615

Balance at 31 March

9 856

5 126

+ 121 days

(4,713)

(1,639)

Balance at 31 March

(4,713)

(1,639)

2.3 Impairment Allowance: Ageing
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)
2019
March

2018
March

R’000

R’000

Balance at beginning of the year

(1 639)

(875)

Movement for the year

(3 329)

(796)

2.4 Reconciliation of the Impairment Allowance

Bad debts written off

255

Balance at 31 March

32

(4 713)

(1 639)

30 days past due

3 055

7 437

60 days past due

3 717

622

90 days past due

5 618

1 321

12 390

9 380

4 713

1 639

4 713

1 639

Finished goods**

4 699

4 804

Publications

4 699

4 744

2.5 Trade and Other Receivables Past Payment Due Date
Trade and other receivables which are less than three months past the
due payment date are not considered to be impaired as at 31 March
2019, R12 390 000 (2018: R9 380 000).
The ageing of amounts past due date but not impaired are as follows:

2.6 Trade and Other Receivables Impaired
As at 31 March 2019, trade and other receivables of R4 713 000 (2018:
R1 639 000) were impaired and provided for. The ageing of these
receivables is as follows:
Over 180 days
The fair value of trade receivables approximates their carrying amounts.

3

Inventories

Cafeteria

-

60

152

140

4 851

4 944

AISA Publications and HSRC Press

1 408

1 919

Cafeteria***

1 422

4 376

2 830

6 295

Work in progress*

Cost of goods sold

*
**
**
***

Work in progress consists of books in production.
Publications to the value of R0.8 million were written off and expensed in the statement of financial
performance.
Publications to the value of R0.6 million were written down in the statement of financial performance due to
cost that exceeded the net realisable value.
The Cafeteria closed on 31 August 2018. Sales prior to closure of the Cafeteria included internal sales to
other HSRC departments.
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2019
March

2018
March

R’000

R’000

Pre-payment and advances (short-term)*

7 087

6 958

Pre-payment and advances (long-term)**

7

51

7 094

7 009

-

382

5 866

-

4

Pre-payments and Advances

Total
*

**

5

Short-term pre-payments are largely made up of subscriptions
for software, pre-paid electricity and flight bookings processed
on research projects with travelling set to take place in the new
financial year.
The long-term portion of pre-payments is in respect of computer
warranties.

Value Added Tax

VAT Receivable
VAT Payable

6

Summary of Property, Plant and Equipment

Land and buildings

377 356

382 002

Leasehold improvements

3 731

7 943

Artwork

1 262

1 354

Motor vehicles

17 526

18 215

Office furniture

7 844

8 103

Equipment

7 829

8 897

Computer equipment

7 865

8 409

Medical equipment

250

319

423 663

435 242

Summary of Intangible Assets
Software
Usage rights

Total Assets
For detailed disclosures refer to Notes 6.1 to 6.2
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642

1 482

1 407

1 540

2 049

3 022

425 712

438 264

404 568
(22 566)
-

517 283
(82 041)
2 451
2 451
-

Accumulated depreciation

Additions and revaluations

Additions

-

(5)
-

Cost

(4 646)

-

438

Accumulated depreciation of disposal
(13 905)

-

(558)

Cost of disposal

Depreciation

-

(120)

Disposals

Accumulated depreciation

-

(5)

Assets reclassification

Revaluation

382 002

435 242

R’000

Gross carrying amount

R’000

Land and
Buildings

Opening net carrying amount

6.1 Property, Plant and Equipment
Reconciliation

Reconciliation of carrying value

Total

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Balance as at 31 March 2019

6

(4 212)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(5 680)

13 623

7 943

R’000

Lease
Improvements

(92)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(769)

2 123

1 354

R’000

Artwork

(689)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(1 834)

20 049

18 215

R’000

Motor
vehicles

(313)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

54

54

(5 839)

13 942

8 103

R’000

Office
furniture

(2 051)

13

(13)

-

-

-

-

-

983

983

(15 557)

24 454

8 897

R’000

Equipment

(1 833)

425

(545)

(120)

-

(5)

(5)

-

1 414

1 414

(27 760)

36 169

8 409

R’000

Computer
Equipment

(69)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(2 036)

2 355

319

R’000

Medical
Equipment

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)
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404 568
(27 212)
79 381

519 171
(95 508)
80 301

Accumulated depreciation

Historical cost would have been:

-

(9 892)

13 623

3 731

R’000

Lease
Improvements

920

(861)

2 123

1 262

R’000

Artwork

-

(2 523)

20 049

17 526

R’000

Motor
vehicles

-

(6 152)

13 996

7 844

R’000

Office
furniture

-

(17 595)

25 424

7 829

R’000

Equipment

-

(29 168)

37 033

7 865

R’000

Computer
Equipment

-

(2 105)

2 355

250

R’000

Medical
Equipment
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Artwork belonging to the HSRC was revalued on 31 March 2015. The valuation was performed by Mr Gerrit Dyman of Absolut Art Gallery by observing similar artwork in the
market and the prices such artwork would cost on the valuation date.

The land is registered as Stand 3242 Pretoria, measuring 7 655 m², registration division JR, Transvaal and is situated at 134 Pretorius Street, Pretoria. The buildings classification
combines land, lifts, telephone systems, fixtures and buildings and comprises a reception area, offices, parking area, conference centre and a cafeteria built on land as mentioned
above. The valuation was conducted on 15 March 2018 by an independent valuer, Mr Nathan Theron of Spectrum Valuations and Asset Solutions (Pty) Ltd, using the Net
Income Capitalisation Method of Valuation to determine the value of the property. The method determines the net normalised annual income of the property, assuming the
property is fully let at market related rentals, and market escalations, with an allowance made for vacancies (where applicable). Market related operating expenses are incurred,
resulting in a net annual income which is then capitalised at a market related rate. A capitalisation rate of 11.% was applied. The capitalisation rate is determined from the
market and is influenced in general by rates of return of similar properties, risk obsolescence, inflation, market rental growth rates, rates of return on other investments, as
well as mortgage rates. The building is not held as security for any obligations.

377 356

423 663

R’000

Gross carrying amount

R’000

Land and
Buildings

Closing net carrying amount

Reconciliation of carrying value

Total

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Balance at 31 March 2018

6
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for the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)

(20 491)
208 910
208 554
356

(321)
-

(69 994)
215 913
208 554
7 359
(1 952)
(1 952)
-

Accumulated depreciation

Additions and revaluations

Additions

Revaluation

Assets reclassification

Cost

Depreciation

Accumulated depreciation of disposal

Cost of disposal

Disposals

Accumulated depreciation

196 379

304 453

Gross carrying amount

76

435
(2 151)

(400)

(12 482)

(324)

(696)
(1 131)

(321)

175 888

R’000

234 459

R’000

Land and
Buildings

Opening net carrying amount

Reconciliation of carrying value

Total

(4 088)

-

-

-

-

(74)

(74)

502

-

502

(1 592)

13 195

11 603

R’000

Lease
Improvements

(95)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(674)

2 123

1 449

R’000

Artwork

(574)

157

(331)

(174)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(1 417)

20 380

18 963

R’000

Motor
vehicles

(346)

-

-

-

-

(14)

(14)

509

-

509

(5 493)

13 447

7 954

R’000

Office
furniture

(2 322)

25

(27)

(2)

-

(1 543)

(1 543)

3 272

3 272

(13 260)

22 752

9 492

R’000

Equipment

(2 836)

177

(373)

(196)

-

2 720

2 720

(25 101)

33 822

8 721

R’000

Computer
Equipment

(70)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(1 966)

2 355

389

R’000

Medical
Equipment

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)
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404 568
(22 566)
81 301

517 283
(82 041)
82 292

Accumulated depreciation

Historical cost would have been:

-

(5 680)

13 623

7 943

R’000

Lease
Improvements

991

(769)

2 123

1 354

R’000

Artwork

-

(1 834)

20 049

18 215

R’000

Motor
vehicles

-

(5 839)

13 942

8 103

R’000

Office
furniture

-

(15 557)

24 454

8 897

R’000

Equipment

-

(27 760)

36 169

8 409

R’000

Computer
Equipment

-

(2 036)

2 355

319

R’000

Medical
Equipment
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Artwork belonging to the HSRC was revalued on 31 March 2015. The valuation was performed by Mr Gerrit Dyman of Absolut Art Gallery by observing similar artwork in the
market and the prices such artwork would cost on the valuation date.

The land is registered as Stand 3242 Pretoria, measuring 7 655 m², registration division JR, Transvaal and is situated at 134 Pretorius Street, Pretoria. The buildings classification
combines land, lifts, telephone systems, fixtures and buildings and comprises a reception area, offices, parking area, conference centre and a cafeteria built on land as mentioned
above. The valuation was conducted on 15 March 2018 by an independent valuer, Mr Nathan Theron of Spectrum Valuations and Asset Solutions (Pty) Ltd, using the Net
Income Capitalisation Method of Valuation to determine the value of the property . The method determines the net normalised annual income of the property, assuming the
property is fully let at market related rentals, and market escalations, with an allowance made for vacancies (where applicable). Market related operating expenses are incurred,
resulting in a net annual income which is then capitalised at a market related rate. A capitalisation rate of 11.% was applied. The capitalisation rate is determined from the
market and is influenced in general by rates of return of similar properties, risk obsolescence, inflation, market rental growth rates, rates of return on other investments, as
well as mortgage rates. The building is not held as security for any obligations.										

382 002

435 242

R’000

Gross carrying amount

R’000

Land and
Buildings

Closing net carrying amount

Reconciliation of carrying value

Total

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Balance at 31 March 2018

6
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)

Reconciliation of carrying value

Total

Software

Usage Rights

R’000

R’000

R’000

6.2 Intangible assets
Balance as at 31 March 2019
Opening net carrying amount

3 022

1 482

1 540

6 388

3 725

2 663

(3 366)

(2 243)

(1 123)

(501)

(501)

-

(1 224)

(1 224)

-

723

723

-

Amortisation

(472)

(339)

(133)

Amortisation

(472)

(339)

(133)
1 407

Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation
Disposal
Cost of disposal
Accumulated amortisation of disposal

Closing net carrying amount

2 049

642

Gross carrying amount

5 164

2 501

2 663

(3 115)

(1 859)

(1 256)

Opening net carrying amount

3 382

1 709

1 673

Gross carrying amount

6 185

3 522

2 663

(2 803)

(1 813)

(990)

Accumulated depreciation

Balance as at 31 March 2018

Accumulated depreciation
Additions and revaluations

203

203

-

Additions processed in the year

203

203

-

Amortisation

(563)

(430)

(133)

Amortisation

(563)

(430)

(133)

Closing net carrying amount

3 022

1 482

1 540

Gross carrying amount

6 388

3 725

2 663

(3 366)

(2 243)

(1 123)

Accumulated depreciation
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7

2019
March

2018
March

R’000

R’000

Operating Lease Receivables

Operating Lease Receivables – Lessor
Opening Balance 1 April

3

132

Movement for the year

2

(129)

Balance at 31 March

5

3

Opening Balance 1 April

(782)

(506)

Movement for the year

373

(276)

(409)

(782)

Cape Town lease

4 502

8 670

Durban lease

1 328

1 090

Port Elizabeth lease

-

134

Sweetwaters lease

173

157

91

84

Operating Lease Accruals – Lessee

Balance at 31 March

7.1
Operating Lease Arrangements as the Lessee
7.1.1 Future Minimum Lease Payments
Up to 12 months

CSIR - Disaster recovery site
Immobilier Lucratif (Pty) Ltd
Trenjil Investment – Mobile clinics parking
East London lease

-

76

248

248

-

26

6 342

10 485

-

4 502

One year to five years
Cape Town lease
Durban lease
Sweetwaters lease
CSIR – Disaster recovery site
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2 411

-

173

345

45

126

2 629

4 973

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)
7.1.2 Other disclosures
Cape Town lease Agreements
The HSRC leases office space from Bursa Property Investments (Pty) Ltd at 116 Buitengracht Street, Cape Town, Erf
9 442. The agreement is for a three year period effective from 1 October 2016 and terminates on 30 September 2019.
The current lease payment per month is R750 286.80 (VAT excluded). The contract includes an annual escalation of
8% (compounded). The HSRC does not have the option to acquire the building at the end of the lease agreement but
has an option to renew the lease agreement. A tenant installation amount of R3.2 million was granted with R2.2 million
refundable should the HSRC not exercise the renewal option after the initial contract term. The HSRC is in the process
of renewing this lease agreement.
The HSRC also leases a property from Immobilier Lucratif (Pty) Ltd situated at 83 Castle Street, unit 4B Castle
Gate, Cape Town. The lease commenced on 1 December 2015 and expired on 30 November 2017, the lease was
subsequently renewed on 1 December 2017 for a period of 10 months ending 30 September 2018.The contract has
been extended for a period of six months until 31 March 2019. The current lease payment is R13 975.50 per month
(VAT excluded). The contract includes an annual escalation of 10% (compounded). The HSRC does not have the
option to acquire the building.

Durban Lease Agreement
The HSRC leases property in Durban from Roelan Trading 45 (Pty) Ltd situated at Erf 21 of Erf 2 128 Durban, Portion
16 of Erf 2 133 Durban, Portion 18 of Erf 2 128 Durban, Remainder of Portion of Erf 2 133 Durban. The initial lease
agreement was for three years effective from 1 December 2015 and expired on 30 November 2018. The lease
agreement was renewed for a further three years, expiring on 30 November 2021. The contract includes an annual
escalation clause of 7% (compounded). The current lease payment per month is R108 127.15 (VAT excluded). The
HSRC does not have the option to acquire the building at the end of the lease agreement but has an option to renew
the lease agreement.

Port Elizabeth Lease Agreement
The HSRC signed a lease agreement for office space with Luprop Investment, situated at Building No.1, 1st floor, Ascot
Office Park, 1 Ascot Road, Greenacres, Port Elizabeth. The lease period was from 1 January 2018 and expired on
31 March 2019. The lease payment was R15 868.10 per month (VAT excluded). The HSRC did not have the option to
acquire the building and did not exercise the option to renew the lease agreement. The Port Elizabeth office was closed.

East London Lease Agreement
The HSRC had a rental agreement with Social Health Empowerment Feminist Collective, for the rental of an interviewing
site, located at 92 Currie Street, 1st floor Monogramics building, East London, for the purposes of the Trans Women
HIV Bio-Behavioural Survey. The duration of the agreement was initially from 1 January 2018 expiring on 30 September
2018. The contract was extended until 31 March 2019. The rental payment per month was R6 068.96 (VAT excluded).
The HSRC did not have the option to acquire the building at the end of the agreement.

Sweetwaters Lease Agreement
A lease agreement was signed between the HSRC and Mr FA Bhayla in respect of a property referred to as Sweetwaters
Bus Depot. The agreement came into operation on 1 March 2008 and was valid for 5 years. The lease agreement
was renewed on 1 March 2013 for an additional three years, and expired on 29 February 2016, after which it was
renewed for a further five years, expiring on 28 February 2021. The current lease payment per month is R14 265.60
(VAT excluded). The contract includes an annual escalation of 10% (compounded). The HSRC does not have the
option to acquire the building.

Pretoria Lease Agreement
The HSRC leases a property from Trenjil Investment situated at 260 Charlotte Maxeke Street, Unit 1, Mitchell, Pretoria
West. The lease commenced on 1 December 2016 and expired on 31 December 2017. It was renewed for a further
one year commencing on 1 January 2018. An additional year was added and the lease expires on 31 December 2019.
The current lease payment is R27 500.00 per month (VAT excluded). The HSRC does not have the option to acquire
the building but has an option to renew the same lease agreement.
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Johannesburg Lease Agreement
The HSRC leases property in Johannesburg from South Point Management Services (Pty) Ltd situated at 41 De Korte
Street, Braamfontein, Johannesburg. The lease agreement was for six months effective from 1 April 2018 and expired
on 30 September 2018. The contract operated on a month-to-month basis until 31 March 2019. The lease payment
per month was R32 400 (VAT excluded). The HSRC did not have the option to acquire the building at the end of the
lease agreement but has an option to renew the lease agreement.

Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR) Lease Agreement
The HSRC leases property in the CSIR campus located in Building 14, Scientia. Total space acquired is 63m2 utilised as
a disaster recovery site. The lease agreement was renewed on 1 October 2014 for a period of three years expiring on
30 September 2017. The lease agreement was further renewed for another three years commencing 1 October 2017
until 30 September 2020. The contract has no fixed escalation rate, the escalation percentage is agreed by both Parties
on an annual basis. The current lease rental payment per month is R7 562.54 (VAT excluded). The HSRC does not have
the option to acquire the building at the end of the lease agreement but has an option to renew the lease agreement.
2019
March

2018
March

R’000

R’000

7.2
Operating Lease Arrangements as the Lessor
7.2.1 Future Minimum Lease Payments
Up to 12 months
Department of Public Works lease

1 980

1 839

Evolution Technology Group

101

-

Thakhu Trading (Pty) Ltd

472

-

Kopano Solutions Company

-

36

2 553

1 875

Evolution Technology Group

201

-

Thakhu Trading (Pty) Ltd

974

-

1 175

-

One year to five years

7.2.2 Other Disclosures
Department of Public Works Lease (Pretoria)
The operating lease is undertaken between the HSRC (the lessor) and the Department of Public Works (the lessee)
on behalf of the Department of Social Development. The leased building is situated at 134 Pretorius Street, Pretoria.
The existing contract was signed on 30 May 2014 for a three year period, with a commencement date of 1 May 2014.
Monthly rental receivable is R1 980 363.09 (excluding VAT), with an escalation clause of 8% compounded annually.
The contract currently runs on a month-to-month basis awaiting renewal finalisation.

Kopano Solutions Company
The operating lease is undertaken between the HSRC (the lessor) and the Nashua Kopano Solutions Company (Pty)
Ltd (the lessee). The leased premises are Unit A (1SA01, 1SA04, 1SA08, 1SA12 and 1SA16), situated at 1st floor, 134
Pretorius Street, Pretoria. The lease commenced on 1 August 2015 and it expired on 31 July 2018. The monthly rental
receivable is R9 775.99 (excluding VAT), with an escalation clause of 8% compounded annually.

Thakhu Trading (Pty) Ltd
The operating lease is undertaken between the HSRC (the lessor) and the Thakhu Trading (Pty) Ltd (the lessee).
The leased premises is the HSRC Cafeteria, situated on the ground floor at 134 Pretorius Street, Pretoria. The lease
commenced on 22 February 2019 for a three year period. The monthly rental receivable is R39 130.43 (excluding VAT).
The contract has an escalation of 5.3%. Thakhu Trading(Pty) Ltd does not have the option to acquire the building at
the end of the lease agreement but has an option to renew the lease agreement.
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2019
March

2018
March

R’000

R’000

2 606

3 925

Accruals

22 441

15 867

Leave accrual

17 911

16 608

42 958

36 400

Opening balance

16 608

17 393

Additional Accrual

24 342

22 907

Amounts paid during the year

(2 848)

(3 268)

Amounts utilised during the year

(20 191)

(20 424)

Closing balance

17 911

16 608

830

830

-

2 938

140

140

8

Trade and Other Payables

Trade creditors

The HSRC considers that the carrying amount of trade and other payables
approximate their fair value.
Leave accrual

Leave pay accrual reduces when an employee takes official leave days or
leaves the HSRC and the leave is paid out to the employee. Leave accrual
is capped at leave days accrued in a 12 month cycle.

9

Income Received in Advance

Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation
Centre for Communication Impact
City of Tshwane
Department of Higher Education
Department of Public Works
Department of Rural Development
Department of Science and Technology
Ford Foundation

-

17

366

1 100

159

159

6 346

7 052

340

-

Medical Research Council – UK

-

1 469

Hilton Foundation

-

786

Industry Association of Responsible Alcohol Use – NPC

-

1 755

Mellon Foundation
Other projects/funding agencies
South African National AIDS Council
South African National Roads Agency

1 702

-

13 915

15 992

832

832

-

836

Mannion Daniels Ltd

9 967

-

World Bank

1 008

-

560

6 025

36 165

39 931

World Health Organization
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2019
March

2018
March

R’000

R’000

10 Capital and Expenditure Commitments
Approved and contracted

59 166

44 899

Total commitments

59 166

44 899

Capital expenditure

995

1 389

Operational expenditure

58 171

43 510

Total

59 166

44 899

Less than one year

35 013

40 769

More than one year

24 153

4 130

Total

59 166

44 899

Most of the commitments are project related expenses (funded by
various funders).

11 Provisions
Performance bonus

-

5 578

-

5 578

Opening balance

5 578

5 797

Provision reversal

(1 296)

2 978

Amounts paid during the year

(4 282)

(3 197)

-

5 578

Performance bonuses are paid annually for staff performance that
exceeds expectation after performance appraisals are completed and
moderated. No provision was made in the current financial year due to
budget constraints.

Analysis of Movements in Provisions
Performance bonus

Closing balance
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12

2019
March

2018
March

R’000

R’000

Post-Retirement Medical Benefits

12.1 Defined Contribution Plan
The HSRC has the following post-retirement medical aid obligations as at
31 March 2019.
Present Value of Obligation

2 897

2 897

Liability recognised in the balance sheet

2 897

2 897

2 897

3 294

217

267

Reconciliation of Defined Benefit Obligation ("DBO")
Present value of obligation at beginning of year
Interest cost
Current service cost
Benefits paid
(Loss) from change in financial assumptions
Present value of obligation at year end

15

14

(424)

(441)

(198)

(237)

2 507

2 897

12.2 Liabilities
The liabilities for the HSRC with regard to subsidies in respect of continuation member healthcare costs can reasonably
be regarded as the following:
• The liability in respect of existing continuation members; and
• The liability in respect of members in active employment.
The HSRC offers employees and continuation members the opportunity to belong to a medical aid scheme, which in
turn offers a range of options pertaining to levels of cover. Upon retirement an employee may continue membership of
the medical scheme, and upon death of a member in service or in retirement, the surviving dependants may continue
membership of the medical scheme.
Members contribute at a rate according to tables of contribution rates which differentiate between them on the type
and number of dependants. Some options also differentiate on the basis of income.
The eligible employees were entitled to receive a subsidy of 50% of their medical scheme contributions at retirement.
However, at retirement, the Employer’s subsidy is fixed in Rand terms. Continuation members are subsidised on the
same principle.
The previous assessment of the liability with regard to subsidies for continuation member healthcare costs was done
on 31 March 2018. The next assessment of the liabilities needs to be performed at the next financial year end, being
31 March 2020.

12.3 Particulars of the Liabilities
The current Discovery Health continuation member receives a fixed employer subsidy which does not increase with
medical inflation. The AISA and HSRC post-retirement medical subsidy benefit schemes were combined from 1 April
2014.
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12.4 Particulars of the Liabilities
The membership details of the members in active employment and who are entitled to a subsidy after retirement as
at reporting date:
Average Past
Service – Years

Number of Members
2019

2018

2019

2018

Male members (Age band: 50–54)

1

1

28.2

27.2

Total/weighted average

1

1

28.2

27.2

The average age of the member was 52 years as at 31 March 2019, compared to 51 years as at 31 March 2018.
Average monthly employer contributions: 2019: R2 684.00 (2018: R2 441.00).
Details of the continuation members (being members no longer employed by the HSRC) as at reporting date:

Number of Members

Average Premium
Principal Member Per
Month – R

Average Weighted
Age – Years

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

62

68

521

518

83.3

82.5

Total/weighted average

The table below summarises the profile of the continuation pensioners subsided by HSRC as at 31 March 2019:
Age band: 50–54

0

Age band: 55–59

1

Age band: 60–64

0

Age band: 65–69

1

Age band: 70–74

3

Age band: 75–79

10

Age band: 80–84

19

Age band: 85–89

18

>90

10

12.5 Key Financial Assumptions
12.5.1 Summary Assumptions
The economic assumptions for the 31 March 2019 valuation are shown in the table below, and compared to those
used as at the previous valuation date:
% per annum
2019

2018

Discount rate

8.73

8.06

Consumer Price Inflation

4.86

5.27

Healthcare cost inflation rate – in service employees

6.36

6.77

Net discount rate

2.23

1.21
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12.5.1.1 Discount Rate
GRAP 25 requires that the discount rate used in the valuation be determined by reference to market yields on
government bonds as at the reporting date. The currency and term of the government bonds shall be consistent with
the currency and estimated term of the post-employment benefit obligations.
At the previous valuation date, 31 March 2018, the duration of the liabilities was 6.13 years. The discount rate determined
by using the Bond Exchange Zero Coupon Yield Curve as at 31 March 2019 is 8.73% per annum.

12.5.1.2 Healthcare Cost Inflation
A healthcare cost inflation rate of 6.36% was assumed. This is 1.5% in excess of the expected inflation over the
expected term of the liability, at 4.86%. However, it is the relative levels of the discount rate and healthcare inflation
to one another that are important, rather than the nominal values. We have thus assumed a net discount factor of
2.23% per annum.
12.5.1.3 Decrement Assumptions
The following pre-retirement mortality table of SA85-90 and post-retirement mortality table of PA(90) in the current
valuation has been applied.
Assumption

Active Employees

Continuation Pensioners

Mortality

SA85-90 (Normal) -1

PA (90) -1 plus 1% future

12.5.2 Key Demographic Assumptions
The demographic assumptions were consistent in the previous and current valuation period, and are as noted below:
Normal retirement age – 60 years
Employment age used for past service period:

Actual service entry ages

Assumption

Active Employees

Age difference between spouses
Proportion married in retirement
Example at
Stated Date

Continuation Pensioners
Three years

Proportion married table

Actual marital status used

Proportion Married
(Male and Female)
20

1.30%

25

12.90%

30

48.30%

35

70.20%

40

80.90%

45

84.70%

50

84.90%

55

86.00%

60

90.00%

12.5.3 Continuation Percentages
It was assumed, in the previous valuation and current valuation, that continuation of the post-employment healthcare
subsidy would be at 100% at retirement age.

12.5.4 Income Brackets at Retirement
It is fairly common to expect a continuation pensioner’s income to be lower than the income earned just prior to
retirement. The difference between the income after retirement and the income just prior to retirement is referred to
as the Net Replacement Ratio (NRR). The NRR is used to reduce the expected salary on retirement. We have assumed
a NRR on retirement of 75%. A salary inflation assumption is used to adjust the salary from the current date to the
date of retirement. This assumption should be considered in conjunction with the assumed CPI rate.

HSRC INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

/ 117

PART E: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)
12.5.5 Withdrawal and Ill Health Assumptions
The withdrawal assumptions have been set in line with those generally observed in the South African market. They
are consistent with the previous valuation period, and noted on the table below:
Age

Males and Females
20

13.30%

25

13.30%

30

10.90%

35

8.20%

40

5.80%

45

4.10%

50

2.90%

55+

0.00%

12.6 Summary of Valuation Methods
12.6.1 Liability Valuation Method
The liability is taken as the present value of the employer’s share of active employee contributions projected into
the future using the probability of survival to retirement age and beyond, taking into account the assumed rates of
withdrawal and mortality. For each future continuation pensioner, the liability stops when the continuation pensioner
and any remaining spouse are assumed to have died.
For each active member, this projection is based on the probability of survival to retirement age and beyond, taking
into account the assumed rates of withdrawal and mortality. For each pensioner, the liability stops when the pensioner
and any remaining spouse are assumed to have died.

12.6.2 Valuation Method
In accordance with the requirements of GRAP25, the Projected Unit Credit method of funding has been applied. The
assumption underlying the funding method is that the employer’s post-employment medical scheme costs in respect
of an employee should be fully recognised by the time that the employee reaches fully his/her accrued age. Although
this liability only vests at retirement (or to remaining beneficiaries in the event of earlier death in early retirement
age) and is not necessarily affected by the length of service that an employee has had with the employer, accounting
standards require that the liability for in-service employees accrue uniformly while in service. The employer’s liability is
taken as the present value of the obligation to settle post-employment health care contributions excluding the portion
of contributions funded by the continuation pensioners. It has been assumed that the medical contribution subsidies
will increase in line with health care cost inflation. We have made no allowance for volatility in the contributions due
to fundamental changes in the underlying demographics of the scheme.

Basis of valuation
The liability has been valued on a contribution basis, where the liability is valued as the present value of the postemployment medical scheme contributions, in respect of the active employees and the continuation pensioners.
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12.7 Analysis of Past Year and Future Projected Liability
Year ending
31/03/2018

Year ending
31/03/2019

Year ending
31/03/2020

R’000

R’000

R’000

Opening accrued liability

3 294

2 897

2 507

HSRC liability
Current service cost

14

15

12

Interest cost

267

217

202

Actuarial loss/(gain)

(237)

(198)

-

Total annual expense
Contributions (benefits paid)
Closing accrued liability

44

34

214

(441)

(424)

(389)

2 897

2 507

2 332

2019
March

2018
March

R’000

R’000

(552)

(820)

13 Analysis of Deficit
Deficit recorded
The recorded deficit was largely as a result of the organisation failing to
meet its external income target which resulted in fixed costs being incurred
without recovery from projects. This position is anticipated to turn around in
the new financial year with a number of large projects expected to commence.
This will improve recoveries which should offset fixed costs incurred by the
organisation. The deficit can be attributed to debtors outstanding for more
than 120 days which were provided for as bad debts.

14 Revenue from Exchange and Non-exchange
Transactions
14.1 Research Revenue (From Exchange Transactions)
International funding agencies

76 333

112 432

National and provincial funding agencies

89 330

87 059

8 940

43 170

Private sector
Professional services and secondment
Universities

-

570

4 568

1 064

179 171

244 295

14.2 Parliamentary Grants (From Non-exchange Transactions)
Parliamentary grants received

264 116

267 242

264 116

267 242
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2019
March

2018
March

R’000

R’000

Cafeteria income

729

1 569

Insurance claims: Recoveries

562

1 854

7 707

9 138

15 Other Operating Revenue
Interest received
Sale of assets
Publication sales
Rental income and recoveries
Royalties received
Skills development levy
Sundry income

40

462

715

1 395

28 593

25 968

717

896

863

745

1 784

2 128

41 710

44 155

16 Administrative Expenses
Annual license fees, library manuscripts and subscriptions

(12 653)

(13 197)

Audit fees

(4 720)

(4 502)

- External audit

(3 649)

(2 532)

- Internal audit

(661)

(1 541)

- Other audits

(410)

(429)

Bank costs, stamp duty, excise duties

(419)

(572)

Outsourced services and systems support

(4 339)

(4 707)

Consumable goods

(2 914)

(4 541)

Insurance

(2 122)

(2 330)

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)
Postal, telecom and delivery fees
Printing and photocopying
Publicity functions and conferences

355

(820)

(10 360)

(10 828)

(3 416)

(3 708)

(677)

(1 909)

Sundry operating expenses

(1 772)

(988)

Travel and subsistence

(3 954)

(3 861)

(46 991)

(51 963)

(18 960)

(49 301)

17 Research Costs
Direct labour expense
Direct research cost
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2019
March

2018
March

R’000

R’000

(272 762)

(262 842)

(19 930)

(19 553)

(308)

(243)

- Employer contributions

(276)

(269)

- Decrease in liability

390

397

18 Staff Costs
Wages and salaries*
Defined contribution plan
Social contributions
- Official union (employee contributions)
Post-retirement medical benefit

Termination benefits

(310)
(293 196)

(282 510)

Number of staff as at 31 March 2019
Permanent staff

538

558

Short-term staff (12 months or less)***

180

109

Total

718

667

*

Detailed disclosure of Council members’ and executive
management remuneration is set out in Note 25.2.

*** Short-term staff are predominantly linked to various HSRC research
projects, and staff count varies with project activities undertaken
during a given period. The number disclosed in this note refers to
staff who are in employment at 31 March 2019.

19 Other Operating Expenses
Bad debts written off
Bad debts provision

(255)

(32)

(3 074)

(764)

Legal fees

(158)

(497)

Inventory written off

(801)

(1 186)

(1 149)

(1 079)

Loss on disposal of assets

(622)

(696)

Office refreshments and client relations

(486)

(455)

(26 821)

(25 354)

Inventory written down

Rentals, maintenance, repairs and running costs
- Other maintenance repairs and running costs

(3 092)

(3 190)

- Property taxes and municipal rates

(11 915)

(10 512)

- Lease rentals (Regional offices)

(11 814)

(11 652)

(55)

(50)

Expensed warranties
Staff recruitment costs
Staff training
Study bursaries

(129)

(388)

(1 898)

(1 093)

(198)

(823)

(35 646)

(32 417)
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2019
March

2018
March

R’000

R’000

20 Finance Cost
Fair valuation cost of receivables and payables

(1 252)

(1 500)

(1 252)

(1 500)

(13 905)

(12 482)

(472)

(563)

(14 377)

(13 045)

(552)

(820)

21 Depreciation and Amortisation
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortisation on intangible assets

22 Reconciliation of Net Cash Flows from
Operating Activities to Deficit for the Year
Deficit for the year
Adjustment for:
Depreciation and amortisation

14 377

13 045

3 329

796

Net Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

622

696

Net foreign exchange loss

(355)

820

Inventory written off

801

1 186

Other adjustments

(839)

10

Bad debts provision movement

Items disclosed separately
Receipts of sales of assets
Operating surplus before working capital changes

72

(461)

17 455

15 272

Increase in VAT payable

5 866

-

Decrease in inventories

93

1 150

(Increase)/Decrease in other receivables

(4 730)

4 368

Decrease in VAT receivable

382

5 399

Decrease in post-retirement medical benefit

(390)

(397)

(12 008)

(5 896)

Increase in trade receivables
Increase in pre-payments

(85)

(142)

(3 766)

(17 435)

Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables

6 557

(12 956)

Movement in provisions

(5 578)

(219)

(2)

129

Decrease in income received in advance

Movement in lease accruals
Movement in lease commitments
Cash utilised by opperations
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2019
March

2018
March

R’000

R’000

23 Contingent Assets and Liabilities
Pending claims
All the claims are being contested based on legal advice. The financial
details of these claims are as follows:
Counter claim made by the HSRC (Possible contingent asset)
Claim against HSRC (Possible contingent liability)
Reported accumulated surplus**

-

2 950

(198)

(8 048)

(198)

(503)
(5 601)

Case 1

The Applicant’s case was dismissed with costs by the High Court. The Applicant filed for leave to appeal,
and the HSRC filed its opposing papers. The application for leave to appeal was heard on 30 May 2018, and
the Court dismissed the Application with costs. The Applicant’s time to petition the High Court to Appeal
this judgment lapsed on 27 June 2018. The HSRC instructed its attorneys to draft the bill for opposing
the application and the bill was set down and taxed on 31 October 2018. This matter is considered to be
finalised apart from the costs. HSRC’s attorneys are currently attempting to recoup the legal costs from
the Plaintiff. Bill was taxed in favour of the HSRC, in the amount of R159 792.78.

Case 2

After service of summons on the HSRC, a Special Plea was filed, as the claim had prescribed. No further
action has been taken by the Plaintiff. Amount claimed R105 400.

Case 3

Summons were received by the HSRC on 10 October 2018. Plaintiff instituted a claim against the HSRC,
for R93 316.08 relating to arrears of rental and service charges. The Plaintiff’s attorney has withdrawn
as attorney of record. The HSRC has instructed its attorneys to apply for a dismissal of the matter and
claim legal costs.

**

The previously reported accumulated surplus was approved for retention. Prior year adjustments have
been effected on this amount.

24 Events After the Reporting Date
The HSRC lost a pending claim instituted by one of its employees. The matter was heard in the 2018/19 financial year
with judgement issued after year end. The HSRC was ordered to pay the employee a backdated salary and all related
benefits. This amount has been accrued in the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019.
An amount of R1 260 756.53 had been identified and listed as irregular expenditure due to an approval that had been
granted by National Treasury on 26 April 2018 after following a deviation process and later withdrawn by National
Treasury on 06 July 2018 pending submission of additional information. Engagements were ongoing as at 31 March
2019; management therefore disclosed the cost incurred as irregular expenditure. National Treasury subsequently
granted approval on 27 June 2019 and retracted the withdrawal of approval issued on 6 July 2018. The Financial
Statements have been adjusted accordingly as the previously disclosed irregular expenditure no longer constitutes
irregular expenditure.
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Department of Basic
Education

CSIR (Council for
Scientific and Industrial
Research)

-

725 725

-

-

Brand South Africa

319 053 000

-

485 910

-

-

-

R’000

R’000

Agricultural Research
Council

Department of Science
and Technology**

Related Party

Balance

Transactions

-

-

-

-

-

R’000

Amount
Included
in Bad
Debts
Provision
as at
31 March
2019

5 602 146

28 897

100 000

1 500 000

339 008 306

R’000

Transactions

-

620 608

-

500 000

-

R’000

Balance

-

-

-

-

-

R’000

Amount
Included
in Bad
Debts
Provision
as at
31 March
2018

Period ended 31 March 2018

Services Rendered

Period ended 31 March 2019

25.1 Transactions with Related Entities

-

334 222

-

-

-

R’000

Transactions

-

43 056

-

-

-

R’000

Balance

Period ended 31 March
2019

-

679 137

-

-

-

R’000

Transactions

-

138 715

-

-

-

R’000

Balance

Period ended 31 March
2018

Services Received

The HSRC is a schedule 3A National Public Entity in terms of the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999, as amended) and therefore falls within the national sphere
of government. As a consequence the HSRC has a significant number of related parties being entities that fall within the national sphere of government. Such transactions are
for the research that the HSRC performs from time to time. All such transactions are concluded on an arm’s length basis, and the HSRC is normally appointed having responded
to requests for tenders. There are no restrictions in the HSRC’s capacity to transact with any entity. The HSRC reports to the DST. Amounts disclosed, below, as related parties
relates to the parent department, DST and entities within the DST.

25 Related Parties

PART E: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)

-

-

31 001 453

Department of Public
Works – Pretoria

Ethekwini Metropolitan
Municipality

4 334 217

Department of Military
Veterans

1 709 868

Department of Defence

Department of
Environmental Affairs

122 083

1 030 720

-

Department of Social
Development

Department: Planning,
Monitoring and Evaluation

-

Department of Rural
Development

-

Department of Public
Enterprises

Department of
Public Service and
Administration

-

-

Department of Housing

-

-
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-

-

2 037 180

1 138 230

-

1 030 720

-

-

-

141 501

R’000

R’000

Department of Higher
Education

Balance

Transactions

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

56 600

-

-

R’000

Amount
Included
in Bad
Debts
Provision
as at
31 March
2019

Period ended 31 March 2019

128 634

800 000

27 024 763

2 039 311

1 079 318

913 796

962 755

3 734 889

610 380

484 000

774 736

12 504 051

R’000

Transactions

-

800 000

-

3 870 236

886 776

899 978

149 580

-

443 903

141 501

-

-

R’000

Balance

-

-

-

-

-

-

3 545

-

-

84 901

-

-

R’000

Amount
Included
in Bad
Debts
Provision
as at
31 March
2018

Period ended 31 March 2018

Services Rendered

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R’000

Transactions

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R’000

Balance

Period ended 31 March
2019

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R’000

Transactions

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R’000

Balance

Period ended 31 March
2018

Services Received
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-

1 034 124

-

-

The Parliament of the
Republic of South Africa

-

The Gauteng City – Region
Observatory (GCRO)

The KwaZulu-Natal
Department of Transport

-

The Financial Services
Board

-

479 918

-

-

-

199 285

5 000 000

498 213

-

35 920 704

-

239 523

-

The City of Johannesburg
Metropolitan Municipality

ETDP SETA

SARS

SAHRC

-

56 281 863

Medical Research Council

718 568

R’000

R’000

Local Government Sector
Education and Training
Authority

Gauteng Department of
Housing

Balance

Transactions

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R’000

Amount
Included
in Bad
Debts
Provision
as at
31 March
2019

950 416

1 143 453

194 085

919 963

2 500

478 411

10 499 307

100 000

1 583 344

1 732 452

679 867

R’000

Transactions

-

827 499

-

-

-

-

360 755

-

252 313

443 107

800 039

R’000

Balance

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R’000

Amount
Included
in Bad
Debts
Provision
as at
31 March
2018

Period ended 31 March 2018

Services Rendered

Period ended 31 March 2019

25.1 Transactions with Related Entities (continued)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R’000

Transactions

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R’000

Balance

Period ended 31 March
2019

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

603 821

-

-

R’000

Transactions

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R’000

Balance

Period ended 31 March
2018

Services Received
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699 056

HSRC INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

44 584 978

56 600

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R’000

** Amount disclosed includes MTEF Allocation received from DST

433 436 257

1 268 148

Sub total

SALGA

-

-

SITA

-

-

-

-

-

Government Printers

-

Post Office

-

City of Tshwane

-

1 985 239

-

-

227 712

-

-

Telkom

-

AGSA

6 905 178

-

Office of the Premier –
Johannesburg

The Electoral
Commission (IEC)

-

National Student Financial
Aid Scheme

3 753 097

-

National Research
Foundation

-

National Department of
Health

R’000

R’000

Department of Human
Settlement

Balance

Transactions

Amount
Included
in Bad
Debts
Provision
as at
31 March
2019

Period ended 31 March 2019

416 279 185

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

399 405

-

-

300 000

R’000

Transactions

11 290 923

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

115 000

79 881

-

-

99 747

R’000

Balance

88 446

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R’000

Amount
Included
in Bad
Debts
Provision
as at
31 March
2018

Period ended 31 March 2018

Services Rendered

18 135 010

-

437 867

2 505 844

11 784

11 581

10 703 340

4 009 372

-

-

-

-

121 000

-

R’000

Transactions

43 056

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R’000

Balance

Period ended 31 March
2019

18 877 704

-

570 724

3 483 069

50 751

3 000

10 429 386

3 057 816

-

-

-

-

-

-

R’000

Transactions

304 255

-

-

164 540

-

1 000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R’000

Balance

Period ended 31 March
2018

Services Received
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-

Prof. SA Hassim (Board Member) – contract
expired

Prof. MHR Bussin (Board Member and
Chairperson of HR Committee, also serves on
the Audit & Risk Committee)
24 068

4 657

-

Dr B Tema (Board Member, also served on the
Audit and Risk Committee) – contract expired

Adv. RR Dehal (Board Member)

-

Prof. L Qalinge (Board Member) – contract
expired

12 327

Prof. RT Moletsane (Board Member)
-

35 520

Prof. A Lourens (Board Member, also served
on the Audit and Risk Committee, ARC Chair
from 27 November 2016 – 31 October 2017) –
contract expired

55 073

Ms P Sibiya (Audit and Risk Committee
Chairperson, appointed 1 November 2017)

Prof. A Olukoshi (Board Member) – contract
expires on 31 October 2017

21 214

Prof. M Tom (Chairperson, appointed
1 November 2017)

R

Mrs N Badsha (Board Member)

Note

Gross
Remuneration

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R

Performance
Bonus

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R

Other
Allowances

Period ended 31 March 2019
Postemployment
Benefits and
Termination
Benefits

25.2 Fees Paid to Board Members and Executive Management Salaries

24 068

4 657

-

-

-

-

-

12 327

35 520

55 073

21 214

R

Total

26 273

7 178

10 865

54 711

23 135

42 792

14 829

24 592

16 012

14 871

24 281

R

Total

Period ended
31 March 2018
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Executive Management
19 081 497

16 158 673

2 705 067

33 977
25.3

18 831

Dr A Hamdok (appointed 1 November 2017)

Prof. C Soudien – (ex officio as CEO )

12 090

Prof. H Bhorat (appointed 1 November 2017)
(Board Member, also serves on the Audit and
Risk Committee) – resigned 25 March 2019

R

Prof. L Zungu (Board Member, appointed
1 November 2017)

Note

Gross
Remuneration

2 415 908

2 031 518

384 390

-

-

-

R

Postemployment
Benefits and
Termination
Benefits

427 511

339 051

88 460

-

-

-

R

Performance
Bonus

1 432 805

1 246 670

186 135

-

-

-

R

Other
Allowances

Period ended 31 March 2019

23 357 720

19 775 912

3 364 052

33 977

18 831

12 090

R

Total

23 378 106

19 993 195

3 087 830

14 740

11 746

11 055

R

Total

Period ended
31 March 2018
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25.3 Executive Management
For the year ending 31 March 2019
Name

Position

Date/(Period) of
Appointment

Prof. C Soudien

Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

01/09/2015

Prof. LC Simbayi

Deputy Chief Executive Officer: Research

01/01/2016

Dr BST Masilela

Executive Director: RIA

01/01/2016

Ms C Abdoll CA(SA)

Group Executive: Shared Services(Designated CFO)

01/09/2017

Prof. H van Rooyen

Executive Director: HSD

01/01/2016

Prof. P Reddy

Acting Executive Director: PHHSI

24/11/2016–30/09/2018

Dr V Reddy

Acting Executive Director: ESD

01/03/2018–31/05/2018

Prof. S Swartz

Executive Director: ESD

01/06/2018

Dr N Bohler-Muller

Executive Director: DGSD

18/11/2015

Dr K Zuma

Executive Director: HAST

01/06/2013

Dr C Chikozho

Executive Director: AISA

01/11/2016–30/04/ 2018

Prof. C Hendricks

Executive Director: AISA

01/07/2018

Prof. I Turok

Executive Director: EPD

01/04/2016

For the year ending 31 March 2018
Name

Position

Date/(Period) of
Appointment

Prof. C Soudien

Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

01/09/2015

Prof. LC Simbayi

Deputy Chief Executive Officer: Research

01/01/2016

Dr BST Masilela

Executive Director: RIA

01/01/2016

Ms C Abdoll CA(SA)

Group Executive: Shared Services (Designated CFO)

01/09/2017

Dr H van Rooyen

Executive Director: HSD

01/01/2016

Prof. P Reddy

Acting Executive Director: PHHSI

24/11/2016–31/03/2018

Dr V Reddy

Executive Director: ESD

01/07/2007

Prof. G Setswe

Acting/Executive Director: HAST

01/04/2016–30/06/2017

Dr N Bohler-Muller

Executive Director: DGSD

18/11/2015

Dr K Zuma

Executive Director: RMDC/Acting Executive Director
HAST

01/06/2013

Dr C Chikozho

Executive Director: AISA

01/11/2016

Prof. I Turok

Executive Director: EPD

01/04/2016

Mr R Matambo (ACCA, MBA)

Acting Chief Financial Officer

03/01/2017–31/08/2017

26 Prior Period Errors – Adjustments
The following prior period errors have been identified and the specific effect on Financial Statements have been set
out in Note 26.1. These errors have been corrected and comparatives restated accordingly and rounded off (R’000).
The effect on previously reported Financial Statements is also indicated.
To enhance presentation and provide more detailed information to the users, additional line items have been reclassified
or disclosed separately. Such adjustments had no financial impact on the surplus of the HSRC and as such were not
disclosed separately in this note. Items, disclosed below, are those that had an impact on the results previously reported.
These prior period errors have no tax effect as the HSRC is exempt in terms of the Income Tax Act.
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26.1 Misstatement of Revenue and Expenditure Items
Adjustment
Description

Key

R’000

Increase in accumulated surplus

(i)

(98)

Decrease in administrative expenses

(i)

(1 111)

Increase in income received in advance

(ii)

(1 169)

Increase in finance costs

(iii)

31

Decrease in other operating expenses

(i)

1 935

Decrease in other operating revenue

(ii)

204

Decrease in research cost

(i)

(430)

Increase in research revenue (from exchange transactions)

(ii)

842

Decrease in staff cost

(i)

(146)

Decrease in trade and other payables

(i)

1 575

Decrease in trade and other receivables

(ii)

(1 631)
1 324

Surplus for 2017/2018 decreased
(i)

Adjustment as a result of additional expenses received in the 2018/19 pertaining to the 2017/18 financial year
and had not been accrued as well as expenses not accounted for correctly as at 31 March 2018.

(ii)

Adjustments noted in (i) above included entries on research projects, receivables and also resulted in adjustments
in external income and income received in advance.

(iii)

Adjustment relates to finance costs that had not been correctly accounted for at 31 March 2018.

26.2 Reclassification
Adjustment
Description

R’000

Decrease in administrative expenses

(1 079)

Increase in other operating expenses

1 079

Decrease in operating expenses (Sale of assets)

(460)

Increase operating revenue (Sale of assets)

460

27 Irregular Expenditure

Opening balance
Irregular Expenditure – current year
Irregular Expenditure – condoned
Irregular expenditure awaiting condonement

2019
March

2018
March

R’000

R’000

191

6 465

1 127

185

-

(6 459)

1 318

191

Analysis of irregular expenditure
Irregular expenditure incurred in the current financial year relates to procurement in contravention or not in accordance
with applicable legislation. All amounts are under determination with appropriate disciplinary steps to be taken.
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28 Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure
2019
March

2018
March

R’000

R’000

Opening balance

161

3 305

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure – current year

189

185

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure – identified in the current year and
relates to the prior year
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure – condoned
Recovered
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure awaiting condonement

4
-

(3 305)

(7)

(24)

347

161

Instances of fruitless and wasteful expenditure recorded for the year:
1

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure mainly relates to salaries and leave overpayments as a result of system
and/or control breakdowns. The money is being recovered from current and former staff erroneously paid.
Additional measures have since been implemented to prevent reoccurence of these errors.

2

The other portion relates to missed flights, interest charged on an invoice and staff members traffic admin fines
that were incurred and should have been avoided. The money was or will be recovered from the staff members
concerned.

29 Statement of Comparison of Approved Budget to Actual Results
(Explanatory Notes)
29.1 Research Revenue
Research revenue attained was below expectations. This was largely due to the absence of flagship projects undertaken
in the financial year under review. Most of these flagship projects were undertaken and completed in the comparable
financial year. Strategic engagements in new funding markets continue to be explored, especially on the three flagship
projects on poverty and inequality. The organisation has also secured a number of multi-year big projects which will
be undertaken in 2019/20 financial year. These projects augment baseline funding received from government which
has and continues to be characterised by budget cuts.

29.2 Parliamentary Grants
The Parliamentary Grant allocation received from the DST was fully utilised during the year under review, in line with
the HSRC’s mandate as stipulated in the HSRC Act, HSRC’s Strategy and Annual Performance Plan (2018/19 financial
year), as presented to the Minister of DST and Parliament.

29.3 Parliamentary Grants – Ring-Fenced
The ring-fenced allocation received from the DST was fully utilised during the year under review, in line with the
HSRC’s mandate as stipulated in the HSRC’s Act, HSRC’s Strategy and Annual Performance Plan (2018/19 financial
year), as presented to the Minister of DST and Parliament. This allocation was earmarked for Science and Technology
indicators and was exclusively used for that purpose in line with the CeSTII Business plan for the 2018/19 financial year.

29.4 Other Operating Revenue
Other operating revenue is mainly generated from the rental agreement with the Department of Public Works, publication
sales, as well as interest earned on unused funds (mainly the parliamentary grant). The target was not achieved
largely due to less interest revenue earned in the year as more cash flow resources were frequently required to pay
normal operational expenses as opposed to funds being in interest bearing accounts. The Cafeteria was also closed
on 31 August 2018 which impacted on other revenue earnings. Less insurance recoveries and publication sales in the
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financial year also had an impact on this line item. Other operating income is utilised to augment the parliamentary
grant in the maintenance of the building and other operational costs within the HSRC.

29.5 Administrative Expenses
Administration costs mainly include audit fees, subscriptions and manuscripts, insurance related costs, printing and
photocopying expenses as well as postal and delivery costs. Spending on this line item was below forecasted expenditure
largely due to cost containment measures implemented at the beginning of the financial year. This resulted in targeted
cost saving initiatives to compensate for the reduction of parliamentary grant funding in 2018/19.

29.6 Research Cost
Research costs were below the budgeted amount largely due to less research activities being undertaken in the
2018/19 financial year compared to the prior year. A number of major projects have been finalised and earmarked for
the new financial year ahead (2019/20). Research activities are funded from external research revenue.

29.7 Staff Cost
Staff costs spending was in line with approved budget.

29.8 Other Operating Expenses
Other operating expenditure was below the budgeted amount for the financial year due to stringent cost containment
measures which continue to be implemented to drive the sustainability of the organisation in the long term, channelling
more funding towards core research activities.

29.9 Depreciation, Amortization and Impairment Expense
Depreciation expenses exceeded budgeted amounts largely due Increase largely due to depreciation on the HSRC’s
Pretoria Building as a result of building revaluations effected. The revaluation surplus amounted to R208 million which
depreciates over the estimated lifespan of the building.

30 Financial Instruments
30.1

Financial Instruments consist of receivables, payables and cash and cash equivalents. In the case of all
financial instruments, the carrying value approximates the fair value based on the discounted cash flow
method which was used to estimate the fair value. As at 31 March 2019 the carrying amounts and fair
values for the Financial assets and liabilities were as follows:
2019
March

Note

2018
March

Carrying
Value

Fair Value

Carrying
Value

Fair Value

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

Financial assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents

1

44 797

44 797

43 755

Trade and other receivables

2

57 446

57 446

43 782

43 755
43 782

102 243

102 243

87 537

87 537

Financial liabilities
Measured at amortised cost
Trade and other payables

8

42 958

42 958

36 400

36 400

42 958

42 958

36 400

36 400

In the course of the HSRC operations, the entity is exposed to interest rate, credit, liquidity and market risk. The HSRC
has developed a comprehensive risk strategy in order to monitor and control these risks. The risk management process
relating to each of these risks is discussed and disclosed under the headings below:
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Trade and other receivables
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3.00%

-

59 285

Net financial assets

-

102 243

42 958

-

-

-

57 446

32 384

12 413

R’000

One to five
years

42 958

0.00%

0.00%

5–6.5%

R’000

Less than 12
months

Total financial liabilities

Trade and other payables

Measured at amortised cost

Financial Liabilities
8

1

Short-term investments accounts

Total financial assets

1

Current accounts

Financial Assets

Note

Effective
Interest Rate
(fluctuating)

2019
March

59 285

42 958

42 958

102 243

57 446

32 384

12 413

R’000

Total

51 136

36 400

36 400

87 537

43 782

31 931

11 824

R’000

Less than 12
months

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R’000

One to five
years

2018
March

51 136

36 400

36 400

87 537

43 782

31 931

11 824

R’000

Total

The HSRC manages its interest rate risk by fixing rates on surplus cash funds using short to medium term fixed deposits. The HSRC’s exposure to interest rate risk and the
effective rates applying on the different classes of financial instruments is as follows:

30.2 Interest Rate Risk
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Composition of total trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables

2

Note

59%

41%

23 580
23 580

33 729

R’000

33 729

R’000

100%

57 309

57 309

R’000

79%

34 523

34 523

R’000

Current

21%

9 259

9 259

R’000

30 days and
Above

Total

30 days and
Above

Current

2018
March

2019
Less than 12 months

100%

43 782

43 782

R’000

Total

Financial assets, which potentially subject the HSRC to the risk of non-performance by counter-parties and thereby subject to concentrations of credit risk, consist mainly of
cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables from non-exchange transactions. The entity only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits
exposure to any one counterparty. Trade receivables are presented net of the allowance for doubtful debts. The HSRC manages/limits its treasury counter-party exposure
by only dealing with well-established financial institutions approved by National Treasury through the approval of their investment policy in terms of Treasury Regulations. In
addition, the credit risk exposure emanating from trade receivables is not considered significant as trade is largely conducted with reputable research partners who have had
and maintained good relationships with the HSRC in the past. Thus HSRC’s significant concentration risk is with its research partners. The analysis of ageing of receivables
that are 30 days and older is as follows:

30.3 Credit Risk

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
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30.4 Liquidity Risk
The HSRC manages liquidity risk through proper management of working capital, capital expenditure, actual versus
forecast cash flows and its cash management policy. In addition adequate reserves and liquid resources are maintained.
Budgets are prepared annually and analysed monthly against performance to ensure liquidity risks are monitored.

30.5 Market Risk
The HSRC has limited exposure to market risk.

30.6 Fair Values
The HSRC’s financial instruments consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, payables and receivables. No financial
instrument was carried at an amount in excess of its fair value and fair values could be reliably measured for all
financial instruments. The following methods and assumptions are used to determine the fair value of each class of
financial instruments:

30.6.1 Cash and Cash Equivalents
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents and held-to-maturity financial assets approximates fair value due
to the relatively short to medium term maturity of these financial assets.

30.6.2 Other Receivables from Exchange Transactions
The carrying amount of other receivables from exchange transactions approximates fair value due to the relatively
short-term maturity of these financial assets.
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2018 Development Studies
Association(DSA) Global
Inequalities Conference

9th European Conference on
Positive Psychology

27–29 June 2018

27–30 June 2018

IASSIST & CARTO 2018
Conference

29 May 2018 –
01 June 2018

20th International Conference on
Spatial Statistics and Geostatistics

Memory at the Intersection
of Mass Violence and
Socioeconomic Inequality

13–14 April 2018

03–04 June 2018

15 International Public
Communication of Science and
Technology (PCST) Conference

th

Name of conference

04–06 April 2018

Date of
conference

1

1

1

1

1

1

Number of
participants

eRKC

eRKC

RIA

ESD

The influence of time
perspectives on hedonic
and eudemonic motive
across cultural tightness
and looseness in Africa

ESD

Dimensions of and
EPD
Solutions to youth
inequality in the Global
South: The case of South
Africa

Comparison of
automated Zone Design
Census Output Areas
with Existing Output
Areas in South Africa

Does South African
repositories comply
with international trust
standards?

Memory at the
Intersection of
Mass Violence and
Socioeconomic
Inequality

15 International Public
Communication of
Science and Technology
(PCST) Conference
th

Purpose of
conference or event

Division
or
business
unit

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

Description
of the
contracting
procedures

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Classification
of the
expenditure

31. Disclosure of costs related to conferences as required by National Treasury Instruction Note 2 of 2016/17,
paragraph 8

36 553.19

32 808.79

32 374.76

38 134.49

28 614.00

45 642.30

R

Amount

*

*

*

*

*

*
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Fifth International Conference on
Gender and Women's Studies
(GWS) 2018

HERDSA 2018 Conference

British Psychological Society
(BPS) Psychology of Sexualities
20th Anniversary Conference

EuroScience Open Forum 2018

XIX ISA World Congress of
Sociology-Power, Violence and
Justice: Reflections, Responses
and Responsibilities

XIX ISA World Congress of
Sociology-Power, Violence and
Justice: Reflections, Responses
and Responsibilities

03–05 July 2018

05–06 July 2018

09–14 July 2018

15–21 July 2018

15–21 July 2018

Name of conference

29–30 June 2018

Date of
conference
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1

1

1

1

1

1

Number of
participants

XIX ISA World Congress
of Sociology-Power,
Violence and Justice:
Reflections, Responses
and Responsibilities

XIX ISA World Congress
of Sociology-Power,
Violence and Justice:
Reflections, Responses
and Responsibilities

The influence of time
perspectives on hedonic
and eudemonic motive
across cultural tightness
and looseness in Africa

Having to use English
others us: Eastern
and Southern African
descriptions of sexual
and gender diversity

Teaching, learning and
student experience

Key motives for child
homicide by mothers in
South Africa

Purpose of
conference or event

HSD

HSD

DCEO:R

HSD

CesTII

DCEO:R

Division
or
business
unit

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

Description
of the
contracting
procedures

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Classification
of the
expenditure

31. Disclosure of costs related to conferences as required by National Treasury Instruction Note 2 of 2016/17,
paragraph 8 (continued)

46 138.05

56 886.27

36 598.91

35 525.90

36 451.53

27 297.67

R

Amount

*

*

*

*

*

*
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XIX ISA World Congress of
Sociology-Power, Violence and
Justice: Reflections, Responses
and Responsibilities

XIX ISA World Congress of
Sociology-Power, Violence and
Justice: Reflections, Responses
and Responsibilities

22nd International AIDS
Conference 2018

22nd International AIDS
Conference 2018

26th Annual Conference on
the principles of STD and HIV
Research

78th International Law Association
Biennial Conference

2018 General Conference of the
European Consortium Political
Research

15–21 July

22–25 July 2018

23–27 July 2018

23 July – 02 August
2018

19–24 August 2018

22–25 August 2018

Name of conference

15–21 July

Date of
conference

1

1

1

5

1

1

Number of
participants

Using the Blue Economy
Paradigm shift to
strengthen Ocean
Governance in the Indian
Ocean Region

Chairing a committee

Update of in depth
introduction to issues
in the epidemiology,
statistical analysis

Understanding perceived
internalized stigma
among pregnant HIV
positive women in rural
Mpumalanga province,
South Africa

22nd International AIDS
Conference 2018

XIX ISA World Congress
of Sociology-Power,
Violence and Justice:
Reflections, Responses
and Responsibilities

XIX ISA World Congress
of Sociology-Power,
Violence and Justice:
Reflections, Responses
and Responsibilities

Purpose of
conference or event

DGSD

DGSD

HSD

DCEO:R

HSD

ESD

HSD

Division
or
business
unit

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

Description
of the
contracting
procedures

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Classification
of the
expenditure

44 072.19

34 157.94

35 516.01

88 119.28

-

50 681.99

47 531.28

R

Amount

*

*

*

*

*

*

*
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Power and Governance: Forms,
Dynamics, Consequences

ISPRS Symposium

49th Union World Conference on
Lung Health

1. 44th Annual Association
for Moral Education (AME)
Conference;
2. UCL Institute of Education;
3. Commonwealth Youth Work
Conference

AFINET Conference (Addiction
and the Family International
Network First International
Conference)

CEAD Conference (Contemporary
Ethnography Across the
Disciplines)

08–09 October 2018

24–27 October 2018

29 October –
11 November 2018

08–15 November
2018

20–23 November
2018

Name of conference

27–29 August 2018

Date of
conference
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1

1

1

1

1

1

Number of
participants

HSD

ESD

HAST

eRKC

DGSD

Navigating the borders of HSD
race and identity in postapartheid South Africa
through Poetic Inquiry

Parents experiences of
living with an adolescent
with a drug use problem

1. 44th Annual
Association for Moral
Education (AME)
Conference;
2. UCL Institute of
Education;
3. Commonwealth Youth
Work Conference

Declaring our rights:
Social and Political
Solutions

Where have all the jobs
gone? Unemployment
trends in Gauteng, South
Africa

The rise of corruption
as a societal problem in
South Africa

Purpose of
conference or event

Division
or
business
unit

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

Description
of the
contracting
procedures

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Classification
of the
expenditure

35 108.11

45 784.00

56 125.76

45 599.79

36 790.35

R

Amount

100 862.48

31. Disclosure of costs related to conferences as required by National Treasury Instruction Note 2 of 2016/17,
paragraph 8 (continued)

*

*

*

*

*

*
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)

International Congress for
Linguistics

3rd International Annual
Conference on Public
Administration and Development
Alternatives

04–06 July 2018

The Historical Association of
South Africa Conference (HASA)

20–22 June 2018

02–06 July 2018

14th Southern African Online
Information Meeting (SAOIM)

19–22 June 2018

2018 Popular Education Network
Conference

14th Southern African Online
Information Meeting (SAOIM)

19–22 June 2018

26–29 June 2018

Embracing well-being in diverse
contexts

Name of conference

04–07 April 2018

Date of
conference

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

Number of
participants

eRKC

eRKC

DGSD

3rd International
Annual Conference on
Public Administration
and Development
Alternatives

AISA

The reproduction of
RIA
racial inequalities through
selective institutional
ascription of English and
Afrikaans as language of
learning

Challenges of knowledge RIA
production and
knowledge use among
researchers and policy
makers

The Historical
DGSD
development of policy on
military veterans in South
Africa

Authorship Ethics,
Open Access, Scholarly
Publishing and Research
Data Management

Authorship Ethics,
Open Access, Scholarly
Publishing and Research
Data Management

Embracing well-being in
diverse contexts

Purpose of
conference or event

Division
or
business
unit

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

Description
of the
contracting
procedures

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Classification
of the
expenditure

9392.80

19 071.59

16 189.15

9 564.00

2 500.00

2 500.00

11824.02

R

Amount

*

*

*

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)
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13 International Conference on
e-Learning (icel 2018)

13th Population Association of
Southern Africa Conference
(PASA)

2018 WERA World Congress:
Reimagining Worldwide
Education Research

2nd Annual African Forum for
Research and Education in Health
(AFREhealth)

5th Business Management
Conference 2018

PASA Annual General Meeting

SABINET Client Conference

PHASA Annual 2018 Conference

18–20 July 2018

03–05 August 2018

06–08 August 2018

23–24 August 2018

28–29 August 2018

05–06 September
2018

10–12 September
2018

th

Name of conference

05–06 July 2018

Date of
conference
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1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

Number of
participants

Depression and
subjective social status
inequalities in South
Africa

Without limits

Update about issues
affecting scholarly
publishers

Financial Stability:
Financial Savings
Behaviour Amongst
South Africa

Achieving the SDGs and
the 90-90-90 targets for
HIV/AIDS

Understanding
mathematics
achievement amongst
learners in South Africa

Trends and determinants
of Anti- Immigrant
Violence in South Africa
in 2015-2017

Blended learning and
learning analytics in
South African HEIs

Purpose of
conference or event

PHHSI

eRKC

AISA

HSD

HSD

ESD

DGSD

CesTTI

Division
or
business
unit

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

Description
of the
contracting
procedures

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Classification
of the
expenditure

31. Disclosure of costs related to conferences as required by National Treasury Instruction Note 2 of 2016/17,
paragraph 8 (continued)

9 150.00

8 800.72

3 540.00

2 700.00

3131.28

18 139.13

10247.43

4 687.72

R

Amount
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)

PHASA Annual 2018 Conference

PHASA Annual 2018 Conference

Evidence Conference

Association of Southern African
Schools and Departments
of Public Administration and
Management (ASSADPAM)
Conference

14th biennial SAAPS Conference

Conference of the Society of
South African Geographers
(SSAG)

SaVI Conference 2018 – Violence
Prevention, Safety Promotion
and the sustainable Development
Goals

10–12 September
2018

25–28 September
2018

26–28 September
2018

01–03 October 2018

01–03 October 2018

15–16 October 2018

Name of conference

10–12 September
2018

Date of
conference

1

6

1

1

1

1

1

Number of
participants

RIA

PHHSI

PHHSI

Violence Prevention,
Safety Promotion
and the Sustainable
Development Goals

Migration destination in
Cape Town

A vote of confidence?
Trend analysis of
attributes towards voting
efficacy among South
African adults.

HSD

RIA

DGSD

Association of Southern
DGSD
African Schools and
Departments of
Public Administration
and Management
(ASSADPAM)Conference

Evidence Conference

Depression and
subjective social status
inequalities in South
Africa

Depression and
subjective social status
inequalities in South
Africa

Purpose of
conference or event

Division
or
business
unit

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

Description
of the
contracting
procedures

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Classification
of the
expenditure

2 500.00

15 799.72

14 122.98

11 528.97

8 625.00

10 550.00

9 150.00

R

Amount

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)
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2 International Conference for
food Safety and Security

3rd International Conference for
food Safety and Security

11th International Conference
on Public Administration and
Management

11th International Conference
on Public Administration and
Management

The 4th Industrial Revolution and
Library Practices

The 4th Industrial Revolution and
Library Practices

The 4th Industrial Revolution and
Library Practices

The Science Communication 100
Conference

Library Symposium

15–17 October 2018

25–26 October 2018

25–26 October 2018

19 October 2018

19 October 2018

19 October 2018

02–08 November
2018

14–16 November
2018

nd

Name of conference

15–17 October 2018

Date of
conference
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1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

Number of
participants

Library Symposium

The Science
Communication 100
Conference

UJ Library Colloquium

UJ Library Colloquium

UJ Library Colloquium

Local Economic
Development Agencies
address the LED finding
challenge in South Africa

Local Economic
Development Agencies
address the LED finding
challenge in South Africa

Next Generation Food
Safety Technologies to
address the Sustainable
Development Goals

Next Generation Food
Safety Technologies to
address the Sustainable
Development Goals

Purpose of
conference or event

eRKC

RIA

eRKC

eRKC

eRKC

DGSD

DGSD

AISA

AISA

Division
or
business
unit

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

Description
of the
contracting
procedures

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Classification
of the
expenditure

31. Disclosure of costs related to conferences as required by National Treasury Instruction Note 2 of 2016/17,
paragraph 8 (continued)

9 748.72

19 354.00

500.00

500.00

500.00

-

8 482.44

3 500.00

4 500.00

R

Amount

*

*
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)

SciDataCon 2018

Council for the Development
of Social Science Research
(CODESRIA) in Africa 15th General
Assembly

Council for the Development
of Social Science Research
(CODESRIA) in Africa 15th General
Assembly

17–21 December
2018

17–21 December
2018

19th Waternet/WARFSA/GWP-SA
Conference

31 October – 02
November 2018

05–08 November
2018

GLOBELICS 2018: Innovation,
Economic Growth and
Sustainable Development:
Strengthening Institutions for
Greater Relevance, Effectiveness
and Inclusivity

24–26 October 2018

SciDataCon 2018

African Association for the Study
of Religions (AASR)

31 July – 04 August
2018

05–08 November
2018

Library Symposium

Name of conference

14–16 November
2018

Date of
conference

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

Number of
participants

HSD

eRKC

Council for the
Development of Social
Science Research
(CODESRIA) in Africa
15th General Assembly

Council for the
Development of Social
Science Research
(CODESRIA) in Africa
15th General Assembly

International Data Week
Participation

International Data Week
Participation

Ensuring Access to
Water for Agricultural
Production by Emerging
Farmers in South Africa

RIA

RIA

eRKC

eRKC

AISA

Co- learning and
EPD
knowledge of diffusion in
university – community
engagement

Mobilising Religious
Assets for Social
transformation

Library Symposium

Purpose of
conference or event

Division
or
business
unit

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

Description
of the
contracting
procedures

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Classification
of the
expenditure

39 609.28

38 415.28

12 656.58

12 656.58

28 424.24

18 247.68

20 427.58

9 748.72

R

Amount

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*
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Council for the Development
of Social Science Research
(CODESRIA) in Africa 15th General
Assembly

5th AFHEA Biennial Scientific
Conference. "Securing PHC for
all: the foundation for making
progress on UHC in Africa".

5th AFHEA Biennial Scientific
Conference. "Securing PHC for
all: the foundation for making
progress on UHC in Africa".

5th AFHEA Biennial Scientific
Conference. "Securing PHC for
all: the foundation for making
progress on UHC in Africa".

11–14 March 2019

11–14 March 2019

11–14 March 2019

Name of conference

17–21 December
2018

Date of
conference
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1

1

1

1

Number of
participants
AISA

5th AFHEA Biennial
PHHSI
Scientific Conference.
"Securing PHC for all: the
foundation for making
progress on UHC in
Africa".

5th AFHEA Biennial
PHHSI
Scientific Conference.
"Securing PHC for all: the
foundation for making
progress on UHC in
Africa".

5th AFHEA Biennial
PHHSI
Scientific Conference.
"Securing PHC for all: the
foundation for making
progress on UHC in
Africa".

Council for the
Development of Social
Science Research
(CODESRIA) in Africa
15th General Assembly

Purpose of
conference or event

Division
or
business
unit

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

Description
of the
contracting
procedures

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Classification
of the
expenditure

31. Disclosure of costs related to conferences as required by National Treasury Instruction Note 2 of 2016/17,
paragraph 8 (continued)

37 370.47

37 370.47

37 370.47

37 557.28

R

Amount

*
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)

Africa Unity for Renaissance
Conference 2018

SADC Science, Technology and
Innovation Indicators Consultative
Forum

Archie Mafeje Memorial Lecture

23 May 2018

18–20 March 2019

28 March 2019

50

35

35

202

Number of
participants

The Annual Archie
Mafeje Lecture Series
celebrate the memory
of the late Prof Archie
Mafeje

SADC Science,
Technology and
Innovation Indicators
Consultative Forum

Africa Unity for
Renaissance Conference
2018

Capacity Building Providing a platform
for University Student
to present research
papers and Present to an
academic audience

Purpose of
conference or event

AISA

CESTii

AISA

AISA

* These costs were largely conference packages for the venue, audio equipment and travel related costs.

Total costs incurred on conferences related costs for 2018/19 financial year

Africa Young Graduate and
Scholars Conference (AYGS)

Name of conference

18–20 March 2019

Date of
conference

Division
or
business
unit

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

SCM Process

Description
of the
contracting
procedures

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Expenditure

Classification
of the
expenditure

3 392 762.33

10 768.55

303 926.00

1 301 846.69

122 191.75

R

Amount

*

*

*

*
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Research Outputs – 2018/19

Research Outputs
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Research Data Sets – 2018/19
Human Sciences Research Council. Engaging very young
adolescents in improving sexual and reproductive health
and rights in the context of national health system reform:
Learners’ survey (SRH) 2017 – Gert Sibande district,
Mpumalanga. [Data set]. SRH 2017. Version 1.0. Pretoria
South Africa: Human Sciences Research Council [producer]
2017. http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1539766379.
Human Sciences Research Council. Innovation for
Inclusive Development (IID) Policy Seminars and the
Government Cluster Policy Workshops (GCPWs) Series
2016-17. [Data set]. IID-GCPW 2016-17. Version 1.0.
Pretoria South Africa: Human Sciences Research Council,
Department of Science and Technology [producers] 2016.
Human Sciences Research Council [distributor] 2019.
http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1548151203.
Human Sciences Research Council. National Research
and Experimental Development Survey (R&D) 2015-16:
All provinces in South Africa – Aggregated. [Data set].
R&D 2015-16 Aggregated. Version 1.0. Pretoria South
Africa: Human Sciences Research Council [producer] 2017.
http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1538647123.
Human Sciences Research Council. South African Election
Satisfaction Survey (ESS) 1999: Voters – All provinces.
[Data set]. ESS 1999 Voters. Version 1.0. Pretoria South
Africa: Human Sciences Research Council [producer]
1999, Human Sciences Research Council [distributor]
2020. http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1545215415.
Human Sciences Research Council. South African Election
Satisfaction Survey (ESS) 2000: Voters – All provinces.
[Data set]. ESS 2000 Voters. Version 1.0. Pretoria South
Africa: Human Sciences Research Council [producer]
2000, Human Sciences Research Council [distributor]
2020. http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1544691594.
Human Sciences Research Council. South African Election
Satisfaction Survey (ESS) 2004: Voters – All provinces.
[Data set]. ESS 2004 Voters. Version 1.0. Pretoria South
Africa: Human Sciences Research Council [producer]
2004, Human Sciences Research Council [distributor]
2020. http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1544607763.
Human Sciences Research Council. South African Election
Satisfaction Survey (ESS) 2009: Observers – All provinces.
[Data set]. ESS 2009 Observers. Version 1.0. Pretoria South
Africa: Human Sciences Research Council [producer] 2009,
Human Sciences Research Council [distributor] 2020.
http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1533635837.

Human Sciences Research Council. South African Election
Satisfaction Survey (ESS) 2011: Voters – All provinces.
[Data set]. ESS 2011 Voters. Version 1.0. Pretoria South
Africa: Human Sciences Research Council [producer]
2011, Human Sciences Research Council [distributor]
2020. http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1538033821.
Human Sciences Research Council. South African Election
Satisfaction Survey (ESS) 2014: Observers – All provinces.
[Data set]. ESS 2014 Observers. Version 1.0. Pretoria South
Africa: Human Sciences Research Council [producer] 2014,
Human Sciences Research Council [distributor] 2020.
http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1539948820.
Human Sciences Research Council. South African Election
Satisfaction Survey (ESS) 2014: Voters – All provinces.
[Data set]. ESS 2014 Voters. Version 1.0. Pretoria South
Africa: Human Sciences Research Council [producer]
2014, Human Sciences Research Council [distributor]
2020. http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1537171471.
Human Sciences Research Council. South African
Identity Document Study (ID) 1998 – All provinces.
[Data set]. ID 1998. Version 1.0. Pretoria South Africa:
Human Sciences Research Council [producer] 1998,
Human Sciences Research Council [distributor] 2020.
http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1546420723.
Human Sciences Research Council. South African
National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
(SANHANES-1) 2011-12: Adult Physical Examination
– All provinces. [Data set]. SANHANES 2011-12 Adult
Physical Examination. Version 1.0. Pretoria South Africa:
Human Sciences Research Council [producer] 2012,
Human Sciences Research Council [distributor] 2019.
http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1551703486.
Human Sciences Research Council. South African National
Survey of Intellectual Property and Technology Transfer
at Publicly Funded Research Institutions – Inaugural
Baseline Study (IP-TT): 2014-15 Aggregated. [Data set].
IP-TT 2014-15 Aggregated. Version 1.0. Pretoria South
Africa: Human Sciences Research Council [producer]
2015, Human Sciences Research Council [distributor]
2018. http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1519907589.
Human Sciences Research Council. South African
Voter Participation Survey (VPS) 2000 – All provinces.
[Data set]. VPS 2000. Version 1.0. Pretoria South
Africa: Human Sciences Research Council [producer]
2000. Human Sciences Research Council, Electoral
Commission of South Africa [distributor] 2020.
http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1549522658.

Human Sciences Research Council. South African Election
Satisfaction Survey (ESS) 2009: Voters – All provinces.
[Data set]. ESS 2009 Voters. Version 1.0. Pretoria South
Africa: Human Sciences Research Council [producer]
2009, Human Sciences Research Council [distributor]
2020. http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1533109223.

Human Sciences Research Council. South African
Voter Participation Survey (VPS) 2005 – All provinces.
[Data set]. VPS 2005. Version 1.0. Pretoria South
Africa: Human Sciences Research Council [producer]
2005. Human Sciences Research Council, Electoral
Commission of South Africa [distributor] 2020.
http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1529922538.

Human Sciences Research Council. South African Election
Satisfaction Survey (ESS) 2011: Observers – All provinces.
[Data set]. ESS 2011 Observers. Version 1.0. Pretoria South
Africa: Human Sciences Research Council [producer] 2011,
Human Sciences Research Council [distributor] 2020.
http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1538040016.

Human Sciences Research Council. South African Voter
Participation Survey (VPS) 2010 – All provinces. [Data
set]. VPS 2010. Version 1.0. Pretoria South Africa:
Human Sciences Research Council [producer] 2010,
Human Sciences Research Council [distributor] 2020.
http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1433758940.
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Human Sciences Research Council. South African Voter
Participation Survey (VPS) 2013 – All provinces. [Data
set]. VPS 2013. Version 1.0. Pretoria South Africa:
Human Sciences Research Council [producer] 2013,
Human Sciences Research Council [distributor] 2020.
http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1534495757.
Human Sciences Research Council. South African Voter
Participation Survey (VPS), 2008 – All provinces. [Data
set]. VPS 2008. Version 1.0. Pretoria South Africa:
Human Sciences Research Council [producer] 2008,
Human Sciences Research Council [distributor] 2020.
http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1529485615.
Human Sciences Research Council. THIRD Skills Audit
Review: Background Paper – Higher Education and
Training Institutions Survey Report. [Data set]. THIRD
2016 Educator. Version 1.0. Pretoria South Africa:
Human Sciences Research Council [producer] 2016,
Human Sciences Research Council [distributor] 2019.
http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1551863138.
Human Sciences Research Council. Trends in International
Mathematics and Science Study (TIMSS) 2015 Grade 5:
Numeracy (ASG) – South Africa as one of 39 countries.
[Data set]. TIMSS 2015 Numeracy. Version 1.0. Pretoria
South Africa: Human Sciences Research Council [producer]
2015, Human Sciences Research Council [distributor] 2019.
http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1535005392.
South African National AIDS Council. People living
with HIV Stigma Index: South Africa (STIGMA) 2014.
[Data set]. STIGMA 2014. Version 1.0. South Africa:
South African National AIDS Council, University of
Witwatersrand Reproductive Health and HIV Institute,
Human Sciences Research Council [producers] 2014.
http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.14749/1553526054.

DHET Accredited Journal Articles
Counted Towards ADEPTS (ISI, IBSS,
SA, Scielo SA, Norwegian and/or
Scopus Listings)
Adams, R. (2018) South Africa’s social contract: the
Economic Freedom fighters and the rise of a new constituent
power?. Acta Academica. 50(3):102-121.
Alubafi, M.F., Ramphalile, M. & Rankoana, A.S. (2018)
The shifting image of black women’s hair in Tshwane
(Pretoria), South Africa. Cogent Social Sciences. 4:Online.
Baker, H., Fried, A., Cloete, A., Sigel, C., Miranda, D.,
Guillen, J., Rochat, R. & Siegler, A. (2018) “Give what the
people want”: a situational analysis of condom distribution
and a feasibility study of user-friendly condoms in Cape
Town, South Africa. Journal of the Association of Nurses
in AIDS Care. 29(6):887-901.

Bank, L.J. & Sibanda, F. (2018) Universities as city-builders:
the city-campus development opportunity in East London’s
Buffalo City, South Africa. Development Southern Africa.
35(5):701-715.
Bhatasara, S. & Nyamwanza, A. (2018) Sustainability: a
missing dimension in climate change adaptation discourse
in Africa?. Journal of Integrative Environmental Sciences.
15(1):87-102.
Bialostocka, O. (2018) On history and mythmaking in South
Africa: the decolonial quest for truth(s) and relevance.
Africa Insight. 47(2):1-12.
Biyela, A.C., Nzimakwe, T.I., Mthuli, A. & Khambule, I.
(2018) Assessing the role of intergovernmental relations
in strategic planning for economic development at local
government level: a case study of Umkhanyakude
district municipality. Journal of Gender, Information and
Development in Africa (JGIDA). 7(2):221-239.
Booyens, I. & Rogerson, C.M. (2018) Creative tourism:
South African township explorations. Tourism Review
International. October:Online.
Booyens, I. & Rogerson, C.M. (2019) Re-creating slum
tourism: perspectives from South Africa. Urbani Izziv.
30:52-63.
Booysen, F., Guvuriro, S., Munro, A., Moloi, T. & Campher,
C. (2018) Putting a premium on altruism: a social discounting
experiment with South African university students. PLoS
One. 13(4):Online.
Booysen, F., Munro, A., Guvuriro, S., Moloi, T. & Campher, C.
(2018) Incentivising the social discounting task: a laboratory
experiment. South African Journal of Economics. May:Online.
Breetzke, G.D. & Edelstein, I. (2018) The spatial concentration
and stability of crime in a South African township. Security
Journal. July:Online.
Buchana, Y., Garbutt, M. & Seymour, L.F. (2018) Identifying
micro-level generative mechanisms of ICT-enabled
performance improvement in resource-constrained
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4th Industrial Revolution
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A – Advancing knowledge and
scientific excellence

Economic Performance and
Development

eRKC

eResearch Knowledge Centre

D – Developing collaborative
networks and applied research on
poverty and Inequality

ESD

Education and Skills Development

EU

European Union

E – Enhancing research skills and
public awareness

FWA

Federal-wide Assurance

GSA

Genders and Sexualities in Africa

HAST

HIV/AIDS, TB and STI

T – Institutional transformation

HIV

Human Immunodeficiency Virus

S – Financial sustainability

HSD

Human and Social Development

AIDS

Acquired Immunodeficiency
Syndrome

HSRC

Human Sciences Research Council
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Africa Institute of South Africa

IBSS

International Bibliography of the
Social Sciences
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Audit and Risk Committee
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ART

Antiretroviral Treatment

International Institute for Democracy
and Electoral Assistance

AU

African Union

IEC

Independent Electoral Commission

AYGS

Africa Young Graduate Scholars

IORA

Indian Ocean Rim Association

CASS

Chinese Academy of Social Sciences

ISI

International Scientific Indexing

CEO

Chief Executive Officer

IT

Information Technology

CeSTII

Centre for Science, Technology and
Innovation Indicators

LMIP

Labour Market Intelligence
Partnership

CHW

Community Health Workers

MBA

Master of Business Administration

CODESRIA

Council for the Development of Social
Science Research in Africa

MoU

Memorandum of Understanding

MSM

Men who have Sex with Men

MTEF

Medium Term Expenditure
Framework

MTSF

Medium Term Strategic Framework

NACI

National Advisory Council on
Innovation

NCD

Non-communicable Disease

P – Preserving and sharing data for
further analysis

CSOs

Civil Society Organisations

DBE

Department of Basic Education

DGSD

Democracy, Governance and Service
Delivery

DHET

Department of Higher Education and
Training

DHHS

US-based Department of Health and
Human Services

NDP

National Development Plan

DST

Department of Science and
Technology

NGO

Non-governmental Organisation

NHREC

EAP

Employee Assistance Programme

National Health Research Ethics
Council
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National Research Foundation
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National Science and Technology
Forum

Southern Africa Development
Community
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Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development

Social Aspects of HIV/AIDS Research
Alliance

SASAS

South African Social Attitude Survey

OHS

Occupational Health and Safety
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Short Message Service

PFMA

Public Finance Management Act

SRGBV

PHHSI

Population Health, Health Systems
and Innovation

School-related Gender Based
Violence
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Prevention of Mother-to-Child
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Sexual and Reproductive Health
Rights

STI

Science, Technology and Innovation

R&D

Research and Development
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Tuberculosis
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Research Ethics Committee
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Research Use and Impact
Assessment

Trends in International Mathematics
and Science Study

UCLA

University of California, Los Angeles

UCT

University of Cape Town

OECD

PMTCT

SABSSM V

Fifth South African Behaviour SeroSurveillance and Media (Survey)
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